Low Temperatures Typical of Winter Cage-Site Conditions in Atlantic Canada Impact the Growth, Physiology, Health and Welfare of Atlantic Salmon (*Salmo salar*)

by

[©]Émile Vadboncoeur

A thesis submitted to the

School of Graduate Studies

In partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

Sustainable Aquaculture

Faculty of Science

Memorial University of Newfoundland and Labrador

February 2023

St. John's, Newfoundland and Labrador

Abstract

Limited research has been conducted on the physiology of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) at cold temperatures despite significant mortalities during the winter at sea-cages in Atlantic Canada. Thus, in this thesis, I exposed post-smolt cultured Atlantic salmon to a seasonal decline in temperature from 8 to 1°C (at 1°C week⁻¹), and a 'cold-shock' from 3 to 0°C for 4 or 24 hours. During the seasonal decline in temperature, feeding decreased starting at 6°C (and ceased by 1-2°C), osmoregulatory changes and increases in heat shock protein expression began at 4-5°C, and at 1°C elevated plasma cortisol levels indicative of mild stress were measured. The 'cold-shocks' resulted in a relatively small stress response (i.e., increases in plasma cortisol and glucose), but no other adverse effects or mortalities. Nonetheless, a number of mortalities/moribund fish were noted when various groups of Atlantic salmon were held for long periods at \leq 8°C. Moribund fish were lethargic and swam erratically, had enlarged livers and plasma enzymes suggestive of liver damage, and developed ulcers to the head/jaw. The former symptoms are indicative of 'Winter Syndrome' described in gilthead sea bream (*Sparus aurata*) aquaculture, and these ulcers have previously been observed in Norway and associated with tenacibaculosis.

General Summary

Salmon aquaculture is an important industry in Atlantic Canada, and members of the sector are calling for increased research to limit the impacts of climate change. However, there has been limited focus on the effects of cold seawater temperatures associated with winter conditions and storms, despite the reports of large numbers of salmon cage-site mortalities after periods of intense cold. Thus, I held salmon in tanks and exposed them to both long-term and short-term decreases in temperature similar to what they would experience at Atlantic Canada's cage-sites to better understand how they respond to cold temperatures, and to determine if I could identify possible causes of mortality. I found that salmon can survive exposure to temperatures close to 0°C. However, I also observed that a number of fish experienced health issues that were serious enough to result in mortalities, and performed analyses to identify/hypothesize the cause(s).

Acknowledgements

I would like to express my appreciation to my supervisor Dr. A. Kurt Gamperl for his continual encouragement in accomplishing this thesis. Without his guidance and persistent help this thesis would not have been possible.

I would like to thank my committee members, Dr. Jillian Westcott and Mr. Cyr Couturier who accompanied me at every step throughout my thesis, and provided insight in and around my project.

I want to thank Charlotte Nelson and Dr. Colin J. Brauner at the University of British Colombia for their help. The analyses they provided comprise a portion the most interesting results I have to present. Kathy Clow and Dr. Jennifer R. Hall provided support and training in the lab for most of the laboratory analyses presented in this thesis. I want to thank Eric Ignatz and Rachel Eisenberg who gave their time to help me gather data. Last but not least, Rebeccah Sandrelli, played a major role and ensured that all experiments were progressing properly.

This project was funded by the Canada Centre for Fisheries Innovation (contract #2020-02), Innovate NL (contract #5404 1209 106) and Cooke Aquaculture Inc., and I was partially supported by a graduate fellowship provided by Memorial University of Newfoundland and Labrador.

Merci à Romy pour son support.

Co-Authorship Statement

The research presented in this M.Sc. thesis was performed by Émile Vadboncoeur, under the supervision of Dr. A. Kurt Gamperl. Émile Vadboncoeur shared in the identification of the research topic and in the design of experiments, and was primarily responsible for: the rearing and care of experimental animals; conducting the described experiments; collecting and analyzing the data; and writing the first draft of all chapters and other sections of this thesis. This research was only possible through collaboration with many individuals.

Rebeccah M. Sandrelli¹ assisted in the running of all experiments, ensured access to materials for research and fish care, and provided edits for **Chapter 2**. Eric H. Ignatz¹ assisted in the experiments in **Chapters 3 and 4**. Kathy A. Clow¹ provided training on the biochemical analyses conducted in **Chapters 2 to 4**, and edited **Chapter 2**. Charlotte Nelson² conducted all chloride, osmolality and Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase activity measurements in Dr. Collin Brauner's lab, and Dr. Brauner² provided resources to conduct those analyses; they both provided edits/feedback on **Chapter 2**. Jennifer R. Hall³ provided training in every facet of the qPCR assays and analysis, and provided edits on **Chapter 2**. Dr. Andrew K. Swanson⁴ provided feedback throughout this M.Sc. thesis, and edited **Chapter 2**. Dr. A. Kurt Gamperl¹ provided supervision and input throughout the research program (including the identification of research topics and experimental design, while the experiments were being conducted, during data collection and analysis, and provided edits on all sections of this thesis).

From this thesis, I will be submitting three manuscripts for publication:

Authorship for the publication derived from **Chapter 2** is: Émile Vadboncoeur, Charlotte Nelson, Jennifer R. Hall, Kathy A. Clow, Rebeccah M. Sandrelli, Colin J. Brauner, Andrew K.

Swanson, A. Kurt Gamperl. This manuscript was submitted to the journal *Aquaculture*, and is currently in revision.

Authorship for the publication derived from **Chapter 3** is: Émile Vadboncoeur, Charlotte Nelson, Eric H. Ignatz, Kathy A. Clow, Rebeccah M. Sandrelli, Colin J. Brauner, Andrew K. Swanson, A. Kurt Gamperl. This manuscript is in the final stages of preparation for submission for publication. The target journal has not been identified.

Authorship for the publication derived from **Chapter 4** is: Émile Vadboncoeur, Charlotte Nelson, Eric H. Ignatz, Kathy A. Clow, Rebeccah M. Sandrelli, Colin J. Brauner, Andrew K. Swanson, A. Kurt Gamperl. This manuscript is also in the final stages of preparation for submission for publication. The target journal has not been identified.

¹ Department of Ocean Sciences, Memorial University of Newfoundland and Labrador, St. John's, NL. A1C 5S7. Canada.

² Department of Zoology, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC. V6T 1Z4. Canada.

³ Aquatic Research Cluster, CREAIT Network, Ocean Sciences Centre, Memorial University of Newfoundland, St. John's, NL. A1C 5S7. Canada.

⁴ Cooke Aquaculture Inc., Saint John, NB. E2L 3H3. Canada.

Table of Contents

Abstract	ii
General Summary	iii
Acknowledgements	iv
Co-Authorship Statement	v
List of Figures	xi
List of Abbreviations and Symbols	xiii
List of Tables and Figures in the Appendix	xvi
Supplemental Tables	xvi
Supplemental Figures	xvi
CHAPTER 1: General Introduction	1
1.1 Atlantic salmon culture and its challenges	2
1.2 Temperature and Atlantic salmon	3
1.3 Culture of Atlantic salmon at low temperature	5
1.4 Low temperatures and salmon: gaps in current knowledge	6
1.5 Effects of low temperatures on cultured fish	7
1.6 Research goals	9
1.7 References	13
CHAPTER 2: Lowering Temperature to 1°C Results in Physiological Changes, Stress and Mortality in Cultured Atlantic Salmon (Salmo salar)	23
Abstract	24
2.1 Introduction	25
 2.2 Materials and Methods. 2.2.1 Experimental animals. 2.2.2 Experimental protocol. 2.3 Morphometric measurements. 2.4 Blood and liver sample collection. 2.5 Biochemical analyses. 2.6 Analyses of transcript expression levels of putative stress-responsive genes in liver. 2.7 Ion measurements. 	28 28 29 31 31 33 39
2.2.8 Statistical analyses	39 40

2.3.1 Feed consumption, growth and survival	40
2.3.2 Plasma enzyme levels, and indicators of stress and metabolism	45
2.3.3 Changes in stress-related gene expression in liver	49
2.3.4 Impact on plasma ion levels and osmolality	51
2.3.5 Effect of time of last feeding on plasma parameters	55
2.4 Discussion	56
2.4.1 Growth and appetite	56
2.4.2 Physiological changes between 8 and 6°C	57
2.4.3 Plasma enzymes	58
2.4.4 Plasma metabolites	
2.4.5 Expression of stress-related genes	62
2.4.6 Osmoregulatory disturbance	65
2.4.7 Low temperature exposure	08
2.5 Summary and Conclusions	70
2.6 References	72
CHAPTER 3: 'Cold-Shock' Has Few Physiological Effects on Cultured Atlanti	c
Salmon (Salmo salar) Acclimated to Low Temperatures	88
Abstract	89
3.1 Introduction	90
3.2 Matarials and Mathods	01
3.2 1 Experimental animals	
3 2 2 Experimental protocol	92
3.2.3 Sampling regime	
3.2.4 Plasma and gill collection	95
3.2.5 Plasma analyses	95
3.2.6 Na ⁺ -K ⁺ -ATPase activity	97
3.2.7 Statistical analyses	98
3.3 Results	99
3.3.1 Indices of stress and tissue damage	99
3.3.2 Plasma ion levels, osmolality and Na ⁺ -K ⁺ -ATPase activity	101
3.4 Discussion	104
3.4.1 Indices of stress and tissue damage	104
3.4.2 Plasma ion levels, osmolality and Na ⁺ -K ⁺ -ATPase activity	107
3.4.3 Comparisons between 'cold-shock' studies	109
3.5 Conclusion	110
3.6 References	112
CHAPTER 4: Low Seawater Temperatures are Associated with Liver Lipid	
Accumulation and Dysfunction, Ionoregulatory Disturbance and Opportunistic	2
Infections in Cultured Post-Smolt Atlantic Salmon (Salmo salar)	12 2
Abstract	123

4.1 Introduction	124
4.2 Materials and Methods	126
4.2.1 Experimental animals	
4.2.2 Experimental protocols	
4.2.3 Asymptomatic fish vs. those with 'early' and 'advanced' symptoms	128
4.2.4 Fish sampling	
4.2.5 Plasma aspartate aminotransferase activity and hepatosomatic index	130
4.2.6 Plasma analyses	
4.2.7 Statistical analyses	132
4.3 Results	133
4.3.1 Mortalities	
4.3.2 Asymptomatic fish vs. those with 'early' and 'advanced' symptoms	134
4.4 Discussion	142
4.4.1 Metabolic dysfunction and fatty liver	143
4.4.2 Osmoregulatory disturbance	147
4.4.3 Tissue damage	148
4.4.4 Plasma cortisol levels	
4.4.5 Immune function and opportunistic infections	151
4.5 Conclusion	154
4.6 References	156
CHAPTER 5: Summary, Research Limitations and Perspectives	170
5.1 Temperature, stress and mortality	171
5.2 Mortality in lab-based experiments vs. winter mortality events	173
5.3 Experimental limitations	174
5.3.1 'Cold-shock'	
5.3.2 'Winter Syndrome'	
5.3.3 Winter feed formulations	176
5.4 Future research	176
5.4.1 Low temperature physiology	
5.4.2 Winter feed formulations	
5.4.3 'Winter-Syndrome' / 'Fatty Liver disease' and opportunistic infections	178
5.5 References	180
Appendix	

List of Tables

List of Figures

Figure 2-1.	Weekly feed	consumption	during the	experiment	
1 15 al c - 10	Weening reed	company		enpermiene	•••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••

Figure 2-5. Plasma cortisol, glucose and lactate concentrations as temperature was lowered from 8 to 1°C in the cold-exposure group as compared with the control group..47

Figure 3-2. Plasma cortisol, glucose and lactate concentrations prior to the 'cold-shock' ('initial'), at the end of the period of exposure to 0° C (0h), and at 6, 24, 72 and 120 hours after water temperature was increased back to 3° C. Control fish were held at a constant temperature of 3° C, whereas the other groups were exposed to 0° C for 4 or 24 h)......100

Figure 3-3. Plasma aspartate aminotransferase (AST), creatine kinase (CK) and lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) activity prior to the 'cold-shock' ('initial)', at the end of the period

Figure 3-4. Plasma chloride (Cl⁻), potassium (K⁺) and sodium (Na⁺) levels, and plasma osmolality, prior to the 'cold-shock' ('initial'), at the end of the period of exposure to 0°C (0h), and at 6, 24, 72 and 120 hours after water temperature was increased back to 3°C. Control fish were held at a constant temperature of 3°C, whereas the other groups were exposed to 0°C for4 or 24 h)......103

Figure 3-5. Box-plots of Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase activity in gill homogenates from salmon acclimated to 6° C (n=9), held at 3° C for 5 weeks (n=9), and exposed to a 24 h 'cold-shock' followed by 72 h of recovery at 3° C (n=7).....104

List of Abbreviations and Symbols

°C	Degree centigrade
actb	Beta-actin
ADP	Adenosine diphosphate
ALP	Alkaline phosphatase
ALT	Alanine aminotransferase
AMP	Adenosine monophosphate
AST	Aspartate aminotransferase
BLAST	Basic local alignment search tool
bp	Base pair
ĊBC	Canadian Broadcast Company
cDNA	Complementary deoxyribonucleic acid
CF	Condition factor
<i>cirbp</i> – CIRBP	Cold inducible RNA-binding protein
CK	Creatine kinase
Cl	Chloride
СТ	Cycle threshold
CT _{max}	Critical thermal maximum
CWV	Cold-water vibriosis
D	Day
DHA	Docosahexaenoic acid (22:6n-3)
<i>e.g.</i>	For example
efla	Elongation factor 1 alpha
eflal	Eukaryotic Translation Elongation Factor 1 Alpha 1
ef1a2	Eukaryotic Translation Elongation Factor 1 Alpha 2
eif3d	Eukaryotic translation initiation factor 3 subunit D
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
EPA	Eicosapentaenoic acid (20:5n-3)
FAO	Food and Agriculture Organization
FC	Feed consumption
g	Grams
ĥ	Hours
hp	Horsepower
HC1	Hydrochloric acid
HCO ₃	Bicarbonate
HSI	Hepatosomatic index
HSP	Heat-shock protein
hsp70	heat-shock protein 70kDa
hsp90	heat-shock protein 90kDa
I	Initial number of fish
<i>i.e.</i>	That is
IPCC	Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change
ISAV	Infectious salmon anaemia virus
IT _{max}	Incremental thermal maximum

k	Fulton's condition factor
K^+	Potassium
kg	Kilogram
L	Length
1	Litre
LDH	Lactate dehydrogenase
М	Cumulative mortality
mg	Milligram
MgCl ₂	Magnesium chloride
MgSO ₄	Magnesium sulfate
min	Minute
μl	Microlitre
ml	Millilitre
mM	Millimolar
mOsm	Milliosmol
mRNA	Messenger ribonucleic acid
MS-222	Tricaine methanesulfonate
MT	Megaton
Na ⁺	Sodium
NADH - NAD	Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide
NADP	Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate
NAFLD	Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease
NASH	Non-alcoholic steatohepatitis
NCBI	National Center for Biotechnology Information
ng	Nanogram
NKA	Na ⁺ -K ⁺ -ATPase
NL	Newfoundland and Labrador
nm	Nanometer
NS	Nova scotia
NTC	Non-template control
OB	Ouabain
OD	Optical density
р	P-value
pabpc1	Polyadenylate-binding protein 1
PBS	Phosphate-buffered saline
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
pН	Potential of hydrogen
ppt	Parts per thousands
PUFA	Poly-unsaturated fatty acid
QC	Quality control
qPCR	Real-time quantitative polymerase chain reaction
r^2	Correlation coefficient
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
rpl32	60S ribosomal protein 32
RQ	Relative quantity
RVI	Regulatory volume increase

serpinh1	Serpin Family H Member 1
SGR	Specific growth ate
spp.	Several species
t	Tonne
TOI	Transcript of interest
U	Enzyme unit
U _{crit}	Critical swimming speed
UV	Ultra-violet
$W_{\rm f}$	Final weight
Wi	Initial weight
W_1	Liver weight
xg	Times gravitational force
μg	Microgram
μl	Microlitre

List of Tables and Figures in the Appendix

Supplemental Tables

 Table S5. qPCR analysis of transcript expression levels for six candidate normalizer genes.

 195

Supplemental Figures

Figure S1. Salmon cage-site temperatures at 1, 5, 10 and 15 meters depth from approx. Nov. 1 st of 2020 to June 15 th of 2021 at a location off the south coast of Newfoundland.
Figure S2. Tanks used in experiment of Chapter 2188
Figure S3. Water temperatures in the control tanks (black) and cold-exposure tanks (grey) for each day of the experiment
Figure S4. Scheme used to score the external condition of Atlantic salmon (adapted from Nobles et al., 2018)
Figure S5. Integrity of TRIzol-extracted total RNA samples
Figure S6. Alignment of the coding sequences for the four cytosolic heat shock protein 90 paralogue cDNAs from Atlantic salmon included in the aPCR studies (hsp90aala

 CHAPTER 1: General Introduction

1.1 Atlantic salmon culture and its challenges

Given the steady increase in the world's population, the demand for aquatic-based protein is on the rise. However, capture fisheries' landings (i.e., those based on wild fishes and shellfish) have not increased since the 1990's, and thus, aquaculture is seen as the solution to meet this demand for seafood (FAO, 2022). Aquaculture production currently provides just over one-half of the world's seafood (FAO, 2022). The Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar) represents 32.5% of global marine finfish aquaculture production, and is the fourth most economically important farmed species (FAO, 2022). In Canada, sea-cage reared Atlantic salmon accounted for 70% of all aquaculture production in 2020 (120,000 tonnes; t). This production mainly occurs in British Columbia and the Atlantic provinces (DFO, 2022), with salmon aquaculture production in Newfoundland restricted to the south coast of the island and involving major multi-national corporations (e.g., MOWI, Cooke Aquaculture Inc., and Grieg NL). Salmon production in the province of Newfoundland and Labrador (NL) increased from approximately 3,000 to 22,000 t between 2003 and 2013, and projections suggested that NL salmon production would soon reach approximatively 50,000 t ("Support Growth of the Aquaculture Industry to 50,000 MT Annually for Salmon and 10,750 MT Annually for Mussels - The Way Forward," 2018). However, production has actually decreased over the past several years due to a number of challenges that need to be addressed to ensure the growth and sustainability of the industry (Government of Newfoundland and Labrador, 2022).

These challenges are both biotic and abiotic. The two main biotic challenges facing the aquaculture industry in Atlantic Canada are infectious salmon anemia virus (ISAv) and sea lice (Gagné and LeBlanc, 2018; Medcalf et al., 2021). Development of

effective treatments for sea lice is ongoing (Jackson et al., 2018), and the use of lumpfish and the ballan wrasse as 'cleaner fish' has great potential as a method of biological control of this parasite; although there are several sustainability issues that have been identified (Geitung et al., 2020). However, there are currently no effective treatments or vaccines for ISAv, and laws require the culling of affected populations when the disease is identified (Gagné and LeBlanc, 2018). The major abiotic challenge to the aquaculture industry in Atlantic Canada and worldwide is climate change (Barange et al., 2018; Galappaththi et al., 2020; Maulu et al., 2021), and the combination of the above challenges can lead to major mortality events. For example, in 2019, a heat wave and high sea lice levels and their subsequent treatment led to a loss of 2.6 million salmon on the south coast of Newfoundland (Burke et al., 2020).

1.2 Temperature and Atlantic salmon

Temperature has often been described as the 'master' environmental factor with regards to the regulation of fish physiology (Brett, 1971). In the wild, Atlantic salmon can be found at a wide range of temperatures. For example, Strøm et al. (2020) reported Atlantic salmon at sea experienced temperatures from -0.5 to 12.9°C in northern Norway, with maximum daily fluctuations of 9.6°C. Whereas, in freshwater streams, they can experience temperatures from 0 to 27-30°C (Caissie et al., 2014; Gallant et al., 2017; Lund et al., 2002). The thermal biology of Atlantic salmon has also been studied in aquaculture settings. The temperature where Atlantic salmon growth is optimal is approximately 13°C for adult fish (Hevrøy et al., 2013), and the optimal temperature range for post-smolts is from 11.6 to 19.1°C (Elliott and Elliott, 2010). However, outside

of these temperatures, performance declines and temperature becomes a stressor, with mortalities at high temperatures beginning above 20°C (Anttila et al., 2015; Elliott, 1991; Elliott and Elliott, 1995; Gallant et al., 2017; Gamperl et al., 2020; Wade et al., 2019).

Atlantic salmon reared for commercial production are maintained in tanks on land in relatively controlled environmental conditions from the egg until their transfer to seacages as smolts where they will grow until they reach market size (~4 to 6 kg). Site selection for these cages is a crucial step to ensure the growing fish will be protected from the harshest weather conditions. Given that Atlantic salmon are reared in several regions of the world, they are exposed to a variety of thermal ranges during the growout phase. Tasmania is the warmest region, where temperatures in Atlantic salmon sea-cages can exceed 20°C for several weeks and surface temperatures can reach 23°C (Stehfest et al., 2017; Wade et al., 2019). Other regions with significant Atlantic salmon production at sea (Canada, Chile, and Northern Europe) have similar maximum temperatures, between 18 and 20°C (Gamperl et al., 2021; Madaro et al., 2021; Narváez et al., 2019). However, minimum temperatures are quite different. Fish reared in Tasmania and Chile only experience temperatures down to 6-9°C (Dempster et al., 2016; Narváez et al., 2019; Soto and Norambuena, 2004). Whereas, the lowest temperatures in Norway vary from 2 and 6°C given the large latitudinal range of the coastline (Falconer et al., 2020; Geitung et al., 2020; Korsøen et al., 2009; Madaro et al., 2021; Oppedal et al., 2011; Sandnes et al., 1988), and temperatures in Atlantic Canada and Iceland are below 5°C for 6 months, can be 1-2°C for several weeks, and can reach temperatures of 0° C or lower [Björnsson et al., 2007; Sandrelli and Gamperl (In Prep; see Chapter 3)].

1.3 Culture of Atlantic salmon at low temperature

High temperatures have been the focus of research with the goal of understanding and mitigating the effects of climate change on finfish production (Barange et al., 2018; Galappaththi et al., 2020; Maulu et al., 2021). Climate change is generally thought of as an increase in average temperatures, and/or in the frequency and intensity of heat waves (IPCC, 2022), and both of these phenomenon have been the focus of many studies on cultured Atlantic salmon over the last decade (Beemelmanns et al., 2021c, 2021b, 2021a; Gamperl et al., 2020; Gerber et al., 2021; Stehfest et al., 2017; Wade et al., 2019). However, low temperatures can have significant negative impacts on aquaculture production, including reduced growth, the loss of appetite, and mortalities; all of which can result in economic losses (Handeland et al., 2008; Reid et al., 2022; Spilsberg et al., 2022). Even though the industry plans to grow in regions where low (winter) temperatures are a challenge (e.g., Newfoundland), there is limited knowledge on the physiological responses of salmon to cold ($< 5^{\circ}$ C) temperatures, and the causes of mortality at cage-sites at low temperatures. In contrast to high temperatures, there is an absolute lower limit at which salmon can survive. Indeed, the freezing point of a salmon's body fluids ranges between -0.5 and -1.0°C (Fletcher et al., 1988; Hurst, 2007). Despite the industry's best efforts over the past few years, several winter mortality events have been recorded in Atlantic Canada and Iceland. The explanations given for these winter mortality events were temperature, weather, and poor fish and site management. Some of these winter mortality events clearly report temperatures of approximately the freezing point of Atlantic salmon plasma and extracellular fluids (Huffman, 2019; Pennell, 2014; Willick, 2019). However, others report mortalities related to severe winter

storms (CBC News, 2020), and farmers in Iceland reported that cold sea temperatures in 2020 caused salmon to move to the bottom of their sea-cages, and that rubbing against the netting eventually caused wounds that led to the fish's death (Ćirić, 2020). Similarly, the loss of 1500 - 2000 t of adult Atlantic salmon was due to low temperatures and 'reduced fish heath' (Moore, 2022); moribund salmon from the latter event floated to the surface, and mortalities removed from the cages had 'winter sores' and 'wounds' to the head so severe that the 'head was gone' (Stundin, 2022).

1.4 Low temperatures and salmon: gaps in current knowledge

It was established almost 5 decades ago that the lower temperature limit for salmonids (including Atlantic salmon) in seawater is ~1°C based on poor growth and the risk of mortality (Saunders et al., 1975). However, there has been surprisingly limited effort to date to understand: i) the temperature at which sub-lethal effects occur, and their subsequent severity; and ii) the most effective/appropriate genetic, genomic or protein biomarkers for assessing cold effects / cold tolerance in salmon, as well as for use in broodstock selection programs to increase cold tolerance. Further, the only two studies that have examined such questions have provided contradictory information. Sandnes et al. (1988) sampled Atlantic salmon at a cage-site in Norway between October (7.7°C) and May (6.9°C), with temperatures decreasing to 2°C in February. Blood analyses showed that alkaline phosphorylase, aspartate aminotransferase and creatinine (markers of tissue damage and organ failure) actually decreased slightly at the coldest temperatures, while all other measured blood parameters were unchanged over the course of the study and were within the range considered normal for healthy fish. In contrast,

Liu et al. (2020) performed a lab-based study on Atlantic salmon parr in China where water temperature was lowered from 16°C to 1°C over 6 weeks, and reported a significant increase in all parameters measured (glucose, lactate dehydrogenase, creatine kinase, alkaline phosphatase and aspartate transaminase) between 6°C and 4°C, and that they continued to increase as temperature declined. It is unclear whether these disparate data are due to population or age (size) differences in how Atlantic salmon respond to cold temperatures, or the quite different environments/experimental protocols under which these samples were taken. Furthermore, the reported plasma parameters in these publications are indices of tissue damage, and thus, provide no information on when the fish become stressed by declining temperatures, and/or whether cold exposure is concomitant with a disturbance in the fish's osmotic/ionoregulatory balance.

1.5 Effects of low temperatures on cultured fish

While information on the physiological impacts of gradual declines in temperature on Atlantic salmon is still ambiguous, low temperatures have been identified as a problem for the production of many other species including Nile tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*; Hassaan et al., 2019; Panase et al., 2018), European seabass (*Dicentrarchus labrax*; Islam et al., 2021, 2020; Zhang et al., 2021), orange-spotted grouper (*Epinephelus coloides*; Sun et al., 2019), yellow drum (*Nibea albiflora*; Jiao et al., 2020; Song et al., 2019; Zhu et al., 2020) and gilthead sea bream (*Sparus aurata*; Gallardo et al., 2003; Ibarz et al., 2010; Melis et al., 2017). In general, these studies show that low temperatures reduce feeding and growth, and that significant stress can lead to difficulties in meeting energy demands at low temperature and that this can result in increased mortalities. Further, there is accumulating data which shows that low temperatures cause lipid accumulation in the liver, increased liver size (hepatosomatic index, HSI) and liver dysfunction. The most extensive volume of research has been conducted on gilthead sea bream where the impacts on production in the northern Mediterranean have been significant, and this metabolic condition at low temperatures is referred to as 'Winter Syndrome' [see Ibarz et al., (2010) for a review]. With regards to Atlantic salmon, they have been reported to suffer from a condition formerly called 'Hitra disease' and now known as 'cold water vibriosis' that results in enlarged livers at low temperature. However, research on this disease was primarily focused on the causative infectious agents and not on the physiological response of the Atlantic salmon when reared at low temperatures. *Aliivibrio salmonicida* was identified as the causative agent of the disease (Egidius et al., 1986; Holm et al., 1985; Urbanczyk et al., 2007) and, in addition to an increase in HSI, it causes hemorrhages to most internal organs (Egidius et al., 1985).

Another condition at low temperature that has been increasingly problematic for salmon production is skin ulcers, which have received considerable research attention since the 1990's (Lunder et al., 1995). Two main diseases have been associated with the appearance of skin ulcers. The first one is 'Winter ulcer' in which *Moritella viscosa* is believed to be the primary infectious agent (Karlsen et al., 2014). A vaccine has been developed for this disease, and is administered to Atlantic salmon prior to moving them into sea-cages (Karlsen et al., 2017). The second disease is 'Tenacibaculosis' caused by *Tenacibaculum spp.* (Nowlan et al., 2021; Småge et al., 2018; Spilsberg et al., 2022). These two conditions have been associated with temperatures below 8-10°C in

Norwegian salmon aquaculture (Lunder et al., 1995; Olsen et al., 2011). However, the appearance of skin ulcers has also been reported in Atlantic Canada in the summer and fall when water temperatures are above 10-12°C (MacKinnon et al., 2020, 2019); although the pathogen responsible for this condition has not been definitively identified to date. With many pathogens potentially affecting Atlantic salmon in winter, it becomes important to understand how low temperature may negatively impact a fish's capacity to maintain homeostasis, and cause chronic stress and suppress immune functions.

Finally, winter mortalities at cage-sites are also reported in association with harsh winter conditions and winter storms (CBC News, 2020), with the latter expected to increase in frequency and intensity, and result in episodes of rapid cooling as deeper waters mix with surface waters in contact with cold air (i.e., episodes of 'cold-shock' or 'super chill') (Szekeres et al., 2016). We know that fish experience stress when exposed to rapid declines in water temperature (Donaldson et al., 2008; Reid et al., 2022). However, there is little information on the impacts of 'cold-shock' (i.e., exposure to temperatures near 0°C) or its duration on Atlantic salmon physiology or survival, or on what the most appropriate and effective biomarkers are for assessing fish health or welfare at cold temperatures.

1.6 Research goals

There is much to understand about the physiology of Atlantic salmon reared at low water temperatures, especially in the context of aquaculture. In this thesis, I examine two temperature regimes that emulate winter conditions in Newfoundland sea-cages. First, in Chapter 2, salmon were exposed to a seasonally relevant cold-exposure (8 to 1°C in 7 weeks) to observe the physiological changes that occur when seawater temperatures are slowly lowered. Second, in Chapter 3, I exposed salmon to an acute 'cold-shock' (of 4 and 24 h in duration) so that I could measure physiological changes when temperature is rapidly lowered to close to 0°C. These two regimes were specifically chosen with the goal(s) of identifying if such conditions result in mortalities, and to examine the physiological changes associated with these two different decreases in water temperature. The salmon's plasma and liver were sampled throughout the two cold-exposures, with the plasma analyzed for several biomarkers that have been shown to be good indicators of cold-stress in multiple species (Donaldson et al., 2008; Reid et al., 2022). The plasma was analyzed for changes in ion (Cl⁻, Na⁺ and Cl⁻) concentration and osmolality since cold-stressed fish are known to experience changes in plasma ion levels (Islam et al., 2021; Staurnes et al., 1994). Low temperatures have also been shown to impact stressrelated hormones and metabolites (i.e., cortisol, glucose and lactate) (Islam et al., 2020; C. Liu et al., 2020; Melis et al., 2017), and so these parameters were also measured. When tissues experience severe stress, cells begin to release their contents (a process called 'cell leakage') and/or undergo apoptosis, and enzymes usually only found inside the cells of certain tissues make their way into the plasma. By measuring the activity of these enzymes, it is possible to measure the impacts of an environmental or physiological condition on cell and tissue damage. Such measurements of plasma enzymes are a common tool in human and animal biomedicine (Boyd, 1983; Brewster, 2018; Klein et al., 2020). They have also previously been used to identify cold-stress in fish (Liu et al., 2020a; Panase et al., 2018; Sandnes et al., 1988). Finally, in Chapter 2, samples of the liver were used to measure the transcript (mRNA) expression levels of several stressrelated genes that are considered to be amongst the best indicators of temperature-related stress in fishes (Beemelmanns et al., 2021b, 2021a; Liu et al., 2020b; Vergauwen et al., 2010; Xu et al., 2018).

In the above two experiments, and one conducted by my colleague Emma Porter (also an M.Sc. student in Dr. Gamperl's lab), a number of salmon became moribund or died. This provided me with the opportunity to examine the aetiology of these cold-related mortalities in affected fish in detail, and the physiological disturbances and other cold-related effects that might be the cause of, and/or be associated with, cold-related mortalities in Atlantic salmon in countries such as Iceland and Eastern Canada. This research is the topic of Chapter 4 of my thesis.

Collectively, this thesis provides the Atlantic Canada salmon aquaculture industry with key information on how to better manage their fish during the cold months, and valuable data on which physiological indices ('biomarkers') are most appropriate for evaluating the effects of low temperatures on salmon physiology, health and welfare. Blood was one of the main targets for sampling as collecting blood from fish via caudal puncture is a simple, and non-lethal, procedure which makes it a suitable choice for the aquaculture industry. Such information is critical to the aquaculture industry in Atlantic Canada given the recent adverse effects of winter temperatures on Atlantic salmon production and survival (i.e., 'winter kill') (Pennell, 2014; Undercurrent News, 2020; Willick, 2019). The liver was also sampled given evidence that fish (including salmon) exposed to cold temperatures can develop 'fatty liver disease' (Dessen et al., 2021; Ibarz et al., 2010; Pastorino et al., 2019; Weber and Bosworth, 2005) that is often associated with tissue damage, and metabolic and other forms of dysfunction; these symptoms are

often associated with a condition called 'Winter Disease' or 'Winter Syndrome' in a number of fish species (Ibarz et al., 2010; Islam et al., 2020; Song et al., 2019). The ultimate goal of this latter research was to provide preliminary evidence as to whether Atlantic salmon can also suffer from this condition as suggested by the recent data of Dessen et al. (2021).

1.7 References

Anttila, K., Lewis, M., Prokkola, J.M., Kanerva, M., Seppanen, E., Kolari, I., Nikinmaa, M., 2015. Warm acclimation and oxygen depletion induce species-specific responses in salmonids. J. Exp. Biol. 218, 1471–1477. https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.119115

Barange, M., Bahri, T., Beveridge, M.C.M., Cochrane, K.L., Funge-Smith, S., Poulain, F., 2018. Impacts of climate change on fisheries and aquaculture: synthesis of current knowledge, adaptation and mitigation options. FAO Fish. Aquac. Tech. Pap. FAO Eng No 627.

Beemelmanns, A., Ribas, L., Anastasiadi, D., Moraleda-Prados, J., Zanuzzo, F., Rise, M., Gamperl, A., 2021a. DNA methylation dynamics in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) challenged with high temperature and moderate hypoxia. Front. Mar. Sci. 7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2020.604878

Beemelmanns, A., Zanuzzo, F.S., Sandrelli, R.M., Rise, M.L., Gamperl, A.K., 2021b. The Atlantic salmon's stress-and immune-related transcriptional responses to moderate hypoxia, an incremental temperature increase, and these challenges combined. G3 11, jkab102. https://doi.org/10.1093/g3journal/jkab102

Beemelmanns, A., Zanuzzo, F.S., Xue, X., Sandrelli, R.M., Rise, M.L., Gamperl, A.K., 2021c. The transcriptomic responses of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) to high temperature stress alone, and in combination with moderate hypoxia. BMC Genomics 22, 261. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12864-021-07464-x

Björnsson, B., Steinarsson, A., Árnason, T., 2007. Growth model for Atlantic cod (*Gadus morhua*): Effects of temperature and body weight on growth rate. Aquaculture 271, 216–226. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2007.06.026

Boyd, J. W., 1983. The mechanisms relating to increases in plasma enzymes and isoenzymes in diseases of animals. Vet. Clin. Pathol. 12, 9–24. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1939-165X.1983.tb00609.x

Brett, J.R., 1971. Energetic responses of salmon to temperature. A study of some thermal relations in the physiology and freshwater ecology of sockeye salmon (*Oncorhynchus nerkd*). Am. Zool. 11, 99–113. https://doi.org/10.1093/icb/11.1.99

Brewster, L.M., 2018. Creatine kinase, energy reserve, and hypertension: from bench to bedside. Ann. Transl. Med. 6, 292. https://doi.org/10.21037/atm.2018.07.15

Burke, H., Gardner, I., Anthony Farrell, 2020. A review of the 2019 Newfoundland and Labrador south coast cultured Atlantic salmon mortality event.

Caissie, D., El-Jabi, N., Turkkan, N., 2014. Stream water temperature modeling under climate change scenarios B1 & A2.

CBC News, 2020. Harsh weather linked to die-off at Newfoundland salmon farm | CBC News [WWW Document]. CBC. URL https://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/newfoundland-labrador/another-salmon-die-off-1.5483364 (accessed 10.30.20).

Ćirić, J., 2020. 500 tonnes of salmon die in arnarlax fish farms [WWW Document]. Icel. Rev. URL https://www.icelandreview.com/business/500-tonnes-of-salmon-die-inarnarlax-fish-farms/ (accessed 2.21.21).

Dempster, T., Wright, D., Oppedal, F., Fisheries Research and Development Corporation, 2016. Identifying the nature, extent and duration of critical production periods for Atlantic salmon in Macquarie Harbour, Tasmania, during summer. Univ. Melb. 21.

Dessen, J.-E., Østbye, T.K., Ruyter, B., Bou, M., Thomassen, M.S., Rørvik, K.-A., 2021. Sudden increased mortality in large seemingly healthy farmed Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.) was associated with environmental and dietary changes. J. Appl. Aquac. 33, 165–182. https://doi.org/10.1080/10454438.2020.1726237

DFO, 2022. Canadian aquaculture production statistics, 2020 | Fisheries and Oceans Canada [WWW Document]. URL https://www.dfo-mpo.gc.ca/stats/aqua/aqua20-eng.htm (accessed 7.20.22).

Donaldson, M.R., Cooke, S.J., Patterson, D.A., Macdonald, J.S., 2008. Cold shock and fish. J. Fish Biol. 73, 1491–1530. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1095-8649.2008.02061.x

Egidius, E., Andersen, K., Clausen, E., Raa, J., 1981. Cold-water vibriosis or 'Hitra disease' in Norwegian salmonid farming. J. Fish Dis. 4, 353–354. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2761.1981.tb01143.x

Egidius, E., Soleim, O., Andersen, K., 1984. Further observations on cold-water vibriosis or Hitra disease [*Vibrio ordalii*, *Vibrio anguillarum*, hemorrhages]. Bull. Eur. Assoc. Fish Pathol. Den.

Egidius, E., Wiik, R., Andersen, K., Hoff, K.A., Hjeltnes, B.Y. 1986, 1986. *Vibrio salmonicida* sp. nov., a new fish pathogen. Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol. 36, 518–520. https://doi.org/10.1099/00207713-36-4-518

Elliott, J.M., 1991. Tolerance and resistance to thermal stress in juvenile Atlantic salmon, *Salmo salar*. Freshw. Biol. 25, 61–70. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2427.1991.tb00473.x

Elliott, J.M., Elliott, J.A., 2010. Temperature requirements of Atlantic salmon *Salmo salar*, brown trout *Salmo trutta* and Arctic charr *Salvelinus alpinus*: predicting the effects of climate change. J. Fish Biol. 77, 1793–1817. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1095-8649.2010.02762.x

Elliott, J.M., Elliott, J.A., 1995. The effect of the rate of temperature increase on the critical thermal maximum for part of Atlantic salmon and brown trout. J. Fish Biol. 47, 917–919. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1095-8649.1995.tb06014.x

Falconer, L., Hjøllo, S.S., Telfer, T.C., McAdam, B.J., Hermansen, Ø., Ytteborg, E., 2020. The importance of calibrating climate change projections to local conditions at aquaculture sites. Aquaculture 514, 734487. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2019.734487

FAO, 2022. The state of world fisheries and aquaculture 2022. FAO. https://doi.org/10.4060/cc0461en

Fletcher, G.L., Kao, M.H., Dempson, J.B., 1988. Lethal freezing temperatures of Arctic char and other salmonids in the presence of ice. Aquaculture 71, 369–378. https://doi.org/10.1016/0044-8486(88)90206-2

Gagné, N., LeBlanc, F., 2018. Overview of infectious salmon anaemia virus (ISAV) in Atlantic Canada and first report of an ISAV North American-HPR0 subtype. J. Fish Dis. 41, 421–430. https://doi.org/10.1111/jfd.12670

Galappaththi, E.K., Ichien, S.T., Hyman, A.A., Aubrac, C.J., Ford, J.D., 2020. Climate change adaptation in aquaculture. Rev. Aquac. 12, 2160–2176. https://doi.org/10.1111/raq.12427

Gallant, M.J., LeBlanc, S., MacCormack, T.J., Currie, S., 2017. Physiological responses to a short-term, environmentally realistic, acute heat stress in Atlantic salmon, *Salmo salar*. FACETS 2, 330–341. https://doi.org/10.1139/facets-2016-0053

Gallardo, M.Á., Sala-Rabanal, M., Ibarz, A., Padrós, F., Blasco, J., Fernández-Borràs, J., Sánchez, J., 2003. Functional alterations associated with "winter syndrome" in gilthead sea bream (*Sparus aurata*). Aquaculture 223, 15–27. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0044-8486(03)00164-9

Gamperl, A.K., Ajiboye, O.O., Zanuzzo, F.S., Sandrelli, R.M., Peroni, E. de F.C., Beemelmanns, A., 2020. The impacts of increasing temperature and moderate hypoxia on the production characteristics, cardiac morphology and haematology of Atlantic Salmon (*Salmo salar*). Aquaculture 519, 734874. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2019.734874

Gamperl, A.K., Zrini, Z.A., Sandrelli, R.M., 2021. Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) cagesite distribution, behavior, and physiology during a Newfoundland heat wave. Front. Physiol. 12, 1269. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2021.719594 Geitung, L., Wright, D.W., Oppedal, F., Stien, L.H., Vågseth, T., Madaro, A., 2020. Cleaner fish growth, welfare and survival in Atlantic salmon sea cages during an autumnwinter production. Aquaculture 528, 735623. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2020.735623

Gerber, L., Clow, K.A., Gamperl, A.K., 2021. Acclimation to warm temperatures has important implications for mitochondrial function in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*). J. Exp. Biol. 224. https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.236257

Government of Newfoundland and Labrador, 2022. Seafood Industry - Year in Review 2021.

Handeland, S.O., Imsland, A.K., Stefansson, S.O., 2008. The effect of temperature and fish size on growth, feed intake, food conversion efficiency and stomach evacuation rate of Atlantic salmon post-smolts. Aquaculture 283, 36–42. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2008.06.042

Hassaan, M.S., EL Nagar, A.G., Salim, H.S., Fitzsimmons, K., El-Haroun, E.R., 2019. Nutritional mitigation of winter thermal stress in Nile tilapia by propolis-extract: Associated indicators of nutritional status, physiological responses and transcriptional response of delta-9-desaturase gene. Aquaculture 511, 734256. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2019.734256

Hevrøy, E.M., Hunskår, C., de Gelder, S., Shimizu, M., Waagbø, R., Breck, O., Takle, H., Sussort, S., Hansen, T., 2013. GH–IGF system regulation of attenuated muscle growth and lipolysis in Atlantic salmon reared at elevated sea temperatures. J. Comp. Physiol. B 183, 243–259. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00360-012-0704-5

Holm, K.O., Strom, E., Stensvag, K., Raa, J., Jorgensen, T., 1985. Characteristics of a *Vibrio sp.* associated with the "Hitra Disease" of Atlantic salmon in Norwegian fish farms. 魚病研究 20, 125–129. https://doi.org/10.3147/jsfp.20.125

Huffman, J., 2019. Cooke experiences 'super chill' event off Nova Scotia coast [WWW Document]. Atl. Salmon Fed. URL https://www.asf.ca/news-and-magazine/salmon-news/cooke-experiences-super-chill-event-off-nova-scotia-coast (accessed 9.8.22).

Hurst, T.P., 2007. Causes and consequences of winter mortality in fishes. J. Fish Biol. 71, 315–345. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1095-8649.2007.01596.x

Ibarz, A., Padrós, F., Gallardo, M.Á., Fernández-Borràs, J., Blasco, J., Tort, L., 2010. Low-temperature challenges to gilthead sea bream culture: review of cold-induced alterations and 'Winter Syndrome.' Rev. Fish Biol. Fish. 20, 539–556. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11160-010-9159-5 IPCC, 2022. IPCC, 2022: Climate Change 2022: Impacts, adaptation, and vulnerability. contribution of working group ii to the sixth assessment report of the intergovernmental panel on climate change [H.-O. Pörtner, D.C. Roberts, M. Tignor, E.S. Poloczanska, K. Mintenbeck, A. Alegría, M. Craig, S. Langsdorf, S. Löschke, V. Möller, A. Okem, B. Rama (eds.)]. Camb. Univ. Press Press.

Islam, M.J., Kunzmann, A., Slater, M.J., 2021. Extreme winter cold-induced osmoregulatory, metabolic, and physiological responses in European seabass (*Dicentrarchus labrax*) acclimatized at different salinities. Sci. Total Environ. 771, 145202. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.145202

Islam, M.J., Slater, M.J., Bögner, M., Zeytin, S., Kunzmann, A., 2020. Extreme ambient temperature effects in European seabass, *Dicentrarchus labrax*: Growth performance and hemato-biochemical parameters. Aquaculture 522, 735093. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2020.735093

Jackson, D., Moberg, O., Stenevik Djupevåg, E.M., Kane, F., Hareide, H., 2018. The drivers of sea lice management policies and how best to integrate them into a risk management strategy: An ecosystem approach to sea lice management. J. Fish Dis. 41, 927–933. https://doi.org/10.1111/jfd.12705

Jiao, S., Nie, M., Song, H., Xu, D., You, F., 2020. Physiological responses to cold and starvation stresses in the liver of yellow drum (*Nibea albiflora*) revealed by LC-MS metabolomics. Sci. Total Environ. 715, 136940. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.136940

Karlsen, C., Thorarinsson, R., Wallace, C., Salonius, K., Midtlyng, P.J., 2017. Atlantic salmon winter-ulcer disease: Combining mortality and skin ulcer development as clinical efficacy criteria against *Moritella viscosa* infection. Aquaculture 473, 538–544. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2017.01.035

Karlsen, C., Vanberg, C., Mikkelsen, H., Sørum, H., 2014. Co-infection of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*), by *Moritella viscosa* and *Aliivibrio wodanis*, development of disease and host colonization. Vet. Microbiol. 171, 112–121. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetmic.2014.03.011

Klein, R., Nagy, O., Tóthová, C., Chovanová, F., 2020. Clinical and diagnostic significance of lactate dehydrogenase and its isoenzymes in animals [WWW Document]. Vet. Med. Int. https://doi.org/10.1155/2020/5346483

Korsøen, Ø.J., Dempster, T., Fjelldal, P.G., Oppedal, F., Kristiansen, T.S., 2009. Longterm culture of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar L.*) in submerged cages during winter affects behaviour, growth and condition. Aquaculture 296, 373–381. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2009.08.036 Liu, C., Ge, J., Zhou, Y., Thirumurugan, R., Gao, Q., Dong, S., 2020a. Effects of decreasing temperature on phospholipid fatty acid composition of different tissues and hematology in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*). Aquaculture 515, 734587. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2019.734587

Liu, L., Zhang, R., Wang, X., Zhu, H., Tian, Z., 2020b. Transcriptome analysis reveals molecular mechanisms responsive to acute cold stress in the tropical stenothermal fish tiger barb (*Puntius tetrazona*). BMC Genomics 21, 737. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12864-020-07139-z

Lund, S.G., Caissie, D., Cunjak, R.A., Vijayan, M.M., Tufts, B.L., 2002. The effects of environmental heat stress on heat-shock mRNA and protein expression in Miramichi Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) parr. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 59, 1553–1562. https://doi.org/10.1139/f02-117

Lunder, T., Evensen, Ø., Holstad, G., Håstein, T., 1995. \'Winter ulcer\' in the Atlantic salmon *Salmo salar*. Pathological and bacteriological investigations and transmission experiments. Dis. Aquat. Organ. 23, 39–49. https://doi.org/10.3354/dao023039

MacKinnon, B., Groman, D., Fast, M.D., Manning, A.J., Jones, P., MacKinnon, A.M., St-Hilaire, S., 2020. Transmission experiment in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) with an Atlantic Canadian isolate of *Moritella viscosa*. Aquaculture 516, 734547. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2019.734547

MacKinnon, B., Jones, P., Hawkins, L., Dohoo, I., Stryhn, H., Vanderstichel, R., St-Hilaire, S., 2019. The epidemiology of skin ulcers in saltwater reared Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) in Atlantic Canada. Aquaculture 501, 230–238. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2018.11.035

Madaro, A., Kjøglum, S., Hansen, T., Fjelldal, P.G., Stien, L.H., 2021. A comparison of triploid and diploid Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) performance and welfare under commercial farming conditions in Norway. J. Appl. Aquac. 0, 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1080/10454438.2021.1916671

Maulu, S., Hasimuna, O.J., Haambiya, L.H., Monde, C., Musuka, C.G., Makorwa, T.H., Munganga, B.P., Phiri, K.J., Nsekanabo, J.D., 2021. Climate change effects on aquaculture production: sustainability implications, mitigation, and adaptations. Front. Sustain. Food Syst. 5.

Medcalf, K.E., Hutchings, J.A., Fast, M.D., Kuparinen, A., Godwin, S.C., 2021. Warming temperatures and ectoparasitic sea lice impair internal organs in juvenile Atlantic salmon. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 660, 161–169. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps13610 Melis, R., Sanna, R., Braca, A., Bonaglini, E., Cappuccinelli, R., Slawski, H., Roggio, T., Uzzau, S., Anedda, R., 2017. Molecular details on gilthead sea bream (*Sparus aurata*) sensitivity to low water temperatures from 1H NMR metabolomics. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. A. Mol. Integr. Physiol. 204, 129–136. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpa.2016.11.010

Moore, G., 2022. Arctic Fish blames 'reduced health' for mass mortality -FishFarmingExpert.com [WWW Document]. URL https://www.fishfarmingexpert.com/article/arctic-fish-blames-reduced-health-for-deathsof-up-to-2000-tonnes-of-salmon/ (accessed 7.21.22).

Narváez, D.A., Vargas, C.A., Cuevas, L.A., García-Loyola, S.A., Lara, C., Segura, C., Tapia, F.J., Broitman, B.R., 2019. Dominant scales of subtidal variability in coastal hydrography of the Northern Chilean Patagonia. J. Mar. Syst. 193, 59–73. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmarsys.2018.12.008

Nowlan, J.P., Britney, S.R., Lumsden, J.S., Russell, S., 2021. Experimental induction of tenacibaculosis in atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar L.*) using *Tenacibaculum maritimum*, *T. dicentrarchi*, and *T. finnmarkense*. Pathogens 10, 1439. https://doi.org/10.3390/pathogens10111439

Olsen, A., Nilsen, H., Sandlund, N., Mikkelsen, H., Sørum, H., Colquhoun, D., 2011. Tenacibaculum sp. associated with winter ulcers in sea-reared Atlantic salmon *Salmo salar*. Dis. Aquat. Organ. 94, 189–199. https://doi.org/10.3354/dao02324

Oppedal, F., Dempster, T., Stien, L.H., 2011. Environmental drivers of Atlantic salmon behaviour in sea-cages: A review. Aquaculture 311, 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2010.11.020

Panase, P., Saenphet, S., Saenphet, K., 2018. Biochemical and physiological responses of Nile tilapia *Oreochromis niloticus Lin* subjected to cold shock of water temperature. Aquac. Rep. 11, 17–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aqrep.2018.05.005

Pastorino, P., Prearo, M., Pizzul, E., Bertoli, M., Francese, D.R., Menconi, V., Mugetti, D., Bozzetta, E., Varello, K., 2019. Hepatic steatosis in a bullhead (*Cottus gobio*) population from a high-mountain lake (carnic alps): adaptation to an extreme ecosystem? Water 11, 2570. https://doi.org/10.3390/w11122570

Pennell, J., 2014. Cold winter killing salmon at fish farms | SaltWire [WWW Document]. URL https://www.saltwire.com/newfoundland-labrador/business/cold-winter-killingsalmon-at-fish-farms-90564/ (accessed 9.8.22).

Poppe, T., Hastein, T., Froslie, A., Koppgang, N., Nordheim, G., 1985. Nutritional aspects of Haemorrhagic Syndrome ('Hitra Disease') in farmed Atlantic salmon *Salmo salar*. Dis. Aquat. Organ. 1, 155–162. https://doi.org/10.3354/dao001155
Reid, C.H., Patrick, P.H., Rytwinski, T., Taylor, J.J., Willmore, W.G., Reesor, B., Cooke, S.J., 2022. An updated review of cold shock and cold stress in fish. J. Fish Biol. 100, 1102–1137. https://doi.org/10.1111/jfb.15037

Sandnes, K., Lie, Ø., Waagbø, R., 1988. Normal ranges of some blood chemistry parameters in adult farmed Atlantic salmon, *Salmo salar*. J. Fish Biol. 32, 129–136. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1095-8649.1988.tb05341.x

Saunders, R.L., Muise, B.C., Henderson, E.B., 1975. Mortality of salmonids cultured at low temperature in sea water. Aquaculture 5, 243–252. https://doi.org/10.1016/0044-8486(75)90002-2

Småge, S.B., Frisch, K., Vold, V., Duesund, H., Brevik, Ø.J., Olsen, R.H., Sjaatil, S.T., Klevan, A., Brudeseth, B., Watanabe, K., Nylund, A., 2018. Induction of tenacibaculosis in Atlantic salmon smolts using *Tenacibaculum finnmarkense* and the evaluation of a whole cell inactivated vaccine. Aquaculture 495, 858–864. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2018.06.063

Song, H., Xu, D., Tian, L., Chen, R., Wang, L., Tan, P., You, Q., 2019. Overwinter mortality in yellow drum (*Nibea albiflora*): Insights from growth and immune responses to cold and starvation stress. Fish Shellfish Immunol. 92, 341–347. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2019.06.030

Soto, D., Norambuena, F., 2004. Evaluation of salmon farming effects on marine systems in the inner seas of southern Chile: a large-scale mensurative experiment. J. Appl. Ichthyol. 20, 493–501. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1439-0426.2004.00602.x

Spilsberg, B., Nilsen, H.K., Tavornpanich, S., Gulla, S., Jansen, M.D., Lagesen, K., Colquhoun, D.J., Olsen, A.-B., 2022. Tenacibaculosis in Norwegian Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) cage-farmed in cold sea water is primarily associated with *Tenacibaculum finnmarkense genomovar finnmarkense*. J. Fish Dis. 45, 523–534. https://doi.org/10.1111/jfd.13577

Staurnes, M., Rainuzzo, J.R., Sigholt, T., Jøgensen, L., 1994. Acclimation of Atlantic cod (*Gadus morhua*) to cold water: Stress response, osmoregulation, gill lipid composition and gill Na-K-ATPase activity. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. A Physiol. 109, 413–421. https://doi.org/10.1016/0300-9629(94)90145-7

Stehfest, K.M., Carter, C.G., McAllister, J.D., Ross, J.D., Semmens, J.M., 2017. Response of Atlantic salmon *Salmo salar* to temperature and dissolved oxygen extremes established using animal-borne environmental sensors. Sci. Rep. 7, 4545. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-04806-2

Strøm, J.F., Thorstad, E.B., Rikardsen, A.H., 2020. Thermal habitat of adult Atlantic salmon *Salmo salar* in a warming ocean. J. Fish Biol. 96, 327–336. https://doi.org/10.1111/jfb.14187 Stundin, 2022. Ljósmyndir sýna stórfelldan laxadauða hjá Arctic Fish á Þingeyri [WWW Document]. Stundin. URL https://stundin.is/grein/14774/ (accessed 9.15.22).

Sun, Z., Tan, X., Liu, Q., Ye, H., Zou, C., Xu, M., Zhang, Y., Ye, C., 2019. Physiological, immune responses and liver lipid metabolism of orange-spotted grouper (*Epinephelus coioides*) under cold stress. Aquaculture 498, 545–555. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2018.08.051

Support Growth of the Aquaculture Industry to 50,000 MT Annually for Salmon and 10,750 MT Annually for Mussels - The Way Forward [WWW Document], 2018. URL https://www.gov.nl.ca/thewayforward/action/support-growth-of-the-aquaculture-industry-to-50000-mt-annually-for-salmon-and-10750-mt-annually-for-mussels/ (accessed 2.15.21).

Undercurrent News, 2020. Cooke's salmon mortalities in Newfoundland worse than originally reported [WWW Document]. Undercurr. News. URL https://www.undercurrentnews.com/2020/04/20/cookes-salmon-mortalities-in-newfoundland-worse-than-originally-reported/ (accessed 9.8.22).

Urbanczyk, H., Ast, J.C., Higgins, M.J., Carson, J., Dunlap, P.V.Y. 2007, 2007. Reclassification of *Vibrio fischeri*, *Vibrio logei*, *Vibrio salmonicida* and *Vibrio wodanis* as *Aliivibrio fischeri gen. nov., comb. nov., Aliivibrio logei comb. nov., Aliivibrio salmonicida comb. nov.* and *Aliivibrio wodanis comb. nov*. Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol. 57, 2823–2829. https://doi.org/10.1099/ijs.0.65081-0

Vergauwen, L., Benoot, D., Blust, R., Knapen, D., 2010. Long-term warm or cold acclimation elicits a specific transcriptional response and affects energy metabolism in zebrafish. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. A. Mol. Integr. Physiol. 157, 149–157. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpa.2010.06.160

Wade, N.M., Clark, T.D., Maynard, B.T., Atherton, S., Wilkinson, R.J., Smullen, R.P., Taylor, R.S., 2019. Effects of an unprecedented summer heatwave on the growth performance, flesh colour and plasma biochemistry of marine cage-farmed Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*). J. Therm. Biol. 80, 64–74. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtherbio.2018.12.021

Weber, T.E., Bosworth, B.G., 2005. Effects of 28 day exposure to cold temperature or feed restriction on growth, body composition, and expression of genes related to muscle growth and metabolism in channel catfish. Aquaculture 246, 483–492. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2005.02.032

Willick, F., 2019. Cold water kills 10,000 salmon at Cooke fish farm near Liverpool | CBC News [WWW Document]. CBC. URL https://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/nova-scotia/cooke-aquaculture-fish-kill-liverpool-1.5062704 (accessed 9.8.22).

Xu, K., Xu, H., Han, Z., 2018. Genome-wide identification of hsp70 genes in the large yellow croaker (*Larimichthys crocea*) and their regulated expression under cold and heat stress. Genes 9, 590. https://doi.org/10.3390/genes9120590

Zhang, Z., Zhou, C., Fan, K., Zhang, L., Liu, Y., Liu, P., 2021. Metabolomics analysis of the effects of temperature on the growth and development of juvenile European seabass (*Dicentrarchus labrax*). Sci. Total Environ. 769, 145155. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.145155

Zhu, Q., Song, H., Zhang, Y., Chen, R., Tian, L., Xu, D., 2020. Effects of cold stress and starvation on the liver of yellow drum *Nibea albiflora*: histological alterations and transcriptomic analysis. Aquac. Environ. Interact. 12, 359–369. https://doi.org/10.3354/aei00369

CHAPTER 2: Lowering Temperature to 1°C Results in Physiological Changes, Stress and Mortality in Cultured Atlantic Salmon (*Salmo salar*)

This chapter is in revision with the journal Aquaculture as: Émile Vadboncoeur, Charlotte Nelson, Jennifer R. Hall, Kathy A. Clow, Rebeccah M. Sandrelli, Colin J. Brauner, Andrew K. Swanson, A. Kurt Gamperl. Lowering Temperature to 1°C Results in Physiological Changes, Stress and Mortality in Cultured Atlantic Salmon (*Salmo salar*).

Abstract

Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar) reared in sea-cages in Atlantic Canada and Iceland can be exposed to temperatures as low as 0-1°C during the winter months, and this can result in large-scale mortalities. Despite this threat to salmon aquaculture, most of our knowledge of this species' thermal biology is at temperatures above 10°C. In this laboratory experiment, Atlantic salmon post-smolts $(175 \pm 24 \text{ g})$ were exposed to a temperature decline of 1°C week⁻¹ (from 8 to 1°C) with an additional week at 1°C (to simulate temperature changes in sea-cages in Atlantic Canada during winter months) or a constant temperature of 8°C (control), and sampled weekly. Growth was reduced by 58% in the experimental group and was associated with a decrease in appetite beginning at 6°C. Starting at 4-5°C, an osmoregulatory disturbance ensued characterized by higher plasma [Cl⁻], lower plasma [K⁺] and increased osmolality. Hsp70 and hsp90 transcript expression also increased as temperature was reduced from 5 to 1°C. However, plasma cortisol levels did not increase (to ~18 ng ml⁻¹) until the fish reached 1°C. Serpinh1 and *cirbp* expression were not good biomarkers of decreasing temperature. Symptoms suggestive of liver dysfunction (changes in plasma [aspartate aminotransferase] and an increase in liver size) were also evident at 1°C. Finally, at 1°C, 5% of the fish died, and these mortalities were typically associated with snout ulceration/erosion and fin abrasions/rot. In summary, Atlantic salmon held under controlled laboratory conditions at temperatures $< 5^{\circ}$ C suffered from decreased growth performance, osmoregulatory disturbance, liver dysfunction, stress, opportunistic infections, and increased mortality.

2.1 Introduction

In the wild, Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar) can be found at a wide range of temperatures. For example, Strøm et al. (2020) reported that Atlantic salmon at sea experienced temperatures from -0.5 to 12.9°C in northern Norway, with maximum daily fluctuations of 9.6°C. Whereas, in freshwater streams, they can experience temperatures from 0 to 27-30°C (Caissie et al., 2014; Gallant et al., 2017; Lund et al., 2011). The thermal niche / biology of Atlantic salmon has also been studied in both laboratory and aquaculture settings as this species is cultured in many countries [e.g., Norway, Chile, Scotland, Australia (Tasmania) and Canada] and worldwide production and market values in 2020 were approximately 2.7 million metric tons and \$15 billion (USD), respectively (FAO, 2021). The temperature at which Atlantic salmon growth is optimal is ~12 to 19°C for post-smolts (Elliott and Elliott, 2010) and 13°C for adult salmon (Hevrøy et al., 2013). However, beyond these values, performance declines and temperature becomes a stressor (Anttila et al., 2015; Beemelmanns et al., 2021c, 2021a; Elliott, 1991; Elliott and Elliott, 1995; Gallant et al., 2017; Gamperl et al., 2020; Wade et al., 2019). For instance, Beemelmanns et al. (2021b) reported that stress-related gene expression in adult Atlantic salmon of Saint John River (Canada) origin begins to increase when temperatures reach 16°C during an incremental (increase at 1°C week⁻¹) challenge to their upper temperature maximum (IT_{max}), and long-term exposure of salmon to temperatures above 22-23°C results in significant mortalities (Gamperl et al., 2020; Hvas et al., 2017).

There is also significant variation in winter temperatures in different regions where Atlantic salmon are reared at sea. While water temperatures at cage-sites in winter only decline to 6-9°C in Chile and Tasmania (Dempster et al., 2016; Narváez et al., 2019; Soto

and Norambuena, 2004; Wade et al., 2019), and 2-6°C in Norway given this countries' wide latitudinal range (Falconer et al., 2020; Geitung et al., 2020), on the east coast of Canada, temperatures at cage-sites will typically decline to ≤ 2 °C for months (Cold Ocean Salmon, Pers. Comm.; Sandrelli et al., unpubl.). Furthermore, on the east coast of Canada and Iceland, so-called 'super-chill' events (to ≤ 0 °C) in the winter months have recently been associated with large scale mortalities (Ćirić, 2020; Huffman, 2019; Pennell, 2014; The Fish Site, 2022; Undercurrent News, 2020; Willick, 2019), and it is expected that climate change will result in more frequent winter storms and episodes of upwelling that will bring colder deeper waters to the surface and result in rapid decreases in ocean temperatures from increased contact with cold air (i.e., episodes of 'cold-shock' or 'super-chill') (Environmental Law and Policy Center, 2019; Reid et al., 2022; Szekeres et al., 2016; U.S. Global Change Research Program et al., 2017).

It was established almost 5 decades ago that the lower temperature limit for salmonid culture (including Atlantic salmon) in seawater is 1°C based on evidence of poor growth and the risk of mortality (Saunders et al., 1975). However, there has been surprisingly little effort to understand the temperature at which sub-lethal effects occur in Atlantic salmon and their severity, and the only two studies that have examined such questions have provided contradictory information. Sandnes et al. (1988) collected blood samples from adult Atlantic salmon at a cage-site in northern Norway between October (7.7°C) and May (6.9°C), with temperatures dropping to 2°C in February. These authors showed that alkaline phosphorylase (AP), aspartate aminotransferase (AST) and creatinine (markers of tissue damage or organ failure) decreased slightly at the coldest temperatures, but that all other measured blood parameters were unchanged over the

course of the study and within the range considered normal for healthy fish. In contrast, Liu et al. (2020) performed a laboratory-based study on salmon parr where temperature was lowered from 16°C to 1°C over 6 weeks, and reported that similar parameters [plasma glucose, lactate dehydrogenase (LDH), creatine kinase (CK), AP and AST] increased as temperature was reduced from 6°C and 4°C, and continued to rise as temperature declined further.

It is unclear whether these disparate data are due to population or age (size) differences in how Atlantic salmon respond to cold temperatures, to the different environments/experimental protocols under which these samples were taken. Further, the reported plasma parameters in these publications are all indices of tissue damage, and thus, provide no information on when salmon become stressed by declining temperatures, and/or whether cold exposure is concomitant with a disturbance in the salmon's osmotic/ionoregulatory balance. In the current study, post-smolt Atlantic salmon were subjected to a temperature decrease from 8 to 1°C (at a rate of 1°C week⁻¹) over 7 weeks and then maintained for an additional week at 1°C (i.e., a typical temperature change seen between December and February in Atlantic Canada; see Figure S1). We measured production characteristics (i.e., feed consumption, growth rate, etc.), plasma indices of tissue damage (AST, LDH and CK) and energy metabolism (glucose and lactate), plasma ions and osmolality, plasma cortisol, and liver transcript expression of key stress-related genes as temperature was lowered, and compared these data with another group held at a constant temperature of 8°C over the same period. These data significantly enhance our understanding of how cold temperatures impact the physiology of Atlantic salmon,

identify particular temperatures where Atlantic salmon health and welfare may be compromised, and identify potential means to mitigate this industry challenge.

2.2 Materials and Methods

This study was approved by the Animal Care Committee of Memorial University of Newfoundland and Labrador (Protocol [#]21-02-KG). All procedures conducted on the salmon were performed in accordance with the Canadian Council on Animal Care's Guidelines on the 'Care and Use of Fish in Research, Teaching and Testing' (Canadian Council on Animal Care, 2005).

2.2.1 Experimental animals

The Atlantic salmon used in this experiment were reared in freshwater at a Cooke Aquaculture Inc. commercial hatchery in New Brunswick (Canada) and transferred directly to saltwater to the Dr. Joe Brown Aquatic Research Building (JBARB; Department of Ocean Sciences, Memorial University of Newfoundland and Labrador) in January of 2021 without any significant mortalities (< 1%). These fish were initially held in a 3000 L tank for 3 weeks in this facility, and were fed to apparent satiation daily with commercial pellets (Signature Salmon Ration, Northeast Nutrition, NS. Canada). Then, 280 fish (175 \pm 24 g) were distributed into eight 500 L tanks (35 fish tank⁻¹) supplied with 10 L min⁻¹ of seawater (32 ppt salinity) at ~8°C and ~100% air saturation, and a 12h light : 12h dark photoperiod. The fish were acclimated to the tanks for two weeks before the start of the experiment.

2.2.2 Experimental protocol

The 8 tanks were randomly separated into control and experimental treatment groups (4 tanks per treatment) (Figure S2). Fish in the control tanks were maintained at a constant temperature of 8°C throughout the study; whereas fish in the experimental tanks were subjected to an incremental decrease in temperature of 1°C per week from 8 to 1°C, followed by an additional week at 1°C (Figure S3; Table S1). Temperature in the experimental tanks was controlled by mixing 8°C and ambient (\sim 1°C) seawater in different proportions as the experiment proceeded. The weekly temperature change was normally spread out over 2-3 days, and the resulting temperature was maintained for 4-5 days before the fish were sampled. The exception was when the experimental fish were maintained at 6°C for 10 days because of technical issues within the JBARB; however, this had no noticeable impact on the experiment. Oxygen levels in the tanks were maintained between 100 and 115% air saturation, with temperature and dissolved oxygen levels recorded every morning using a handheld probe and meter (YSI, ProODO, OH, USA). The fish were fed to satiation twice daily (at 10:00 and 14:00), and feeding was suspended when pellets began to accumulate at the bottom of the tanks. Feed consumption (FC) was calculated by dividing feed provided to each tank by the average weight of fish in that tank. Fish from the control and experimental tanks (2 fish per tank; n=8) were haphazardly netted and sampled for morphometric measurements, blood and liver (detailed below) when the fish were at 8°C, and when fish in the decreasing temperature regime reached 6, 5, 4, 3, 2 and 1°C. An additional set of samples was taken after 2 weeks at 1°C. Finally, morphometric measurements were taken from all animals remaining after 2 weeks at 1°C [n=54 (control) and 59 (cold-exposure) per treatment, see **Table 2-1**].

2.2.3 Morphometric measurements

The morphometric measurements consisted of body weight, fork length and liver weight.

Specific growth rate (SGR) was calculated according to the formula:

SGR (in % weight day⁻¹) = 100 (ln $W_f - \ln W_i$) / t

Where W_f was final weight (g) of the fish measured after 2 weeks of acclimation at 1°C, W_i was initial weight (g) at the first sampling point at 8°C, and t was the time (in days) between initial and final sampling (63 days).

Condition factor (CF) and hepatosomatic index (HSI) were calculated using the following formulas:

$$CF = 100 [W_t / L^3]$$

HSI = 100 [W_L / W_t]

where W_t was body weight (g), W_L was liver weight (g) and L was fork length (cm).

Survival was calculated daily using the formula:

Survival (%) = 100 - (M/35 * 100)

Where M was the cumulative number of mortalities (mortalities and culls) in a tank, and 35 was the initial number of fish in each tank. Average survival was calculated daily for each treatment (n=4).

The fish remaining in the tanks after 2 weeks at 1°C were scored based on external condition using a system adapted from Noble et al. (2018). The animals were examined for four characteristics: snout damage, fin damage, skin lesions and scale loss. Each characteristics was scored from 0-3 with 0 being indicative of an absence of the trait, and 1 to 3 indicating least severe to most severe as adapted from Noble et al. (2018) (**Figure S4**). Further, if the fin damage was active, as opposed to healed, the fin damage score was doubled. The four scores for each fish were summed to give a total score for each individual.

2.2.4 Blood and liver sample collection

Fish (n=2 per tank) were haphazardly, but carefully netted and anesthetized with 0.4 g l⁻¹ of tricaine methanesulfonate (Syndel Laboratories Ltd, Vancouver, BC. Canada) and bled by caudal puncture in < 3 min. of netting using heparinized 1 ml syringes and 21 gauge needles. Blood samples were transferred to a 2 ml Eppendorf[®] tube containing 75 μ l of saline containing lithium heparin (Sigma Chemical Co., Oakville, ON, Canada; 1000 units per ml) and centrifuged at 1,100 *xg* for 1 min. The plasma was then aliquoted into 1.5 ml Eppendorf[®] tubes for the various analyses, immediately flash frozen in liquid nitrogen, and stored at -80°C. Using Rnase AWAY[®] (Sigma Chemical Co., Oakville, ON, Canada) cleaned surgical instruments, the liver was removed, weighed, and a subsample

(~100 mg) placed in a 1.5 ml Rnase-free Eppendorf[®] tube, flash frozen in liquid nitrogen, and then stored at -80°C.

To comply with COVID-19 protocols, a change in the sampling protocol was made during the experiment. At 8°C (first sampling point), fish were sampled at 9 AM, 22 hours after feeding. At all other temperatures (sampling points), fish were sampled at 5 PM, 8 hours after feeding. However, this appeared to have had limited impact on the measured temperature-dependent parameters (see Section 2.3..5).

2.2.5 Biochemical analyses

2.2.5.1 Spectrophotometry

All enzyme activities, and glucose and lactate concentrations were measured at 340 nm, whereas plasma cortisol concentrations were measured at 580 nm, at 25°C, using a SpectraMax M5e microplate reader (Molecular Devices, Sunnyvale, CA. USA). These assays were modified from established protocols developed for human plasma (Bergmeyer et al., 1978), fish plasma (Casillas et al., 1982), fish liver (Treberg et al., 2002) and fish muscle (Treberg et al., 2003). All chemicals were purchased from Sigma chemicals unless otherwise stated.

Assay conditions were as follows:

Aspartate aminotransferase (AST; E.C. 2.6.1.1). 50 mM of imidazole (pH 7.4), 200 mM aspartate, 0.2 mM NADH, 0.05 mM pyridoxal–5–phosphate and 14.5 U/ml malate dehydrogenase. The reaction was initiated by the addition of α -ketoglutarate to 7 mM.

Lactate dehydrogenase (LDH; E.C. 1.1.1.27). 50 mM imidazole (pH 7.4) and 0.2 mM NADH. The reaction was initiated by the addition of pyruvate to 1 mM.

Creatine kinase (CK; E.C. 2.7.3.2). 50 mM Imidazole (pH 7.4), 5 mM MgCl₂, 2 mM ADP, 0.8 mM NADP, 5 mM glucose, 10 mM AMP, 2 U/ml hexokinase, 2 U/ml glucose–6–phosphate dehydrogenase, and 10 μ M of P1,P5-Di(adenosine-5') pentaphosphate. The reaction was initiated by the addition of phosphocreatine to 50 mM.

Glucose. Plasma samples were deproteinized in 1:4 0.6% perchloric acid. The assay medium contained 250 mM Imidazole (pH 7.8), 5 mM MgSO₄, 10 mM ATP, 0.8 mM NADP⁺ and 10 U/mlglucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase. hexokinase to 10 U/ml.

Lactate. Plasma samples were deproteinized in 1:4 0.6% perchloric acid. The assay medium contained 200 mM of glycine buffer solution and 25 mM NAD. The reaction was initiated by the addition of lactate dehydrogenase to 400 U/ml.

Plasma cortisol levels were measured in duplicate using an enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) kit (NEOGEN Corp. Lexington, KY. USA).

2.2.6 Analyses of transcript expression levels of putative stress-responsive genes in liver

2.2.6.1 RNA extraction, Dnase treatment and column purification

For RNA extraction, ~100 mg of liver was homogenized in a 2 ml Rnase-free Eppendorf[®] tube containing 400 μ l of TRIzol Reagent (Invitrogen/Thermo Fisher Scientific, Burlington, ON, Canada) and a 5 mm stainless steel bead (QIAGEN, Mississauga, ON, Canada) using a TissueLyser II (QIAGEN) set at 25 Hz for 2.5 min. An additional 400 μ l of TRIzol Reagent was then added to the tube and the sample further homogenized at 25 Hz for 2.5 min. The samples were then stored at -80°C. To

increase tissue disruption, the samples were thawed on wet ice and passed through QIAshredder (QIAGEN) spin columns. 200 μ l of Trizol was then added to bring the total volume of the homogenate to 1 ml, and TRIzol total RNA extractions were completed following the manufacturer's instructions. Finally, RNA pellets were resuspended in nuclease-free UltraPure distilled water (Invitrogen/Thermo Fisher Scientific).

High levels of lipid in fish liver often interfere with column-purification. Thus, an additional step, adapted from Xu et al. (2013), was performed to further purify the samples. Briefly, TRIzol-extracted RNA subsamples (150 µg) were combined with nuclease-free water to a final volume of 300 µl in a 1.5 ml RNAse-free Eppendorf[®] tube. An equal volume of acid phenol:chloroform:isoamyl alcohol (125:24:1) (pH 4.5) (AM9720; Ambion/Thermo Fisher Scientific) was then added, vortexed for 30 sec. and centrifuged at 21,000 xg at 4°C for 20 min. Then, 260 µl of the aqueous phase was transferred to a clean tube and the RNA precipitated with 0.1 volumes of 3M sodium acetate (pH 5.5) (AM9740; Ambion/Thermo Fisher Scientific) and 2.5 volumes of icecold anhydrous ethyl alcohol (Commercial Alcohols Inc., Brampton, ON) at – 80°C for 12 h, and centrifuged at 21,000 xg at 4°C for 30 min. The RNA pellets were then washed with 1 ml of 75% ethanol and centrifuged at 21,000 xg at 4°C for 20 min. Finally, the ethanol was removed, the RNA pellet was air dried at room temperature for 10 min, and resuspended in 100 μ l of nuclease-free water (Invitrogen/Thermo Fisher Scientific), with heating at 55°C for 10 min.

The acid phenol:chloroform:isoamyl alcohol extracted RNA samples (45 μ g) were then each treated with 6.8 Kunitz units of DnaseI (Rnase-Free Dnase Set, QIAGEN) with the manufacturer's buffer (1X final concentration) at room temperature for 10 min. to degrade any residual genomic DNA. Dnase-treated RNA samples were column-purified using the Rneasy Mini Kit (QIAGEN) following the manufacturer's instructions. RNA integrity was verified by 1% agarose gel electrophoresis, and RNA purity was assessed by A260/280 and A260/230 NanoDrop UV spectrophotometry (NanoDrop[™] One UV-Vis spectrophotometer, Thermo Scientific) after each of the three extraction/clean-up steps. The column-purified liver RNA samples were of high integrity (tight 28S and 18S ribosomal RNA bands, with 28S being approximately twice as intense as 18S) (**Figure S5**), and purity; with A260/280 ratios between 2.08 and 2.15 and A260/230 ratios between 1.77 and 2.38.

2.2.6.2 Real-time quantitative polymerase chain reaction (qPCR) overview

The transcript expression levels of 10 genes with functional annotations related to the stress response were measured in liver of the control and cold-exposure fish (n=8 per group) at 8, 6, 5, 4, 3, 2 and 1°C using qPCR. These genes included cold-inducible RNA binding protein (*cirbp*), serpin peptidase inhibitor, clade H, member 1 (*serpinh1*) [alias heat shock protein 47 (*hsp47*)], 4 heat shock protein 70-like genes (*hsp70a, hsp70b, hsp70c* and *hsp70d*) and 4 cytosolic heat shock protein 90 (*hsp90a*) genes, including 2 *hsp90a* alpha paralogues (*hsp90aa1a* and *hsp90aa1b*) and 2 *hsp90a* beta paralogues (*hsp90ab1a* and *hsp90ab1b*). These genes are commonly used to measure thermal stress in fish (Akbarzadeh et al., 2018; Beemelmanns et al., 2021b; Morgan et al., 2022; Swirplies et al., 2019). The qPCR analyses were designed and performed based on the Minimum Information for Publication of qPCR Experiments (MIQE) guidelines (Bustin et al., 2009).

2.2.6.3 cDNA synthesis and qPCR parameters

First-strand cDNA templates for qPCR were synthesized in 20 µl reactions from 1 µg of DnaseI-treated, column purified, total RNA using the High-Capacity cDNA Reverse Transcription Kit (Applied Biosystems/Thermo Fisher Scientific) following the manufacturer's instructions.

PCR amplifications were performed in 13 µl reactions using 1X Power SYBR Green PCR Master Mix (Applied Biosystems/Thermo Fisher Scientific), 50 nM of both the forward and reverse primers, and the indicated cDNA quantity. Amplifications were performed using the QuantStudio 6 Flex Real Time PCR system (384-well format) (Applied Biosystems/Thermo Fisher Scientific). The real-time analysis program consisted of 1 cycle of 50°C for 2 min, 1 cycle of 95°C for 10 min and 40 cycles of 95°C for 15 sec and 60°C for 1 min, with fluorescence detection at the end of each 60°C step, and was followed by dissociation curve analysis.

2.2.6.4 Primer design and quality control testing

Details on GenBank accession numbers, qPCR primer sequences, amplicon sizes and amplification efficiencies are presented in **Table S4**. Many of these primers were designed previously (see references in **Table S4**). Primers new to this study (*hsp90ab1a* and *hsp90ab1b*) were manually designed with the aid of Primer3 (Kõressaar et al., 2018; Koressaar and Remm, 2007; Untergasser et al., 2012) to ensure specificity. The four *hsp70* and the four *hsp90* genes analyzed in this study are isoforms/paralogues; the percentage identity at the nucleotide level is reported in **Table S2 and S3**, respectively. The primer pairs for these genes are located in areas where the nucleotide sequences have a minimum of 3 bp difference between each sequence to ensure specificity (see **Figure S6 and S7**).

qPCR primer quality testing was conducted according to previously published protocols (e.g. Caballero-Solares et al., 2017). In the current study, quality and amplification efficiencies for each primer pair were assessed in three cDNA pools: control fish [week 7 (8°C)] and treatment fish [week 5 (3°C) and week 7 (1°C)]. Briefly, cDNAs were synthesized for each individual liver RNA sample (n=8 per group) and then pooled. Due to low expression levels, primers for *cirbp* and *serpinh1* were assessed using a 5-point 1:3 dilution series (in duplicate) starting with cDNA representing 50 ng of input RNA; while the rest of the genes were assessed using a 5-point 1:3 dilution series (in duplicate) starting with cDNA representing 10 ng of input RNA. As the primer pair for *cirbp* exhibited compression at the highest cDNA input amount, it was dropped and the standard curve generated using a 4-point dilution series. No-template controls (NTC) were included to test for contamination and primer dimers. The reported efficiencies (Table S4) are an average of the three values, with the exception of *hsp90aa1b* in which the values are based on the 3 and 1°C pools only. This was due to low expression levels in the 8°C pool. The efficiency and R^2 for each of the three standard curves for each primer pair were calculated using QuantStudio Real Time PCR Software (version 1.3) (Applied Biosystems/Thermo Fisher Scientific). All primer pairs used in the qPCR analyses had acceptable efficiencies (between 91 and 101%, **Table S4**), generated an amplicon with a single peak in the melt curve analysis, and had no primer dimers.

2.2.6.5. Selection of normalizer genes

Six candidate normalizer genes [60S ribosomal protein L32 (*rpl32*, BT043656), eukaryotic translation initiation factor 3 subunit D (eif3d, GE777139), elongation factor 1-alpha 1 (eflal, BT058669), elongation factor 1-alpha 2 (efla2, BT058669), polyadenylate-binding protein 1 (*pabpc1*, EG908498), and β-actin (*actb*; BG933897)] were assessed. The fluorescence threshold cycle (C_T) values of three samples from each group at 8°C and four samples from each group at all of the other sampling temperatures (n=48 in total) were measured (in duplicate) for these six normalizer genes using cDNA representing 5 ng of input total RNA. To identify the most stably expressed normalizers, we conducted a geNorm (Vandesompele et al., 2002) analysis within the qBase+ software package (Hellemans et al., 2007) (Biogazelle, Zwijnaarde, East Flanders, Belgium) on the C_T values obtained from the 48 samples. Based on this analysis, *eif3d* (geNorm M = 0.173) and *rpl32* (geNorm M = 0.183) were selected as the normalizer genes in the experimental qPCR analyses. For each candidate normalizer, the geNorm M value and the mean C_T values for each group in the study are presented in **Table S5**. In the experimental qPCR analysis, the selected normalizers were indeed stably expressed considering all samples and groups in the study (Table S6).

2.2.6.6 Experimental qPCR analyses

Expression analyses for the ten transcripts of interest (TOIs) in the 112 samples were performed as 5 separate studies; in each study, two of the TOIs and the two endogenous controls were assessed (in triplicate) across four plates. On each plate, a notemplate control and a plate linker sample (to ensure that there was no plate-to-plate variability) were included (both also tested in triplicate). cDNA representing 5 ng of input RNA (increased to 20 ng for study 5 due to low expression levels of *cirbp and serpinh1*) was used as template in the PCR reactions. The relative quantity (RQ) of each transcript was determined using the QuantStudio Real Time PCR Software (version 1.3) (Applied Biosystems/Thermo Fisher Scientific) relative quantification study application, with normalization to both *eif3d* and *rpl32* transcript levels, and with amplification efficiencies incorporated. For each TOI, the sample with the lowest normalized expression (mRNA) level was set as the calibrator sample (i.e., assigned an RQ value = 1.0). For each experimental qPCR study, the C_T values for the TOIs and endogenous controls that were used to calculate the RQ values are presented as means \pm s.e.m. C_T values for each treatment group can be found in **Table S6**.

2.2.7 Ion measurements

Plasma sodium (Na⁺) and potassium (K⁺) plasma levels were analyzed using a PFP7 Flame Photometer (Jenway, Stone, Staffordshire, UK) following the manufacturer's instructions. Chloride (Cl⁻) and osmolality were measured using a ChloroChek Chloridometer (model 3400, ELITech Group, Logan, UT) and a VAPRO vapor pressure osmometer (model 5600, ELITech Group, Logan, UT), respectively.

2.2.8 Statistical analyses

All data are reported as means \pm standard error of the mean (s.e.m.). The data were analyzed using Rstudio Version 1.4.1106 R 4.0.5 (R Core Team, 2020, <u>https://www.r-project.org/</u>). A Bonferroni outlier test was used to identify outliers before

statistical analysis. Parameters measured were analysed by fitting linear mixed-effect models using the *lmer* function implemented in the *lme4* package in R (Bates et al., 2021). Statistical models were computed with the fixed interaction terms 'treatment' and 'sampling'. The random term 'tank' was used to account for between-tank variation (i.e., tank effects). Each model fit was graphically examined (i.e., using histograms and qqplots), and residuals were tested for normality (Shapiro–Wilk, p<0.05). Non-normal distributed data were power-transformed with a Box-Cox transformation (Atkinson et al., 2021) using the *boxcox* function implemented in the *EnvStats* (version 2.7.0) package in R (Millard, 2017) so that the data met the assumption of normality. Finally, when the model identified significant effects, least-squares means post-hoc tests with Bonferroni's *p*-value correction for multiple comparisons [using the *lsmeans* function in R (Length, 2016)] were used to identify significant differences between treatments at a particular temperature, and between sampling points (temperatures) within a treatment.

2.3 Results

2.3.1 Feed consumption, growth and survival

Feed consumption was approximately 0.7% body weight day⁻¹ for all tanks for the first 2 weeks at 8°C. It remained at this level in the control tanks over the entire experiment. At 6°C, feed consumption was significantly lower (by 0.23 % body weight day⁻¹) in the cold-exposure fish as compared to the control fish, and continued to decrease until 1°C (**Figure 2-1**). At 1°C feed consumption is reported as ~0.1% body weight day⁻¹, but this value was actually lower as some pellets needed to accumulate in the tank before satiety was determined.

Fish from the control treatment grew (in weight and length) over the experiment. Nearly significant differences in weight were measured between the two treatments after the first (p < 0.08) and second (p < 0.07) weeks at 1°C (**Figure 2-2**) (n=8), and a significant difference in weight (~18% lower in the cold-exposure fish) was found at the end of the experiment when all remaining fish were measured; SGR = 0.45 ± 0.3 and 0.19 ± 0.03 , respectively (**Table 2-1**). A similar result was noted for length, but there was no difference in CF at the end of the experiment (**Table 2-1**, **Figure 2-2**). Interestingly, while HSI was not different before the fish reached ~1°C, it was 35% higher in the cold-exposure fish after 2 weeks at this temperature (1.57 vs. 1.15%) (**Table 2-2, Figure 2-2**). Survival was also similar for both treatments until 1°C. However, during the last 2 weeks at 1°C, ~5% of the



Figure 2-1. Weekly feed consumption during the experiment. Fish were fed to satiation twice daily. The lower and upper box boundaries indicate the 25^{th} and 75^{th} quartiles, respectively, the line inside the box is the median value, and the vertical lines delimit the 10^{th} and 90^{th} percentiles, respectively. Filled circles show data points falling outside the 10^{th} and 90^{th} percentiles. * Indicates a significant (p < 0.05) difference between control and cold-exposure fish at a given temperature. Dissimilar letters indicate a significant difference between samplings within a treatment (control and cold-exposure; n=8).



Figure 2-2. Changes in weight (g), length (cm), hepatosomatic index (HSI) and condition factor (CF) as temperature was lowered from 8 to 1°C in the cold-exposure group compared with the control group. Lower and upper box boundaries indicate the 25^{th} and 75^{th} quartiles, respectively, the line inside the box is the median value, and the vertical lines delimit the 10^{th} and 90^{th} percentiles, respectively. Filled circles show data points falling outside the 10^{th} and 90^{th} percentiles. ⁺ Indicates a near significant difference (p < 0.1), whereas * indicates a significant (p < 0.05) difference, between control and cold-exposure fish at a particular temperature. Dissimilar letters indicate a significant difference between samplings within a treatment (control and cold-exposure; n=8).

Table 2-1. Morphometric measurements for fish exposed to a temperature decrease from 8 to 1°C at a rate of 1°C/week and subsequently maintained for two weeks at 1°C ('cold-exposure), as compared to control fish (held at a constant temperature of 8°C). P values in bold type are significant (p < 0.05). HSI: hepatosomatic index, CF: condition factor.

	Control	Cold-exposure	P-value
n	54	59	
Mass (g)	248.6 ± 6.1	203.7 ± 4.3	< 0.001
Length (cm)	26.9 ± 0.2	25.4 ± 0.2	< 0.001
HSI	1.16 ± 0.04	1.57 ± 0.05	< 0.001
CF	1.27 ± 0.02	1.24 ± 0.02	0.3267
Score	3.8 ± 0.3	7.2 ± 0.5	< 0.001
Specific growth rate (% body weight day ⁻ ¹)	0.45 ± 0.3	0.19 ± 0.03	< 0.05

cold-exposure fish died (**Figure 2-3**). Fish that died/were culled all had similar traits. They were lethargic, swimming at the surface, and the affected animals had considerable scale loss, fin rot (pectoral and caudal) and severe ulcerative lesions/erosion on the snout (**Figure S8**). A visual inspection of the remaining animals in the experimental tanks also revealed that these animals were generally in poorer condition than the control fish; this conclusion is based on the considerably lower condition scores for the cold-exposure fish (**Table 2-1**).

2.3.2 Plasma enzyme levels, and indicators of stress and metabolism

In this experiment we measured a number of enzymes in the plasma as indicators of tissue damage. There were no differences in plasma enzyme levels for the control fish over the experiment. For the cold-exposure fish, plasma enzyme levels were significantly different between 8 and 5-to-1°C for aspartate aminotransferase (AST); 8, and 4 and 1°C for creatine kinase (CK); and 8 and 4°C for lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) (**Figure 2-4**). The only differences between control and cold-exposure fish were at 1°C where plasma AST levels were lower for cold-exposure fish after the first (p<0.1) and second weeks (p<0.05) (**Figure 2-4**).

Circulating cortisol levels were ~5-10 ng/ml in the control group (values indicative of unstressed fish) over the duration of the experiment. However, cortisol levels in cold-exposure fish began to increase noticeably compared to control fish by 2°C and were significantly higher (by 2-3 fold) once the fish reached 1°C (**Figure 2-5**). Plasma glucose increased in both groups between 8 and 6°C (from ~3.4 to 4.6 mM).



Figure 2-3. Survival (%) for control fish (red) and cold-exposure fish (blue). n=4 tanks per treatment. Salmon that were culled were included as mortalities.



Figure 2-4. Plasma activity of aspartate aminotransferase (AST), creatine kinase (CK) and lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) as temperature was lowered from 8 to 1°C in the cold-exposure group as compared with the control group. Lower and upper box boundaries indicate the 25th and 75th quartiles, respectively, the line inside the box is the median value, and the vertical lines delimit the 10th and 90th percentiles, respectively. Filled circles show data points falling outside the 10th and 90th percentiles. ⁺ Indicates a near significant difference (p < 0.1), whereas * indicates a significant (p < 0.05) difference between control and cold-exposure fish at a particular temperature. Dissimilar letters indicate a significant difference between samplings within a treatment (control and cold-exposure; n=8).



Figure 2-5. Plasma cortisol, glucose and lactate concentrations as temperature was lowered from 8 to 1°C in the cold-exposure group as compared with the control group. Lower and upper box boundaries indicate the 25th and 75th quartiles, respectively, the line inside the box is the median value, and the vertical lines delimit the 10th and 90th percentiles, respectively. Filled circles show data points falling outside the 10th and 90th percentiles. ⁺ Indicates a near significant difference (p < 0.1), whereas * indicates a significant (p < 0.05) difference between control and cold-exposure fish at a particular temperature. Dissimilar letters indicate a significant difference between samplings within a treatment (control and cold-exposure; n=8).

However, the temperature-dependent glucose response differed between the groups after this point in the experiment. Glucose levels in the cold-exposure fish increased transiently to ~5.6 mM, and were significantly higher than control fish between 5 and 3° C (**Figure 2-5**). Plasma lactate levels did not differ between the groups, but fell from ~0.17 mg/ml to ~0.12 mM over the course of the experiment.

2.3.3 Changes in stress-related gene expression in liver

Transcript expression levels of four *hsp90a* paralogues were measured: two *hsp90a* alpha 1 paralogues (*hsp90aa1a, hsp90aa1b*) and two *hsp90a* beta paralogues (*hsp90ab1a* and *hsp90ab1b*). In the control group, there were no significant differences in the expression level of any of the four *hsp90* transcripts throughout the experiment. In contrast, in the cold-exposure fish, expression levels of *hsp90aa1a, hsp90aa1a* and *hsp90aa1b* and *hsp90ab1b* started to increase (P < 0.05) at approximately 5°C and continued to increase as temperature fell. At 1°C, expression levels of these genes were ~25-, 10- and 1.4-fold higher, respectively, as compared to time-matched controls. In contrast, the first significant temperature-dependent effect for *hsp90ab1a* was not observed until 1°C, where expression levels were 1.2-fold higher as compared with control fish (**Figure 2-6**).

Transcript expression levels of the four *hsp70* genes were stable in the control group until the last time point (sampling). At that point, expression was significantly higher than that recorded at the first sampling, with the expression for *hsp70a, hsp70b, hsp70c and hsp70d* elevated by 1.1-, 1.8-, 2.1- and 1.3-fold, respectively. In cold-exposure fish, there were no significant differences in *hsp70a* transcript levels as temperature was lowered. This is in contrast to all of the other *hsp70* paralogues, whose



Figure 2-6. Transcript expression levels of four cytosolic heat shock protein 90 paralogues as temperature was lowered from 8 to 1°C in the cold-exposure group as compared with the control group. Transcript levels are presented as relative quantity (RQ) values (i.e., values for the transcript of interest were normalized to both eif3d and rpl32 transcript levels, and were calibrated to the individual with the lowest normalized expression level for that given transcript. Lower and upper box boundaries indicate the 25th and 75th quartiles, respectively, the line inside the box is the median value, and the vertical lines delimit the 10th and 90th percentiles, respectively. Filled circles show data points falling outside the 10th and 90th percentiles. ⁺ Indicates a near significant difference (p < 0.1), whereas * indicates a significant (p < 0.05) difference between control and cold-exposure fish at a particular temperature. Dissimilar letters indicate a significant difference to the transmitted exposure; n=8).

expression levels increased significantly as water temperature was lowered. A significant increase in hsp70b and hsp70c expression was evident (p<0.05 as compared to the control group) by 6°C and 5°C, respectively, and values were 2.8- and 2.9-fold higher as compared to control fish by 1°C. The expression of *hsp70d* also increased as temperature fell. However, the first significant difference, as compared to the control group, was not recorded until 2°C, and the fold-difference at this temperature and at 1°C (p<0.1) (1.3- and 1.2-fold as compared to controls) were not as high as for *hsp70b* and *hsp70c* (**Figure 2-7**).

Transcript expression levels of *cirbp* were variable in the control fish over the course of the experiment, with a 1.6-fold increase (p < 0.05) seen between the samplings of week 3 (lowest) and week 5 (highest). Cold-exposure fish had an interesting *cirbp* expression pattern. Expression levels increased by 2.2-fold (p<0.05) at 3°C compared to the start of the experiment, but then decreased significantly and returned to initial levels. That said, the expression of *cirbp* was significantly higher in cold-exposure fish as compared to control fish from 6 to 1°C. The expression of *serpinh1* varied between the samplings, but there were no significant differences between the treatments at any temperature / sampling point (**Figure 2-8**).

2.3.4 Impact on plasma ion levels and osmolality

At 8°C plasma levels of Cl⁻, K⁺ and Na⁺ were 108.4 \pm 2.5, 3.5 \pm 0.1 and 146.7 \pm 0.8 mM respectively. Between 8 and 6°C, there was a significant increase in plasma Na⁺ levels (to 163.3 \pm 1.7 mM), and this was associated with an approximately 6.5% increase



Figure 2-7. Transcript expression levels of four heat shock protein 70 paralogues as temperature was lowered from 8 to 1°C in the cold-exposure group as compared with the control group. Transcript levels are presented as relative quantity (RQ) values (i.e., values for the transcript of interest were normalized to both eif3d and rpl32 transcript levels and were calibrated to the individual with the lowest normalized expression level of that given transcript). Lower and upper box boundaries indicate the 25th and 75th quartiles, respectively, the line inside the box is the median value, and the vertical lines delimit the 10th and 90th percentiles, respectively. Filled circles show data points falling outside the 10th and 90th percentiles. ⁺ Indicates a near significant difference (p < 0.1), whereas * indicates a significant (p < 0.05) difference between control and cold-exposure fish at a particular temperature. Dissimilar letters indicate a significant difference to the transcript and cold-exposure; n=8).



Figure 2-8. Transcript expression levels of two stress-response related proteins as temperature was lowered from 8 to 1°C in the cold-exposure group as compared with the control group. Transcript levels are presented as relative quantity (RQ) values (i.e., values for the transcript of interest were normalized to both eif3d and rpl32 transcript levels and were calibrated to the individual with the lowest normalized expression level of that given transcript. Lower and upper box boundaries indicate the 25th and 75th quartiles, respectively, the line inside the box is the median value, and the vertical lines delimit the 10th and 90th percentiles, respectively. Filled circles show data points falling outside the 10th and 90th percentiles. ⁺ Indicates a near significant difference (p < 0.1), whereas * indicates a significant (p < 0.05) difference between control and cold-exposure fish at a particular temperature. Dissimilar letters indicate a significant difference to the transmitter of the temperature indicates a significant difference (control and cold-exposure; n=8).



Figure 2-9. Plasma chloride (Cl⁻), potassium (K⁺) and sodium (Na⁺) levels, and plasma osmolality as temperature was lowered from 8 to 1°C in the cold-exposure group as compared with the control group. Lower and upper box boundaries and the 25th and 75th percentiles, respectively, the line inside the box is the median value, and the lower and upper error lines are the 10th and 90th percentiles, respectively. Filled circles indicate data points falling outside 10th and 90th percentiles. ⁺ Indicates a near significant difference (p < 0.1), whereas a * indicates a significant (p < 0.05) difference between control and cold-exposure fish at a particular temperature. Dissimilar letters indicate a significant difference between samplings within a treatment (control and cold-exposure; n=8).

in plasma osmolality (308 \pm 2 mOsmol kg⁻¹ to 322 \pm 1 mOsmol kg⁻¹) (**Figure 2-9**). Cooling (cold-exposure) began to affect plasma ion concentrations beginning at 4–5°C, with significant increases and decreases in [Cl⁻] and [K⁺], respectively. [Na⁺] was significantly increased in cold-exposure fish at 2 and 1°C compared to control fish, but this change was not as evident as that for [Cl⁻]. The increase in [Cl⁻] was more pronounced as temperature decreased, and after 2 weeks of exposure to 1°C, plasma [Cl⁻] was approximately 20 mM higher relative to the control group (137.6 \pm 2.8 vs. 120.9 \pm 1.0 mM, respectively). Given the large increase in [Cl⁻] (and moderate increase in [Na⁺]) as compared to the decrease in [K⁺] (to ~3.0 mM), plasma osmolality was consistently higher in the cold-exposure animals relative to the control group by 3°C, and was ~5% (15 mM) higher by the end of the experiment.

2.3.5 Does time post-feeding affect plasma biochemical measurements?

To examine whether the change in sampling protocol required to abide by Covid-19 policies in the JBARB might have affected the results, we performed a small additional experiment at 6°C, where the same plasma parameters were measured after salmon had been fasted for 6 and 24 hours (**Figures S9-11**). The only value that changed significantly was that of plasma glucose. This parameter was higher $(4.2 \pm 0.2 \text{ mM})$ at 6 h post-feeding relative to 24 h post-feeding $(3.4 \pm 0.2 \text{ mM})$, which is consistent with the findings of the main experiment (**Figure 2-5 and S10**). Thus, it appears that the change in sampling time with respect to when the fish were fed did not greatly influence the changes in parameters reported for the cold-exposure fish between 8 and 6°C in the main experiment.
2.4 Discussion

To improve the sustainability of aquaculture in regions that experience cold winters, it is essential that we understand at what temperatures Atlantic salmon experience physiological disturbances, stress and mortality. In this study, we exposed Atlantic salmon to decreasing temperatures that mimicked seasonal declines in Atlantic Canada from 8 to 1°C to assess temperature-dependent changes in feeding and growth, and in physiological parameters related to stress, osmoregulation, metabolism and tissue damage.

2.4.1 Growth and appetite

The first measurable impact of falling temperatures in our study was a decrease in feeding, which started at 6°C and resulted in a complete loss of appetite by 1°C (**Figure 2-1**). Liu et al. (2020) reported that Atlantic salmon parr subjected to an incremental decrease in temperature stopped feeding at 2°C, and a decrease in feed intake at low temperatures is well documented for many fish species (Elliott, 1991; Islam et al., 2020; Kehoe and Volkoff, 2008; Tort et al., 2004). Feed intake at low temperatures may be primarily reduced because of lower metabolic requirements (Ibarz et al., 2007; Porter et al., 2022), and generally leads to reduced growth in fish (Power et al., 2000; Weber and Bosworth, 2005). Indeed, salmon growth was reduced by 58% during the seasonally-relevant temperature decrease employed in this study. Surprisingly, few other long-term experiments that mimic fall/winter decreases in coastal seawater temperatures have been conducted. However, there are some studies that reported the relationship between

temperature, and fish feed intake and growth (Islam et al., 2021, 2020; Sánchez-Nuño et al., 2018), including those on Atlantic salmon. For example, Handeland et al. (2008) reared Atlantic salmon at 6°C, and after 12 weeks, body weight was one-third and feed intake was one-half of that measured in conspecifics reared at 14°C. Of note, our experiment was conducted using a constant 12h light :12 h dark photoperiod, given facility requirements. However, further experiments should be performed using decreasing temperatures and a natural photoperiod regime if we are to completely and accurately characterize the relationship between water temperature, photoperiod and fish appetite and growth during this challenging period of the Atlantic salmon production cycle (Døskeland et al., 2016; Imsland et al., 2014).

2.4.2 Physiological changes between 8 and 6°C

Plasma glucose increased between the 8 and 6°C samplings (**Figure 2-5**), however this was most likely associated with the differences in the time of last feeding and time of day. **Figure S10** shows that plasma glucose levels were significantly higher in salmon sampled 6 h vs. 24 h post-feeding, and Jia et al. (2018) reported higher plasma glucose in turbot (*Scophthalmus maximus*) at 6 h compared to 24 h post-feeding. The only other changes in fish exposed to a decrease in temperature from 8-6°C were increases in both plasma Na⁺ and osmolality (**Figure 2-9**). Given that these changes were also found in the control fish (those held at a constant temperature of 8°C), we expected that they were also related to the change in the time of feeding. However, this hypothesis was not borne out by the results presented in **Figure S11**, and thus, the potential reasons for the increase in plasma [Na⁺] and osmolality are unknown.

2.4.3 Plasma enzymes

Animal blood contains low levels of cellular enzymes from the normal physiological processes of cellular leakage and apoptosis (Boyd, 1983). However, when tissues and organs are damaged, cells lyse and release their contents into the bloodstream where elevated values can be measured (Neff, 1985), and the presence of certain elevated enzyme levels is used as a diagnostic tool in veterinary and human medicine (Boyd, 1983; Brewster, 2018; Klein et al., 2020). However, our results provide no indication that the salmon experienced tissue damage at temperatures down to 1°C, with values either being unchanged or decreasing as the salmon were lowered to 1°C (Figure 2-4). Lower plasma levels for AST are in line with other research showing that plasma enzyme levels decrease with temperature (Sandnes et al., 1988; Sauer and Haider, 1977). In contrast, Liu et al. (2020) exposed Atlantic salmon part to a decline in temperature from 16 to 1°C at a rate of ~2°C per week, and reported 5-10 fold increases in plasma AST, alkaline phosphatase (ALP), LDH and alanine aminotransferase (ALT) starting at 4 and 6°C without mortalities. The data from Liu et al. (2020) strongly suggest that there was tissue damage in important organs (including the liver) at these temperatures. It is possible/probable that their results differ from those of our study, and most of the literature, due to the rapid decline in temperature used (from 16 to 1°C in 6 weeks). This may not have allowed the fish the time to acclimate appropriately, as temperatures were reduced to the fish's lower lethal limit. However, there is an alternate explanation. Liu et al. (2020) do not report the proximate composition of the diet they used, and it is possible that their diet had a higher lipid content than used in the current study or that of Sandnes et al., (1988), and that this in combination with low temperature resulted in liver damage

and elevated plasma enzyme levels. Dessen et al. (2021) showed that at 5°C an increase in lipid content in the diet led to high plasma levels of ALT and ALP, and significant mortalities in Atlantic salmon. That said, fish species with warmer thermal niches than Atlantic salmon can show signs of tissue/liver damage (i.e., higher plasma enzyme levels) when held at low temperatures; e.g., Nile tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*; Panase et al., 2018), European seabass (*Dicentrarchus labrax*; Islam et al., 2021) and gilthead sea bream (*Sparus aurata*; Gallardo et al., 2003).

2.4.4 Plasma metabolites

At the high end of a fish's thermal range, oxygen delivery to the tissues falls below the animal's needs. Fish then rely on anaerobic metabolism to fulfil/partially fulfil their energetic requirements (Eliason et al., 2013; Jeffries et al., 2012) and this results in elevated plasma lactate levels (Clark et al., 2008; Eliason et al., 2013; Gallant et al., 2017). Similarly, fish exposed to a 'cold-shock' may need to rely on anaerobic metabolism to meet energy demands (Foss et al., 2012; Hyvärinen et al., 2004; Kuo and Hsieh, 2006), and long-term acclimation to cold temperatures (30 days) increases plasma lactate levels (from 3.5 to 4.5 mM) in European sea bass (Islam et al., 2021). The salmon in the current experiment were exposed to a realistic seasonal decline in temperature (from 8°C to 1°C), and there was no indication that they had to rely on anaerobic metabolism to meet their metabolic requirements (**Figure 2-5**). This is consistent with a recent study on Atlantic salmon published by Porter et al. (2022), and with unpublished data (Porter and Gamperl, in prep.) on this species. Both studies showed that this species can elevate its metabolic rate by ~4-fold at 1°C during a critical swimming speed (U_{crit}) test (i.e., their capacity for oxygen delivery and oxidative metabolism is not compromised at this temperature).

In this study, plasma glucose was elevated as compared to control fish when the coldexposure fish began to experience ionic dysregulation at 4-5°C (Figures 2-5 and 2-9). This is in accordance with other studies where plasma osmolality and/or plasma [Na⁺] and [Cl⁻], and glucose levels, varied together (Fiess et al., 2007; Islam et al., 2021). This increase in plasma glucose may be required to meet the increased energy requirements for osmoregulation as glucose is the main source of energy for gill ionoregulation (Tseng and Hwang, 2008). However, the hyperglycemia measured between 3 and 5°C also coincided with reduced feeding. Sheridan and Mommsen (1991) fasted adult coho salmon (Oncorhynchus kisutch) for 3 weeks. In their study, hyperglycemia was recorded in the first week of fasting. However, after 3 weeks of fasting, glucose was back to 'normal' levels, and energy production was maintained by lipids as evidenced by plasma hyperlipidemia. Liu et al. (2020) also found higher plasma glucose levels in Atlantic salmon at 4°C during a decrease from 16 to 1°C, and reported that this was followed by a peak in plasma triacylglycerol levels and the cessation of feeding at 2°C. Glycogen reserves are a potential source for the reported elevated levels of plasma glucose. However, the *in vitro* production of glucose at low temperature by rainbow trout hepatocytes could not be accounted for by the rate of glycogenolysis, and thus, gluconeogenesis from other precursors was clearly involved (Seibert, 1985). In a metabolomic study on gilthead seabream, Melis et al. (2017) reported that both glycogenolysis and gluconeogenesis were associated with decreasing temperatures. However, when the same fish were acclimated to a constant low temperature,

gluconeogenesis was the main form of glucose production. In our study, hyperglycemia between 3 and 5°C could signify a change in the source of energy used in the weeks leading up to the coldest parts of winter; from feed to stored lipids, with a transition period utilizing glycogen reserves. However, when temperature stabilizes during winter, and feeding is minimal or stops, glucose levels are maintained through gluconeogenesis from stored lipids.

Plasma [cortisol] is an established and well accepted measurement of stress in fish (Carey and McCormick, 1998; Fiess et al., 2007; Hjelmstedt et al., 2021) including that due to cold exposure (Chen et al., 2002; Islam et al., 2021; Panase et al., 2018; Staurnes et al., 1994). After an acute stress, plasma cortisol in Atlantic salmon can increase to values between 100 and 500 ng ml⁻¹ before it eventually returns to pre-stress levels (Barton et al., 1986; Barton et al., 1988; Carey and McCormick, 1998; Iversen et al., 1998). In our experiment, cortisol levels started to increase at 2°C, and were higher than those measured in the control fish at 1°C (Figure 2-5). This indicates that the fish were stressed by exposure to these temperatures. However, the values were low (~18 ng ml⁻¹) as compared to those recorded following an acute stressor. This low, but constant, level of plasma cortisol suggests that salmon are under chronic stress at 1°C. As a stress hormone, cortisol plays two main roles. Cortisol is released for mineralocorticoid functions and stimulates NKA activity and salt excretion in saltwater (McCormick et al., 2008). Thus, the increase in [cortisol] at $\sim 2^{\circ}$ C, measured $\sim 1-2^{\circ}$ C after the increase in plasma [Cl⁻] and osmolality, is intuitive in this regard. Cortisol is also released for glucocorticoid functions, and stimulates the release of glucose through gluconeogenesis and glycogenolysis (Barton et al., 1986; Butler, 1968; Faught and Vijayan, 2016;

Wendelaar Bonga, 1997). Finally, there is considerable data which relates an increase in circulating cortisol to fasting in fish (Blom et al., 2000; Hvas et al., 2021; Jia et al., 2018; Kelley et al., 2001; Varnavsky et al., 1995), although decreases (Farbridge and Leatherland, 1992; Jørgensen et al., 1999) or inconclusive responses (Holloway et al., 1994; Pottinger et al., 2003) have also been reported. The relationship between the natural cessation of feeding at low temperatures in salmon and plasma cortisol has not been investigated but our results suggest that cortisol may play a role in maintaining glucose production when Atlantic salmon cease feeding at the lower end of their thermal range.

2.4.5 Expression of stress-related genes

The liver was chosen as the tissue to examine changes in the transcript expression level of genes with functional annotations related to the stress response due to its central role in metabolism and previously observed changes in its transcriptomic response to thermal stress. Indeed, stress-related protein transcript expression in the liver has been shown to be upregulated by high temperatures, and rapid increases and decreases in temperature (Beemelmanns et al., 2021c; L. Liu et al., 2020; Vergauwen et al., 2010; Xu et al., 2018).

Heat shock proteins are highly conserved molecular chaperones that are constitutively expressed in most cells, and have essential roles in the proper folding of newly synthesized proteins and in the re-folding of damaged proteins (Iwama et al., 1998; Mohanty et al., 2018). They are also induced when faced with a variety of stressors and specific conditions (Roberts et al., 2010). This is the first study to measure the transcript

expression levels of four paralogues of hsp70 and of cytosolic hsp90 following a temperature challenge in salmonids. Specific paralogues of these genes were highly upregulated (> 5-fold: hsp90aa1a, hsp90aa1b, hsp70b and hsp70c) during the gradual temperature decrease (1°C week⁻¹) whereas others showed only modest increases (< 1fold: hsp70d, hsp90ab1a and hsp90ab1b) or no change (hsp70a). The paralogues of hsp90 have been categorized in previous studies as constitutive (hsp90ab1a and hsp90ab1b) or inducible (hsp90aa1a and hsp90aa1b) (Garcia de la serrana and Johnston, 2013; Millson et al., 2007), and the expression pattern found in the present study is consistent with these previous studies where the expression of constitutive forms was mostly stable, whereas that of the inducible forms was up-regulated at low/declining temperatures (Figure 2-6). The characterization of *hsp70* paralogues as inducible vs. constitutive isoforms is not as clear as for hsp90 since the multiple paralogs of hsp70 have not been analyzed in a single study on Atlantic salmon (Beemelmanns et al., 2021c; Garcia de la serrana and Johnston, 2013; Lewis et al., 2016). The current study shows that slowly reducing seawater temperature to 1°C induced the expression of hsp70b and hsp70c (Figure 2-7). Thus, there appears to be a similar response in hsp70 and hsp90 expression to incremental increases and decreases in temperature that are close to the limits of the Atlantic salmon's thermal range (Beemelmanns et al., 2021b). In contrast to our findings, Liu et al., (2020), measured stable hsp70 expression in tiger barb (Puntius tetrazona) liver under cold-stress, while expression in brain, gill and muscle was upregulated. It is difficult to compare our data with those in previous studies as these fish were exposed to 'cold stress' or 'cold-shock' (i.e., much faster rates of temperature decrease; generally hours), and it is well known that the rate of temperature change has

considerable impacts on the magnitude and temporal nature of heat shock protein responses (Donaldson et al., 2008; Reid et al., 2022). It is important to note that hsp70 and *hsp90* have been shown to be up-regulated in different fish under hyperosmotic stress (Choi, 2010; Deane et al., 2002; Pan et al., 2000; Peng et al., 2016). Given that the expression of both of these gene families was first increased at 5°C (Figures 2-6, 2-7 and 2-9), when osmoregulatory issues were first detected, it is possible that the increase in hsp expression at this temperature may be at least partially related to an increase in plasma osmolality. However, plasma osmolality did not change as temperature was lowered further, and thus, the large increases in the expression of most of the hsp genes at 2 and 1°C must specifically reflect the effects of cold temperatures. Finally, changes in hsp expression as temperature was lowered preceded changes in plasma cortisol by 2-3°C $(\sim 4^{\circ}C \text{ vs. } 1-2^{\circ}C)$, indicating that these cellular measures are a more sensitive indicator of stress related to long-term decreases in temperature than cortisol. This is consistent with recent data collected on Atlantic salmon warmed to their incremental thermal maximum (IT_{Max}) at 0.2°C day⁻¹. Beemelmanns et al., (2021b) showed that liver hsp90aa1 expression increased by 18°C, whereas plasma cortisol did not increase in these same fish until mortalities began at 22°C (Zanuzzo et al., in prep).

CIRBP stabilizes mRNA, is implicated in many cellular processes (Zhong and Huang, 2017), and it has been suggested that it represents a universal marker of cold exposure (Gracey et al., 2004). Further, the transcript expression of this gene is downregulated with heat-stress in several studies on salmonids (Akbarzadeh et al., 2018; Beemelmanns et al., 2021c; Jeffries et al., 2014, 2012). *In vitro* studies using rainbow trout tissues exposed to acute cooling from 5 to 0°C do not report a change in the

expression of *cirbp* (Borchel et al., 2017). However, the exposure to 0°C was only for 80 minutes, and may have been too short to elicit a change in *cirbp* expression. Rapid exposure to low temperatures has led to increases in *cirbp* in zebrafish (Danio rerio) after 4 (Hung et al., 2016) and 24 h (Chou et al., 2008), that subsequently to 'control' levels after their respective peak. This transient increase in *cirbp* has also been measured during longer periods of cold-exposure. For example, in common carp (Cyprinus carpio L.) exposed to a 13°C temperature decrease, *cirbp* levels peaked at 12 days and approached baseline level when the experiment ended after 22 days (Gracey et al., 2004). Similarly, we report a transient increase in the expression of *cirbp* in salmon exposed to a seasonally-relevant temperature decrease (Figure 2-8). The studies mentioned above all involved an acute cold-exposure, with the lower temperature maintained during the sampling period, whereas the temperature was incrementally decreased in the current study. It may be that, below a certain temperature, induction of *cirbp* expression is reduced or that there is a global acclimation response to decreasing temperatures that only elicits a transient increase in *cirbp*.

SERPINH1 plays an essential role in the stability and formation of collagen (Nagata, 2003), and has protective cellular functions such as the detoxification of reactive oxygen species (ROS) (Wang et al., 2016). Interestingly, while *serpinh1* has been reported to be a reliable marker of thermal stress in multiple studies (Akbarzadeh et al., 2018; Beemelmanns et al., 2021b; Houde et al., 2019; Swirplies et al., 2019), there are no/very limited data on the effects of exposure to cold temperatures on its expression. In this study, *serpinh1* expression did not change as temperature was slowly reduced from 8

to 1°C (**Figure 2-8**). It would be interesting to analyze all four paralogs of *serpinh1* to see if the paralogs have different expression profiles.

2.4.6 Osmoregulatory disturbance

Changes in acclimation temperature lead to ion dysregulation in European sea bass (Islam et al., 2021), gilthead seabream (Vargas-Chacoff et al., 2020), Atlantic cod (Gadus morhua; Staurnes et al., 1994), Mozambique tilapia hybrids (Oreochromis mossambicus x O. urolepis hornorum; Sardella et al., 2004), Atlantic salmon (Staurnes et al., 2001) and many other fish species (Burton, 1986). Low temperature exposure often results in an increase in plasma osmolality and/or in [Na⁺] and [Cl⁻] that trend towards the environment's salinity (O'Grady and Devries, 1982; Prosser et al., 1970). This implies changes in the influx and efflux of ions that result in a net increase in plasma osmolality for fish in saltwater, and a decrease in this parameter for fish in freshwater. There is considerable data in support of this hypothesis. For example, Arctic and Antarctic fish are known to have higher osmolality than temperate/tropical fish (O'Grady and Devries, 1982). In addition, Arctic, Antarctic and cold-acclimated fish have a higher concentration of [Na⁺] and [K⁺] in the muscle as compared to temperate warm acclimated fish (O'Grady and Devries, 1982; Prosser et al., 1970). We show a gradual increase in salmon plasma [Cl⁻] with falling temperature, and smaller and less consistent increases in [Na⁺] (Figure **2-9**). If a reduction in osmoregulatory capacity/function increases the influx of all ions, it is curious that increases in plasma Na⁺ did not match the increase in Cl⁻. The increase in plasma osmolality would leave the fish's cells bathed in a hyperosmotic medium that would then lead to a reduction in their volume due to an osmotically driven water loss.

However, fish can regulate cellular volume by modulating intracellular solutes, and this can result in a regulatory volume increase (RVI) when exposed to hyperosmotic stress (Chamberlin and Strange, 1989). RVI mainly involves the cellular uptake of Na⁺, Cl⁻ and K^+ (Jentsch, 2016), with Na⁺ being the first ion to enter the cell to maintain cellular volume (Jentsch, 2016). For example, winter flounder (Pseudopleuronectes americanus) red blood cells increase their relative cell membrane permeability for Na⁺ to regulate cellular volume, and this leads to increases in cellular $[Na^+]$ and thus a reduction in extracellular [Na⁺] (Cala, 1977). Perhaps the osmotically driven RVI response is the basis for the reduced plasma [Na⁺] relative to [Cl⁻] observed in this study. The increase in [Cl⁻] relative to [Na⁺] in the plasma may result in a reduction in strong ion difference (not all anions and cations were measured) and would need to be electro-chemically balanced in some way, possibly through a reduction in plasma $[HCO_3]$ or an increase in plasma $[H^+]$. It is unlikely, however, that low temperature exposure would be associated with a reduction in pH, as there is a well known increase in blood pH with lower temperature in fish (Cameron, 1978; Rahn and Baumgardner, 1972) and there was no significant increase in plasma lactate at low temperature to indicate a metabolic acidosis. In addition to HCO₃, other anions may follow Na⁺ and K⁺ into the cells to maintain electro-chemical balance, such as negatively charged amino acids (e.g., aspartic acid and glutamic acid) that have been reported to be important in maintaining the electro-chemical balance of cells (Chamberlin and Strange, 1989). Thus, the implications of the large increase in plasma [Cl-] at low pH on acid-base status, and the possible role played by other anions, are clearly areas worthy of further investigation.

Byrne et al. (1972) and Islam et al. (2021) reported a decrease in Atlantic salmon and sea bass plasma $[K^+]$ over a range of salinities at low temperatures, respectively, and three year-old Atlantic salmon acclimated to 1.5°C in freshwater had decreased plasma [K⁺] compared to fish acclimated to 10°C (Virtanen and Oikari, 1984). K⁺ ions are mainly found inside cells, are used to maintain cellular volume and membrane potential, and play a major role in osmoregulation (Epstein et al., 1980; Evans et al., 2005; Partridge and Lymbery, 2008). Whereas, $[Na^+]$ is much lower in the intracellular vs. extracellular compartment (Pörtner et al., 1998). This gradient is maintained by pumps, mainly Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase (NKA). This is an active type of transport (i.e., requiring ATP), where 2 K⁺ ions enter the cell in exchange for 3 Na⁺ ions (Hiroi and McCormick, 2012). Pörtner et al. (1998) presented a model of cellular adjustments in NKA activity during seasonal cold adaptation where, to keep the increase in plasma $[Na^+]$ out of the cells, K^+ needs to be pumped into cells, and this results in a decrease in its plasma concentration. The same thing would happen at the gills to eliminate Na⁺ and Cl⁻ from the plasma. In addition, low temperatures decrease the permeability of membranes to K^+ (Raynard and Cossins, 1991), and thus passive K⁺ influx. It has been reported that Atlantic cod at 1°C had increased gill NKA activity compared to fish acclimated to 8°C (Staurnes et al., 1994) and that gilthead sea bream experienced a similar increase in activity of gill NKA when held at 12°C vs. 19°C (Vargas-Chacoff et al., 2020). Thus, collectively, low temperatures may lead to increased osmolality, plasma [Cl-] and NKA activity, but a decrease in plasma $[K^+]$.

2.4.7 Low temperature exposure

It is difficult to discern if the chronic stress observed in our experiment at 1°C is due to a lack of food/feeding, high plasma osmolality, or cold-stress. However, the 5% mortality recorded in the last two weeks of the study is a clear indication of a developing condition at low temperature. Cortisol is known to suppress the immune system, and limits the fish's ability to signal that an infection has occurred and to mount an inflammatory response (Coutinho and Chapman, 2011). Fish in the cold-exposure group had clear signs of an opportunistic infection (although specific pathogens were not identified). Furthermore, the two indices of liver size / function were impacted at 1°C. HSI was higher, while surprisingly, the circulating level of AST was surprisingly lower. At this point in the experiment, the fish had essentially ceased feeding, and it is well known that fasted Atlantic salmon use their lipid reserves to provide the necessary energy to maintain activities (Cook et al., 2000; Rørvik et al., 2018). It was previously mentioned (in Section 2.4.4) that fasting promotes the use of lipids for gluconeogenesis, and cortisol promotes gluconeogenesis from lipid precursors and increases global lipolytic activity in tissues including the liver (Sheridan, 1986; Van Der Boon et al., 1991). This latter result contradicts our findings of an increase in liver size in Atlantic salmon at 1°C. However, low temperatures have been shown to reduce lipid oxidation in the Atlantic salmon liver (Fonseca-Madrigal et al., 2006), and Hochachka and Hayes (1962) showed that low acclimation temperature (4 vs 15°C) tends to promote lipid synthesis instead of glycogen synthesis in liver and muscle homogenates of brook trout (Salvelinus fontinalis). Given the Atlantic salmon's low metabolic rate when acclimated to 1°C (~25 mg kg⁻¹ hr⁻¹; Porter et al., 2022) and reduced hepatic lipid oxidation at low temperatures (Fonseca-Madrigal et al., 2006), it is possible that the lipids released from

other tissues for gluconeogenesis due to the cessation of feeding, and the rise in cortisol, create a mismatch between fatty acid synthesis and oxidation in the liver. This would result in an increase in lipid deposition in the liver, a hypothesis that is supported by the higher HSI for the salmon at 1°C in this study (**Table 2-1 and Figure 2-2**) and studies on sea bass and sea bream when exposed to cold temperatures for prolonged periods (Ibarz et al., 2010; Islam et al., 2020). At such temperatures, these species develop 'Winter Syndrome', also called 'Winter Disease', which is associated with increased lipolytic activity in the muscle and perivisceral fat, while lipogenesis is promoted in the liver leading to an increased HSI (Ibarz et al., 2007, 2005). Indeed, when Atlantic salmon are held at 3°C for 5 weeks, ~30% become moribund / develop symptoms of 'Winter Syndrome' (Ibarz et al., 2010), and these fish have an HSI of 2.5 vs. 1.3 in asymptomatic fish, with similar observations in the present study. This condition in Atlantic salmon is covered in more detail in Chapter 4.

2.5 Summary and Conclusions

This study reveals a number of important physiological changes in Atlantic salmon when exposed to an incremental decline in seawater temperatures. When cooled from a starting temperature of 8°C: appetite decreased starting at 6°C; at 4-5°C, the fish experienced ion dysregulation accompanied by changes in metabolite levels and increases in liver stress-related gene expression; and at 2°C, an increase in cortisol was observed that became more evident at 1°C, and the liver became enlarged greatly and plasma AST levels decreased (a clear indication of alterations in liver function).

The current study identifies plasma Cl⁻, and liver *hsp70b*, *hsp70c*, *hsp90aa1a* and *hsp90aa1b*, as the best candidate biomarkers of cold-stress in Atlantic salmon, and

further reinforces that cortisol is not a good indicator of long-term temperature changes (stress) as previously thought. During the two last weeks of the experiment at 1°C, significant mortalities were recorded indicating that there are important welfare issues at low temperatures. Since changes to the physiology of Atlantic salmon were measured throughout the temperature decrease, and we only monitored the salmon's physiology and mortality for two weeks at 1°C, it is possible that the issues identified would become more problematic/severe if the fish are held at cold temperatures for prolonged periods. Indeed Chapter 4 of this thesis (Vadboncoeur et al., in prep) found significant welfare issues (erratic swimming, fin rot, and facial/jaw erosion and ulceration) and reported 30% mortality, when these same populations of salmon were acclimated for 5 weeks at 3°C. Thus, it is likely that bacterial infections are concomitant with the physiological disturbances experienced by the fish at cold temperatures, and clear that management strategies should be developed and implemented to ensure salmon health and welfare during the coldest months of the year.

2.6 References

Akbarzadeh, A., Günther, O.P., Houde, A.L., Li, S., Ming, T.J., Jeffries, K.M., Hinch, S.G., Miller, K.M., 2018. Developing specific molecular biomarkers for thermal stress in salmonids. BMC Genomics 19, 749. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12864-018-5108-9

Anttila, K., Lewis, M., Prokkola, J.M., Kanerva, M., Seppanen, E., Kolari, I., Nikinmaa, M., 2015. Warm acclimation and oxygen depletion induce species-specific responses in salmonids. J. Exp. Biol. 218, 1471–1477. https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.119115

Atkinson, A.C., Riani, M., Corbellini, A., 2021. The box–cox transformation: review and extensions. Stat. Sci. 36, 239–255. https://doi.org/10.1214/20-STS778

Barton, B., Schreck, C., Barton, L., 1986. Effects of chronic vortisol administration and daily acute stress on growth, physiological conditions, and stress responses in juvenile rainbow trout. Dis. Aquat. Organ. 2, 173–185. https://doi.org/10.3354/dao002173

Barton, B.A., Schreck, C.B., Fowler, L.G., 1988. Fasting and diet content affect stressinduced changes in plasma glucose and cortisol in juvenile Chinook salmon. Progress. Fish-Cult. 50, 16–22. https://doi.org/10.1577/1548-8640(1988)050<0016:FADCAS>2.3.CO;2

Barton, B.A., Schreck, C.B., Sigismondi, L.A., 1986. Multiple acute disturbances evoke cumulative physiological stress responses in juvenile Chinook salmon. Trans. Am. Fish. Soc. 115, 245–251. https://doi.org/10.1577/1548-8659(1986)115<245:MADECP>2.0.CO;2

Bates, D., Maechler, M., Bolker, B., Walker, S., Christensen, R.H.B., Singmann, H., Dai, B., Scheipl, F., Grothendieck, G., Green, P., Fox, J., Bauer, A., Krivitsky, P.N., 2021. Linear mixed-effects models using "Eigen" and S4.

Beemelmanns, A., Ribas, L., Anastasiadi, D., Moraleda-Prados, J., Zanuzzo, F., Rise, M., Gamperl, A., 2021a. DNA methylation dynamics in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) challenged with high temperature and moderate hypoxia. Front. Mar. Sci. 7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2020.604878

Beemelmanns, A., Zanuzzo, F.S., Sandrelli, R.M., Rise, M.L., Gamperl, A.K., 2021b. The Atlantic salmon's stress-and immune-related transcriptional responses to moderate hypoxia, an incremental temperature increase, and these challenges combined. G3 11, jkab102. https://doi.org/10.1093/g3journal/jkab102

Beemelmanns, A., Zanuzzo, F.S., Xue, X., Sandrelli, R.M., Rise, M.L., Gamperl, A.K., 2021c. The transcriptomic responses of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) to high temperature stress alone, and in combination with moderate hypoxia. BMC Genomics 22, 261. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12864-021-07464-x

Bergmeyer, H.U., Schelbe, P., WIlhelm, A., 1978. Optimization of methods for aspartate aminotransferase and alanine aminotransferase 16. https://doi.org/10.1093/clinchem/24.1.58

Blom, S., Andersson, T.B., Förlin, L., 2000. Effects of food deprivation and handling stress on head kidney 17α -hydroxyprogesterone 21-hydroxylase activity, plasma cortisol and the activities of liver detoxification enzymes in rainbow trout. Aquat. Toxicol. 48, 265–274. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0166-445X(99)00031-4

Borchel, A., Verleih, M., Rebl, A., Goldammer, T., 2017. Identification of genes involved in cold-shock response in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). J. Genet. 96, 701–706. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12041-017-0811-x

Boyd, J. w., 1983. The mechanisms relating to increases in plasma enzymes and isoenzymes in diseases of animals. Vet. Clin. Pathol. 12, 9–24. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1939-165X.1983.tb00609.x

Brewster, L.M., 2018. Creatine kinase, energy reserve, and hypertension: from bench to bedside. Ann. Transl. Med. 6, 292. https://doi.org/10.21037/atm.2018.07.15

Burton, R.F., 1986. Ionic regulation in fish: The influence of acclimation temperature on plasma composition and apparent set points. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. A Physiol. 85, 23–28. https://doi.org/10.1016/0300-9629(86)90456-1

Bustin, S.A., Benes, V., Garson, J.A., Hellemans, J., Huggett, J., Kubista, M., Mueller, R., Nolan, T., Pfaffl, M.W., Shipley, G.L., Vandesompele, J., Wittwer, C.T., 2009. The MIQE guidelines: Minimum information for publication of quantitative real-time PCR experiments. Clin. Chem. 55, 611–622. https://doi.org/10.1373/clinchem.2008.112797

Butler, D.G., 1968. Hormonal control of gluconeogenesis in the North American eel (*Anguilla rostrata*). Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 10, 85–91. https://doi.org/10.1016/0016-6480(68)90012-9

Byrne, J.M., Beamish, F.W.H., Saunders, R.L., 1972. Influence of salinity, temperature, and exercise on plasma osmolality and ionic concentration in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*). J. Fish. Res. Board Can. 29, 1217–1220. https://doi.org/10.1139/f72-181

Caballero-Solares, A., Hall, J., R., Xue, X., Eslamloo, K., Taylor, R.G., Parrish, C.C., Rise, M.L., 2017. The dietary replacement of marine ingredients by terrestrial animal and plant alternatives modulates the antiviral immune response of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*). Fish Shellfish Immunol. 64, 24–38. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2017.02.040

Caissie, D., El-Jabi, N., Turkkan, N., 2014. Stream water temperature modeling under climate change scenarios B1 & A2.

Cala, P., 1977. Volume regulation by flounder red blood cells in anisotonic media. J. Gen. Physiol. 69, 537–552. https://doi.org/10.1085/jgp.69.5.537

Cameron, J.N., 1978. Regulation of blood pH in teleost fish. Respir. Physiol. 33, 129–144. https://doi.org/10.1016/0034-5687(78)90092-0

Canadian Council on Animal Care, 2005. Guidelines on the care and use of fish in research, teaching and testing. Canadian Council on Animal Care, Ottawa.

Carey, J.B., McCormick, S.D., 1998. Atlantic salmon smolts are more responsive to an acute handling and confinement stress than parr. Aquaculture 168, 237–253. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0044-8486(98)00352-4

Casillas, E., Sundquist, J., Ames, W.E., 1982. Optimization of assay conditions for, and the selected tissue distribution of, alanine aminotransferase and aspartate aminotransferase of English sole, *Parophrys vetulus* Girard. J. Fish Biol. 21, 197–204. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1095-8649.1982.tb03999.x

Chamberlin, M.E., Strange, K., 1989. Anisosmotic cell volume regulation: a comparative view. Am. J. Physiol.-Cell Physiol. 257, C159–C173. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpcell.1989.257.2.C159

Chen, W.-H., Sun, L.-T., Tsai, C.-L., Song, Y.-L., Chang, C.-F., 2002. Cold-stress induced the modulation of catecholamines, cortisol, immunoglobulin m, and leukocyte phagocytosis in tilapia. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 126, 90–100. https://doi.org/10.1006/gcen.2001.7772

Choi, C.Y., 2010. Environmental stress-related gene expression and blood physiological responses in olive flounder (*Paralichthys olivaceus*) exposed to osmotic and thermal stress. Anim. Cells Syst. 14, 17–23. https://doi.org/10.1080/19768351003764940

Chou, M.-Y., Hsiao, C.-D., Chen, S.-C., Chen, I.-W., Liu, S.-T., Hwang, P.-P., 2008. Effects of hypothermia on gene expression in zebrafish gills:upregulation in differentiation and function of ionocytes as compensatory responses. J. Exp. Biol. 211, 3077–3084. https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.019950

Ćirić, J., 2020. 500 Tonnes of Salmon Die in Arnarlax Fish Farms. Icel. Rev. URL https://www.icelandreview.com/business/500-tonnes-of-salmon-die-in-arnarlax-fish-farms/ (accessed 2.21.21).

Clark, T.D., Sandblom, E., Cox, G.K., Hinch, S.G., Farrell, A.P., 2008. Circulatory limits to oxygen supply during an acute temperature increase in the Chinook salmon (*Oncorhynchus tshawytscha*). Am. J. Physiol.-Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 295, R1631–R1639. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpregu.90461.2008

Cook, J.T., Sutterlin, A.M., McNiven, M.A., 2000. Effect of food deprivation on oxygen consumption and body composition of growth-enhanced transgenic Atlantic salmon *Salmo salar* 17. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0044-8486(00)00333-1

Coutinho, A.E., Chapman, K.E., 2011. The anti-inflammatory and immunosuppressive effects of glucocorticoids, recent developments and mechanistic insights. Mol. Cell. Endocrinol. 335, 2–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mce.2010.04.005

Deane, E.E., Kelly, S.P., Luk, J.C.Y., Woo, N.Y.S., 2002. Chronic salinity adaptation modulates hepatic heat shock protein and insulin-like growth factor I expression in black sea bream. Mar. Biotechnol. 4, 193–205. https://doi.org/10.1007/PL00021690

Dempster, T., Wright, D., Oppedal, F., Fisheries Research and Development Corporation, 2016. Identifying the nature, extent and duration of critical production periods for Atlantic salmon in Macquarie Harbour, Tasmania, during summer. Univ. Melb. 21.

Dessen, J.-E., Østbye, T.K., Ruyter, B., Bou, M., Thomassen, M.S., Rørvik, K.-A., 2021. Sudden increased mortality in large seemingly healthy farmed Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.) was associated with environmental and dietary changes. J. Appl. Aquac. 33, 165–182. https://doi.org/10.1080/10454438.2020.1726237

Døskeland, I., Imsland, A.K.D., Fjelldal, P.G., Stefansson, S.O., Roth, B., Eriksen, K.E., Mikalsen, B., Handeland, S., 2016. The effect of low temperatures and photoperiods on growth and vertebra morphometry in Atlantic salmon. Aquac. Int. 24, 1421–1434. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10499-016-9999-7

Eliason, E.J., Clark, T.D., Hinch, S.G., Farrell, A.P., 2013. Cardiorespiratory collapse at high temperature in swimming adult sockeye salmon. Conserv. Physiol. 1. https://doi.org/10.1093/conphys/cot008

Elliott, J.M., 1991. Tolerance and resistance to thermal stress in juvenile Atlantic salmon, *Salmo salar*. Freshw. Biol. 25, 61–70. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2427.1991.tb00473.x

Elliott, J.M., Elliott, J.A., 2010. Temperature requirements of Atlantic salmon *Salmo salar*, brown trout *Salmo trutta* and Arctic charr *Salvelinus alpinus*: predicting the effects of climate change. J. Fish Biol. 77, 1793–1817. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1095-8649.2010.02762.x

Elliott, J.M., Elliott, J.A., 1995. The effect of the rate of temperature increase on the critical thermal maximum for part of Atlantic salmon and brown trout. J. Fish Biol. 47, 917–919. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1095-8649.1995.tb06014.x

Environmental Law and Policy Center, 2019. An assessement of the impacts of climate change on the Great Lakes.

Epstein, F.H., Silva, P., Kormanik, G., 1980. Role of Na-K-ATPase in chloride cell function. Am. J. Physiol.-Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 238, R246–R250. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpregu.1980.238.3.R246

Evans, D.H., Piermarini, P.M., Choe, K.P., 2005. The multifunctional fish gill: dominant site of gas exchange, osmoregulation, acid-base regulation, and excretion of nitrogenous waste. Physiol. Rev. 85, 97–177. https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev.00050.2003

Falconer, L., Hjøllo, S.S., Telfer, T.C., McAdam, B.J., Hermansen, Ø., Ytteborg, E., 2020. The importance of calibrating climate change projections to local conditions at aquaculture sites. Aquaculture 514, 734487. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2019.734487

FAO, 2021. Fishery and Aquaculture Statistics. Global aquaculture production 1950-2019 (FishstatJ).

Farbridge, K.J., Leatherland, J.F., 1992. Temporal changes in plasma thyroid hormone, growth hormone and free fatty acid concentrations, and hepatic 5'-monodeiodinase activity, lipid and protein content during chronic fasting and re-feeding in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). Fish Physiol. Biochem. 10, 245–257. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00004518

Faught, E., Vijayan, M.M., 2016. Mechanisms of cortisol action in fish hepatocytes. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. B Biochem. Mol. Biol., Dr. Thomas W. Moon 199, 136–145. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpb.2016.06.012

Fiess, J.C., Kunkel-Patterson, A., Mathias, L., Riley, L.G., Yancey, P.H., Hirano, T., Grau, E.G., 2007. Effects of environmental salinity and temperature on osmoregulatory ability, organic osmolytes, and plasma hormone profiles in the Mozambique tilapia (*Oreochromis mossambicus*). Comp. Biochem. Physiol. A. Mol. Integr. Physiol. 146, 252–264. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpa.2006.10.027

Fonseca-Madrigal, J., Bell, J.G., Tocher, D.R., 2006. Nutritional and environmental regulation of the synthesis of highly unsaturated fatty acids and of fatty-acid oxidation in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar L.*) enterocytes and hepatocytes. Fish Physiol. Biochem. 32, 317–328. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10695-006-9109-2

Foss, A., Grimsbø, E., Vikingstad, E., Nortvedt, R., Slinde, E., Roth, B., 2012. Live chilling of Atlantic salmon: physiological response to handling and temperature decrease on welfare. Fish Physiol. Biochem. 38, 565–571. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10695-011-9536-6

Gallant, M.J., LeBlanc, S., MacCormack, T.J., Currie, S., 2017. Physiological responses to a short-term, environmentally realistic, acute heat stress in Atlantic salmon, *Salmo salar*. FACETS 2, 330–341. https://doi.org/10.1139/facets-2016-0053

Gallardo, M.Á., Sala-Rabanal, M., Ibarz, A., Padrós, F., Blasco, J., Fernández-Borràs, J., Sánchez, J., 2003. Functional alterations associated with "winter syndrome" in gilthead sea bream (*Sparus aurata*). Aquaculture 223, 15–27. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0044-8486(03)00164-9

Gamperl, A.K., Ajiboye, O.O., Zanuzzo, F.S., Sandrelli, R.M., Peroni, E. de F.C., Beemelmanns, A., 2020. The impacts of increasing temperature and moderate hypoxia on the production characteristics, cardiac morphology and haematology of Atlantic Salmon (*Salmo salar*). Aquaculture 519, 734874. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2019.734874

Garcia de la serrana, D., Johnston, I.A., 2013. Expression of heat shock protein (*hsp90*) paralogues is regulated by amino acids in skeletal muscle of Atlantic salmon. PLoS ONE 8, e74295. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0074295

Geitung, L., Wright, D.W., Oppedal, F., Stien, L.H., Vågseth, T., Madaro, A., 2020. Cleaner fish growth, welfare and survival in Atlantic salmon sea cages during an autumnwinter production. Aquaculture 528, 735623. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2020.735623

Gracey, A.Y., Fraser, E.J., Li, W., Fang, Y., Taylor, R.R., Rogers, J., Brass, A., Cossins, A.R., 2004. Coping with cold: An integrative, multitissue analysis of the transcriptome of a poikilothermic vertebrate. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 101, 16970–16975. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0403627101

Handeland, S.O., Imsland, A.K., Stefansson, S.O., 2008. The effect of temperature and fish size on growth, feed intake, food conversion efficiency and stomach evacuation rate of Atlantic salmon post-smolts. Aquaculture 283, 36–42. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2008.06.042

Hellemans, J., Mortier, G., De Paepe, A., Speleman, F., Vandesompele, J., 2007. qBase relative quantification framework and software for management and automated analysis of real-time quantitative PCR data. Genome Biol. 8, R19. https://doi.org/10.1186/gb-2007-8-2-r19

Hevrøy, E.M., Hunskår, C., de Gelder, S., Shimizu, M., Waagbø, R., Breck, O., Takle, H., Sussort, S., Hansen, T., 2013. GH–IGF system regulation of attenuated muscle growth and lipolysis in Atlantic salmon reared at elevated sea temperatures. J. Comp. Physiol. B 183, 243–259. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00360-012-0704-5

Hiroi, J., McCormick, S.D., 2012. New insights into gill ionocyte and ion transporter function in euryhaline and diadromous fish. Respir. Physiol. Neurobiol. 184, 257–268. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resp.2012.07.019 Hjelmstedt, P., Brijs, J., Berg, C., Axelsson, M., Sandblom, E., Roques, J.A.C., Sundh, H., Sundell, K., Kiessling, A., Gräns, A., 2021. Continuous physiological welfare evaluation of European whitefish (*Coregonus lavaretus*) during common aquaculture practices leading up to slaughter. Aquaculture 534, 736258. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2020.736258

Hochachka, P.W., Hayes, F.R., 1962. The effect of temperature acclimation on pathways of glucose metabolism in the trout. Can. J. Zool. 40, 261–270. https://doi.org/10.1139/z62-027

Holloway, A.C., Reddy, P.K., Sheridan, M.A., Leatherland, J.F., 1994. Diurnal rhythms of plasma growth hormone, somatostatin, thyroid hormones, cortisol and glucose concentrations in rainbow trout, *Oncorhynchus mykiss*, during progressive food deprivation. Biol. Rhythm Res. 25, 415–432. https://doi.org/10.1080/09291019409360312

Houde, A.L.S., Akbarzadeh, A., Günther, O.P., Li, S., Patterson, D.A., Farrell, A.P., Hinch, S.G., Miller, K.M., 2019. Salmonid gene expression biomarkers indicative of physiological responses to changes in salinity and temperature, but not dissolved oxygen. J. Exp. Biol. 222. https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.198036

Huffman, J., 2019. Cooke experiences 'super chill' event off Nova Scotia coast [WWW Document]. Atl. Salmon Fed. URL https://www.asf.ca/news-and-magazine/salmon-news/cooke-experiences-super-chill-event-off-nova-scotia-coast (accessed 9.8.22).

Hung, I.-C., Hsiao, Y.-C., Sun, H.S., Chen, T.-M., Lee, S.-J., 2016. MicroRNAs regulate gene plasticity during cold shock in zebrafish larvae. BMC Genomics 17, 922. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12864-016-3239-4

Hvas, M., Folkedal, O., Imsland, A., Oppedal, F., 2017. The effect of thermal acclimation on aerobic scope and critical swimming speed in Atlantic salmon, *Salmo salar*. J. Exp. Biol. 220, 2757–2764. https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.154021

Hvas, M., Stien, L.H., Oppedal, F., 2021. The effect of fasting period on swimming performance, blood parameters and stress recovery in Atlantic salmon post smolts. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. A. Mol. Integr. Physiol. 255, 110913. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpa.2021.110913

Hyvärinen, P., Heinimaa, S., Rita, H., 2004. Effects of abrupt cold shock on stress responses and recovery in brown trout exhausted by swimming. J. Fish Biol. 64, 1015–1026. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1095-8649.2004.0367.x

Ibarz, A., Beltrán, M., Fernández-Borràs, J., Gallardo, M.A., Sánchez, J., Blasco, J., 2007. Alterations in lipid metabolism and use of energy depots of gilthead sea bream (*Sparus aurata*) at low temperatures. Aquaculture 262, 470–480. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2006.11.008

Ibarz, A., Blasco, J., Beltrán, M., Gallardo, M.A., Sánchez, J., Sala, R., Fernández-Borràs, J., 2005. Cold-induced alterations on proximate composition and fatty acid profiles of several tissues in gilthead sea bream (*Sparus aurata*). Aquaculture 249, 477–486. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2005.02.056

Ibarz, A., Padrós, F., Gallardo, M.Á., Fernández-Borràs, J., Blasco, J., Tort, L., 2010. Low-temperature challenges to gilthead sea bream culture: review of cold-induced alterations and 'Winter Syndrome.' Rev. Fish Biol. Fish. 20, 539–556. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11160-010-9159-5

Imsland, A.K., Handeland, S.O., Stefansson, S.O., 2014. Photoperiod and temperature effects on growth and maturation of pre- and post-smolt Atlantic salmon. Aquac. Int. 22, 1331–1345. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10499-014-9750-1

Islam, M.J., Kunzmann, A., Slater, M.J., 2021. Extreme winter cold-induced osmoregulatory, metabolic, and physiological responses in European seabass (Dicentrarchus labrax) acclimatized at different salinities. Sci. Total Environ. 771, 145202. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.145202

Islam, M.J., Slater, M.J., Bögner, M., Zeytin, S., Kunzmann, A., 2020. Extreme ambient temperature effects in European seabass, *Dicentrarchus labrax*: Growth performance and hemato-biochemical parameters. Aquaculture 522, 735093. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2020.735093

Iversen, M., Finstad, B., Nilssen, K.J., 1998. Recovery from loading and transport stress in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.) smolts. Aquaculture 168, 387–394. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0044-8486(98)00364-0

Iwama, G.K., Thomas, P.T., Forsyth, R.B., Vijayan, M.M., 1998. Heat shock protein expression in fish. Rev. Fish Biol. Fish. 8, 35–56. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1008812500650

Jeffries, K.M., Hinch, S.G., Sierocinski, T., Clark, T.D., Eliason, E.J., Donaldson, M.R., Li, S., Pavlidis, P., Miller, K.M., 2012. Consequences of high temperatures and premature mortality on the transcriptome and blood physiology of wild adult sockeye salmon (*Oncorhynchus nerka*). Ecol. Evol. 2, 1747–1764. https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.274

Jeffries, K.M., Hinch, S.G., Sierocinski, T., Pavlidis, P., Miller, K.M., 2014. Transcriptomic responses to high water temperature in two species of Pacific salmon. Evol. Appl. 7, 286–300. https://doi.org/10.1111/eva.12119

Jentsch, T.J., 2016. VRACs and other ion channels and transporters in the regulation of cell volume and beyond. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 17, 293–307. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm.2016.29

Jia, Y., Gao, Y., Chen, X., Huang, B., 2018. Determination of optimal fasting time before blood sampling to get baseline data on serum biochemical characteristics in juvenile turbot (*Scophthalmus maximus*). Aquaculture 487, 83–88. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2018.01.009

Jørgensen, E.H., Bye, B.E., Jobling, M., 1999. Influence of nutritional status on biomarker responses to PCB in the Arctic charr (*Salvelinus alpinus*). Aquat. Toxicol. 12. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0166-445X(98)00087-3

Kehoe, A.S., Volkoff, H., 2008. The effects of temperature on feeding and expression of two appetite-related factors, neuropeptide y and cocaine- and amphetamine-regulated transcript, in Atlantic cod, *Gadus morhua*. J. World Aquac. Soc. 39, 790–796. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-7345.2008.00215.x

Kelley, K.M., Haigwood, J.T., Perez, M., Galima, M.M., 2001. Serum insulin-like growth factor binding proteins (IGFBPs) as markers for anabolic/catabolic condition in fishes. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. B Biochem. Mol. Biol., 4TH International Symposium on Fish Endocrinology 129, 229–236. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1096-4959(01)00314-1

Klein, R., Nagy, O., Tóthová, C., Chovanová, F., 2020. Clinical and diagnostic significance of lactate dehydrogenase and its isoenzymes in animals [WWW Document]. Vet. Med. Int. https://doi.org/10.1155/2020/5346483

Kõressaar, T., Lepamets, M., Kaplinski, L., Raime, K., Andreson, R., Remm, M., 2018. Primer3_masker: integrating masking of template sequence with primer design software. Bioinformatics 34, 1937–1938. https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/bty036

Koressaar, T., Remm, M., 2007. Enhancements and modifications of primer design program Primer3. Bioinformatics 23, 1289–1291. https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/btm091

Kuo, C.M., Hsieh, S.L., 2006. Comparisons of physiological and biochemical responses between milkfish (*Chanos chanos*) and grass carp (*Ctenopharyngodon idella*) to cold shock. Aquaculture 251, 525–536. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2005.05.044

Lenth, R. V, 2016. Least-squares means: the R package lsmeans. J Stat Sofw 69, 1–33.

Lewis, M., Götting, M., Anttila, K., Kanerva, M., Prokkola, J.M., Seppänen, E., Kolari, I., Nikinmaa, M., 2016. Different Relationship between hsp70 mRNA and hsp70 Levels in the Heat Shock Response of Two Salmonids with Dissimilar Temperature Preference. Front. Physiol. 7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2016.0051

Liu, C., Ge, J., Zhou, Y., Thirumurugan, R., Gao, Q., Dong, S., 2020. Effects of decreasing temperature on phospholipid fatty acid composition of different tissues and hematology in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*). Aquaculture 515, 734587. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2019.734587

Liu, L., Zhang, R., Wang, X., Zhu, H., Tian, Z., 2020. Transcriptome analysis reveals molecular mechanisms responsive to acute cold stress in the tropical stenothermal fish tiger barb (*Puntius tetrazona*). BMC Genomics 21, 737. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12864-020-07139-z

Lund, S.G., Caissie, D., Cunjak, R.A., Vijayan, M.M., Tufts, B.L., 2011. The effects of environmental heat stress on heat-shock mRNA and protein expression in Miramichi Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) parr. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. https://doi.org/10.1139/f02-117

McCormick, S.D., Regish, A., O'Dea, M.F., Shrimpton, J.M., 2008. Are we missing a mineralocorticoid in teleost fish? Effects of cortisol, deoxycorticosterone and aldosterone on osmoregulation, gill Na+,K+-ATPase activity and isoform mRNA levels in Atlantic salmon. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 157, 35–40. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygcen.2008.03.024

Melis, R., Sanna, R., Braca, A., Bonaglini, E., Cappuccinelli, R., Slawski, H., Roggio, T., Uzzau, S., Anedda, R., 2017. Molecular details on gilthead sea bream (*Sparus aurata*) sensitivity to low water temperatures from 1H NMR metabolomics. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. A. Mol. Integr. Physiol. 204, 129–136. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpa.2016.11.010

Millard, S.P., 2017. EnvStats: an R package for environmental statistics. Springer, New York.

Millson, S.H., Truman, A.W., Rácz, A., Hu, B., Panaretou, B., Nuttall, J., Mollapour, M., Söti, C., Piper, P.W., 2007. Expressed as the sole Hsp90 of yeast, the α and β isoforms of human Hsp90 differ with regard to their capacities for activation of certain client proteins, whereas only Hsp90 β generates sensitivity to the Hsp90 inhibitor radicicol. FEBS J. 274, 4453–4463. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1742-4658.2007.05974.x

Mohanty, B.P., Mahanty, A., Mitra, T., Parija, S.C., Mohanty, S., 2018. Heat Shock Proteins in Stress in Teleosts, in: Asea, A.A.A., Kaur, P. (Eds.), Regulation of Heat Shock Protein Responses, Heat Shock Proteins. Springer International Publishing, Cham, pp. 71–94. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-74715-6_4

Morgan, R., Andreassen, A.H., Åsheim, E.R., Finnøen, M.H., Dresler, G., Brembu, T., Loh, A., Miest, J.J., Jutfelt, F., 2022. Reduced physiological plasticity in a fish adapted to stable temperatures. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 119, e2201919119. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2201919119

Nagata, K., 2003. HSP47 as a collagen-specific molecular chaperone: function and expression in normal mouse development. Semin. Cell Dev. Biol., Heat Shock Proteins in Development Aging and Evolution 14, 275–282. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.semcdb.2003.09.020 Narváez, D.A., Vargas, C.A., Cuevas, L.A., García-Loyola, S.A., Lara, C., Segura, C., Tapia, F.J., Broitman, B.R., 2019. Dominant scales of subtidal variability in coastal hydrography of the Northern Chilean Patagonia. J. Mar. Syst. 193, 59–73. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmarsys.2018.12.008

Neff, J., 1985. Use of biochemical measurements to detect pollutant-mediated damage to fish, in: Cardwell, R., Purdy, R., Comotto Bahner, R. (Eds.), Aquatic Toxicology and Hazard Assessment: Seventh Symposium. ASTM International, 100 Barr Harbor Drive, PO Box C700, West Conshohocken, PA 19428-2959, pp. 155-155–29. https://doi.org/10.1520/STP36266S

Noble, E.C., Gismervik, K., Iversen, M.H., Kolarevic, J., Nilsson, J., Stien, L.H., Turnbull, J.F., 2018. Welfare Indicators for farmed Atlantic salmon - tools for assessing fish welfare 352.

O'Grady, S.M., Devries, A.L., 1982. Osmotic and ionic regulation in polar fishes 10. https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-0981(82)90193-9

Pan, F., Zarate, J.M., Tremblay, G.C., Bradley, T.M., 2000. Cloning and characterization of salmon *hsp90* cDNA: Upregulation by thermal and hyperosmotic stress. J. Exp. Zool. 287, 199–212. https://doi.org/10.1002/1097-010X(20000801)287:3<199::AID-JEZ2>3.0.CO;2-3

Panase, P., Saenphet, S., Saenphet, K., 2018. Biochemical and physiological responses of Nile tilapia *Oreochromis niloticus Lin* subjected to cold shock of water temperature. Aquac. Rep. 11, 17–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aqrep.2018.05.005

Partridge, G.J., Lymbery, A.J., 2008. The effect of salinity on the requirement for potassium by barramundi (*Lates calcarifer*) in saline groundwater. Aquaculture 278, 164–170. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2008.03.042

Peng, G., Zhao, W., Shi, Z., Chen, H., Liu, Y., Wei, J., Gao, F., 2016. Cloning HSP70 and HSP90 genes of kaluga (*Huso dauricus*) and the effects of temperature and salinity stress on their gene expression. Cell Stress Chaperones 21, 349–359. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12192-015-0665-1

Pennell, 2014. Cold winter killing salmon at fish farms | SaltWire [WWW Document]. URL https://www.saltwire.com/newfoundland-labrador/business/cold-winter-killingsalmon-at-fish-farms-90564/ (accessed 9.8.22).

Porter, E.S., Clow, K.A., Sandrelli, R.M., Gamperl, A.K., 2022. Acute and chronic cold exposure differentially affect cardiac control, but not cardiorespiratory function, in resting Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*). Curr. Res. Physiol. 5, 158–170. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.crphys.2022.03.002

Pörtner, H.O., Hardewig, I., Sartoris, F.J., Van Dijk, P.L.M., 1998. Energetic aspects of cold adaptation: critical temperatures in metabolic, ionic and acid-base regulation, in: Pörtner, H.-O., Playle, R.C. (Eds.), Cold Ocean Physiology, Society for Experimental Biology Seminar Series. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, pp. 88–120. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511661723.005

Pottinger, T.G., Rand-Weaver, M., Sumpter, J.P., 2003. Overwinter fasting and refeeding in rainbow trout: plasma growth hormone and cortisol levels in relation to energy mobilisation. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. B Biochem. Mol. Biol. 136, 403–417. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1096-4959(03)00212-4

Power, D.M., Melo, J., Santos, C.R.A., 2000. The effect of food deprivation and refeeding on the liver, thyroid hormones and transthyretin in sea bream. J. Fish Biol. 56, 374–387. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1095-8649.2000.tb02112.x

Prosser, C.L., Mackay, W., Kato, K., 1970. Osmotic and ionic concentrations in some Alaskan fish and goldfish from different temperatures. Physiol. Zool. 43, 81–89. https://doi.org/10.1086/physzool.43.2.30155517

Rahn, H., Baumgardner, F.W., 1972. Temperature and acid-base regulation in fish. Respir. Physiol. 14, 171–182. https://doi.org/10.1016/0034-5687(72)90026-6

Raynard, R.S., Cossins, A.R., 1991. Homeoviscous adaptation and thermal compensation of sodium pump of trout erythrocytes. Am. J. Physiol.-Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 260, R916–R924. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpregu.1991.260.5.R916

Reid, C.H., Patrick, P.H., Rytwinski, T., Taylor, J.J., Willmore, W.G., Reesor, B., Cooke, S.J., 2022. An updated review of cold shock and cold stress in fish. J. Fish Biol. 100, 1102–1137. https://doi.org/10.1111/jfb.15037

Roberts, R.J., Agius, C., Saliba, C., Bossier, P., Sung, Y.Y., 2010. Heat shock proteins (chaperones) in fish and shellfish and their potential role in relation to fish health: a review. J. Fish Dis. 33, 789–801. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2761.2010.01183.x

Rørvik, K.-A., Dessen, J.-E., Åsli, M., Thomassen, M.S., Hoås, K.G., Mørkøre, T., 2018. Low body fat content prior to declining day length in the autumn significantly increased growth and reduced weight dispersion in farmed Atlantic salmon *Salmo salar L*. Aquac. Res. 49, 1944–1956. https://doi.org/10.1111/are.13650

Sánchez-Nuño, S., Eroldogan, O.T., Sanahuja, I., Özşahniğlu, I., Blasco, J., Fernández-Borràs, J., Fontanillas, R., Guerreiro, P.M., Ibarz, A., 2018. Cold-induced growth arrest in gilthead sea bream *Sparus aurata*: metabolic reorganisation and recovery. Aquac. Environ. Interact. 10, 511–528. https://doi.org/10.3354/aei00286 Sandnes, K., Lie, Ø., Waagbø, R., 1988. Normal ranges of some blood chemistry parameters in adult farmed Atlantic salmon, *Salmo salar*. J. Fish Biol. 32, 129–136. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1095-8649.1988.tb05341.x

Sardella, B.A., Cooper, J., Gonzalez, R.J., Brauner, C.J., 2004. The effect of temperature on juvenile Mozambique tilapia hybrids (*Oreochromis mossambicus x O. urolepis hornorum*) exposed to full-strength and hypersaline seawater. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. A. Mol. Integr. Physiol. 137, 621–629. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpb.2003.12.003 Sauer, D.M., Haider, G., 1977. Enzyme activities in the serum of rainbow trout, *Salmo gairdneri Richardson*; the effects of water temperature. J. Fish Biol. 11, 605–612. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1095-8649.1977.tb05718.x

Saunders, R.L., Muise, B.C., Henderson, E.B., 1975. Mortality of salmonids cultured at low temperature in sea water. Aquaculture 5, 243–252. https://doi.org/10.1016/0044-8486(75)90002-2

Seibert, H., 1985. Effects of temperature on glucose release and glycogen metabolism in isolated hepatocytes from rainbow trout (*Salmo gairdneri*). Comp. Biochem. Physiol. Part B Comp. Biochem. 81, 877–883. https://doi.org/10.1016/0305-0491(85)90082-3

Sheridan, M.A., Mommsen, T.P., 1991. Effects of nutritional state on in vivo lipid and carbohydrate metabolism of coho salmon, *Oncorhynchus kisutch*. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 81, 473–483. https://doi.org/10.1016/0016-6480(91)90175-6

Soto, D., Norambuena, F., 2004. Evaluation of salmon farming effects on marine systems in the inner seas of southern Chile: a large-scale mensurative experiment. J. Appl. Ichthyol. 20, 493–501. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1439-0426.2004.00602.x

Staurnes, M., Rainuzzo, J.R., Sigholt, T., Jøgensen, L., 1994. Acclimation of Atlantic cod (*Gadus morhua*) to cold water: Stress response, osmoregulation, gill lipid composition and gill Na-K-ATPase activity. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. A Physiol. 109, 413–421. https://doi.org/10.1016/0300-9629(94)90145-7

Staurnes, M., Sigholt, T., Åsgård, T., Baeverfjord, G., 2001. Effects of a temperature shift on seawater challenge test performance in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) smolt. Aquaculture 201, 153–159. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0044-8486(01)00654-8

Strøm, J.F., Thorstad, E.B., Rikardsen, A.H., 2020. Thermal habitat of adult Atlantic salmon *Salmo salar* in a warming ocean. J. Fish Biol. 96, 327–336. https://doi.org/10.1111/jfb.14187

Swirplies, F., Wuertz, S., Baßmann, B., Orban, A., Schäfer, N., Brunner, R.M., Hadlich, F., Goldammer, T., Rebl, A., 2019. Identification of molecular stress indicators in pikeperch *Sander lucioperca* correlating with rising water temperatures. Aquaculture 501, 260–271. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2018.11.043

Szekeres, P., Eliason, E., Lapointe, D., Donaldson, M., Brownscombe, J., Cooke, S., 2016. On the neglected cold side of climate change and what it means to fish. Clim. Res. 69, 239–245. https://doi.org/10.3354/cr01404

The Fish Site, 2022. Arctic Fish reports 2,000 tonne salmon mortality [WWW Document]. TheFishSite. URL https://thefishsite.com/articles/arctic-fish-reports-2-000-tonne-salmon-mortality (accessed 4.4.22).

Tort, L., Rotllant, J., Liarte, C., Acerete, L., Hernández, A., Ceulemans, S., Coutteau, P., Padros, F., 2004. Effects of temperature decrease on feeding rates, immune indicators and histopathological changes of gilthead sea bream *Sparus aurata* fed with an experimental diet. Aquaculture 229, 55–65. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0044-8486(03)00403-4

Treberg, J.R., Lewis, J.M., Driedzic, W.R., 2002. Comparison of liver enzymes in osmerid fishes: key differences between a glycerol accumulating species, rainbow smelt (*Osmerus mordax*), and a species that does not accumulate glycerol, capelin (*Mallotus villosus*). Comp. Biochem. Physiol. A. Mol. Integr. Physiol. 132, 433–438. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1095-6433(02)00083-1

Treberg, J.R., Martin, R.A., Driedzic, W.R., 2003. Muscle enzyme activities in a deepsea squaloid shark, *Centroscyllium fabricii*, compared with its shallow-living relative, *Squalus acanthias*. J. Exp. Zoolog. A Comp. Exp. Biol. 300A, 133–139. https://doi.org/10.1002/jez.a.10318

Tseng, Y.-C., Hwang, P.-P., 2008. Some insights into energy metabolism for osmoregulation in fish. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. Part C Toxicol. Pharmacol., "Diversity in a Changing Environment" - the International Conference of Comparative Physiology, Biochemistry and Toxicology and 6th Chinese Comparative Physiology Conference, 2007 148, 419–429. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpc.2008.04.009

Undercurrent News, 2020. Cooke's salmon mortalities in Newfoundland worse than originally reported [WWW Document]. Undercurr. News. URL https://www.undercurrentnews.com/2020/04/20/cookes-salmon-mortalities-in-newfoundland-worse-than-originally-reported/ (accessed 9.8.22).

Untergasser, A., Cutcutache, I., Koressaar, T., Ye, J., Faircloth, B.C., Remm, M., Rozen, S.G., 2012. Primer3—new capabilities and interfaces. Nucleic Acids Res. 40, e115. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gks596

U.S. Global Change Research Program, Wuebbles, D.J., Fahey, D.W., Hibbard, K.A., Dokken, D.J., Stewart, B.C., Maycock, T.K., 2017. Climate science special report: fourth national climate assessment, Volume I. U.S. Global Change Research Program. https://doi.org/10.7930/J0J964J6

Van Der Boon, J., Van Den Thillart, G.E.E.J.M., Addink, A.D.F., 1991. The effects of cortisol administration on intermediary metabolism in teleost fish. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. A Physiol. 100, 47–53. https://doi.org/10.1016/0300-9629(91)90182-C

Vandesompele, J., De Preter, K., Pattyn, F., Poppe, B., Van Roy, N., De Paepe, A., Speleman, F., 2002. Accurate normalization of real-time quantitative RT-PCR data by geometric averaging of multiple internal control genes. Genome Biol. 3, research0034.1. https://doi.org/10.1186/gb-2002-3-7-research0034

Vargas-Chacoff, L., Arjona, F.J., Ruiz-Jarabo, I., García-Lopez, A., Flik, G., Mancera, J.M., 2020. Water temperature affects osmoregulatory responses in gilthead sea bream (*Sparus aurata L.*). J. Therm. Biol. 88, 102526. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtherbio.2020.102526

Varnavsky, V.S., Sakamoto, T., Hirano, T., 1995. Effects of premature seawater transfer and fasting on plasma growth hormone levels of yearling coho salmon (*Oncorhynchus kisutch*) parr. Aquaculture 135, 141–145. https://doi.org/10.1016/0044-8486(95)01001-7

Vergauwen, L., Benoot, D., Blust, R., Knapen, D., 2010. Long-term warm or cold acclimation elicits a specific transcriptional response and affects energy metabolism in zebrafish. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. A. Mol. Integr. Physiol. 157, 149–157. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpa.2010.06.160

Virtanen, E., Oikari, A., 1984. Effects of low acclimation temperature on salinity adaptation in the presmolt salmon, *Salmo salar L*. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. A Physiol. 78, 387–392. https://doi.org/10.1016/0300-9629(84)90166-X

Wade, N.M., Clark, T.D., Maynard, B.T., Atherton, S., Wilkinson, R.J., Smullen, R.P., Taylor, R.S., 2019. Effects of an unprecedented summer heatwave on the growth performance, flesh colour and plasma biochemistry of marine cage-farmed Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*). J. Therm. Biol. 80, 64–74. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtherbio.2018.12.021

Wang, Y., Liu, Z., Li, Z., Shi, H., Kang, Y., Wang, J., Huang, J., Jiang, L., 2016. Effects of heat stress on respiratory burst, oxidative damage and *SERPINH1 (HSP47)* mRNA expression in rainbow trout *Oncorhynchus mykiss*. Fish Physiol. Biochem. 42, 701–710. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10695-015-0170-6

Weber, T.E., Bosworth, B.G., 2005. Effects of 28 day exposure to cold temperature or feed restriction on growth, body composition, and expression of genes related to muscle growth and metabolism in channel catfish. Aquaculture 246, 483–492. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2005.02.032

Wendelaar Bonga, S.E., 1997. The stress response in fish. Physiol. Rev. 77, 591–625. https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev.1997.77.3.591 Willick, F., 2019. Cold water kills 10,000 salmon at Cooke fish farm near Liverpool | CBC News [WWW Document]. CBC. URL https://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/nova-scotia/cooke-aquaculture-fish-kill-liverpool-1.5062704 (accessed 9.8.22).

Xu, K., Xu, H., Han, Z., 2018. Genome-wide identification of hsp70 genes in the large yellow croaker (*Larimichthys crocea*) and their regulated expression under cold and heat stress. Genes 9, 590. https://doi.org/10.3390/genes9120590

Xu, Q., Feng, C.Y., Hori, T.S., Plouffe, D.A., Buchanan, J.T., Rise, M.L., 2013. Familyspecific differences in growth rate and hepatic gene expression in juvenile triploid growth hormone (GH) transgenic Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*). Comp. Biochem. Physiol. Part D Genomics Proteomics 8, 317–333. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbd.2013.09.002

Zhong, P., Huang, H., 2017. Recent progress in the research of cold-inducible RNAbinding protein. Future Sci. OA 3, FSO246. https://doi.org/10.4155/fsoa-2017-0077

CHAPTER 3: 'Cold-Shock' Has Few Physiological Effects on Cultured Atlantic Salmon (*Salmo salar*) Acclimated to Low Temperatures

Abstract

With climate change, winter storms are predicted to increase in frequency and intensity, and result in rapid declines in water temperatures in sea-cages due to the mixing of deeper waters with surface waters in contact with cold air. Given that winter storms have been identified as a cause of mortality events in Atlantic salmon held in sea-cages, we acclimated fish for 5 weeks to 3°C and: 1) maintained one group of fish at 3°C (control group); and 2) exposed two other groups to a rapid decline in temperature from 3 to 0°C over 3h, and then held them at this temperature for 4 or 24 h (i.e., a 'cold-shock'). At the end of the experiment, the temperature for these latter groups was returned to 3°C, and the fish were recovered for 5 days. Plasma samples were taken before and at the end of the 'cold-shock' (i.e., while still at 0°C), and at 6, 24, 72 and 120 hours after the fish were returned to 3°C. A moderate stress response was measured after the 'cold-shock' with: cortisol levels transiently increasing to ~30 and ~25 ng ml⁻¹ in fish exposed to 0°C for 4 and 24h, respectively, within the first 24 hours after the 'cold-shock'; and glucose increasing from ~3.8 mM to 5.5-6.0 mM. There were no changes in plasma lactate, indices of tissue damage, or in plasma ion concentrations. However, gill Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase activity was ~5-fold higher in fish given a 'cold-shock' as compared to those maintained at 3°C. Finally, there were no mortalities within 120h of the end of the 'cold-shock'. Collectively, this information indicates that Atlantic salmon have the capacity to withstand rapid declines in seawater temperature close to 0°C, and suggests that such rapid drops in temperature are unlikely to be responsible for winter-related mortalities at salmon cagesites in Iceland and Canada.

3.1 Introduction

Temperature is the dominant abiotic factor affecting ectotherms like Atlantic salmon (Fry, 1958), and this species' performance in culture (i.e., growth, food conversion ratio etc.) is maximized between 12 and 19°C depending on life stage (Elliott and Elliott, 2010). The annual temperature range at sea-cages in Norway generally varies between 3 and 17°C (Oliveira et al., 2021), whereas these temperature ranges are 9 to 19°C in Chile (Narváez et al., 2019; Soto and Norambuena, 2004) and 6 to 23°C in Australia (Dempster et al., 2016; Wade et al., 2019). In contrast, winter temperatures in Iceland and Canada can decrease below 3°C for more than two months of the year, and approach 0°C [(Björnsson et al., 2007; Sandrelli et al., In Prep (Figure S1)]. Further, winter mortality events associated with harsh winter conditions have been reported in Atlantic Canada and Iceland in recent years (Ćirić, 2020; Huffman, 2019; Pennell, 2014; The Fish Site, 2022; Undercurrent News, 2020; Willick, 2019). Some of these events were associated with seawater temperatures where Atlantic salmon plasma could freeze (-0.5 to -0.8°C) (Fletcher et al., 1988; Huffman, 2019; Hurst, 2007; Pennell, 2014), however, this was not for all cases.

Surprisingly, there has been little effort to understand the impacts of cold temperatures ($< 5^{\circ}$ C) on salmon physiology, especially given that winter storms are predicted to increase in frequency and intensity (IPCC, 2022), and this will lead to episodes where deeper waters mix with surface waters in contact with cold air resulting in rapid declines in temperature (Szekeres et al., 2016). Further, although it is well established that rapid declines in temperature result in a stress response and possibly mortalities in salmonids (Donaldson et al., 2008; Reid et al., 2022), and that low

90

acclimation temperatures do have an impact on the physiology and stress response of fish (Barnes et al., 2014; Madaro et al., 2018; Porter et al., 2022; Tang et al., 2022), no study has taken a comprehensive look at how acute exposure to temperatures close to 0°C (as would be associated with winter storms at cage-sites) impacts the physiology of Atlantic salmon.

Thus, we acclimated Atlantic salmon post-smolts to 3°C for 5 weeks to mimic temperature conditions in Atlantic salmon sea-cages in the middle of winter [Figure S1; Björnsson et al., (2007); and 1) maintained one group of fish at 3°C (control group); and 2) exposed two other groups to a rapid decline in temperature from 3 to 0°C over 3h, and maintained them at this temperature for 4 or 24 h (i.e., a 'cold-shock'). At the end of the experiment, the temperature for these latter groups was restored to 3°C, and the fish were subsequently recovered for 5 days. The fish were sampled for plasma before the 'coldshock', at the end of the 'cold-shock', and at 6, 24, 72 and 120 h after their return to 3°C. The plasma was analyzed for biomarkers associated with stress (cortisol and glucose), ion levels and osmolality, and indices of tissue damage [i.e., lactate dehydrogenase (LDH); creatine kinase (CK); and aspartate aminotransferase (AST)]. In addition, gill Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase activity was measured prior to, and 72 h after exposure to 0°C for 24 h. The results from this study provide strong evidence that Atlantic salmon are not negatively impacted by such 'cold-shocks' (at least not directly), and suggest that such events are unlikely to be the primary reason for cage-site mortalities in winter in Iceland and Norway.
3.2 Materials and Methods

This study was approved by the Animal Care Committee of Memorial University of Newfoundland and Labrador (protocol [#]21-02-KG). All procedures conducted on the salmon were performed in accordance with the Canadian Council on Animal Care's Guidelines on the 'Care and Use of Fish in Research, Teaching and Testing' (Canadian Council on Animal Care, 2005).

3.2.1 Experimental animals

The Atlantic salmon used in these experiments were raised in a commercial hatchery in New Brunswick (Canada), and transferred as pre-smolts to the Dr. Joe Brown Aquatic Research Building (JBARB) (Department of Ocean Sciences, Memorial University of Newfoundland and Labrador) in January of 2021. These fish were initially held for 6 months in a 3000 l tank. This tank was supplied with flow-through seawater (32 ppt salinity) at ~6-8°C and ~100% air saturation. The photoperiod was 12hlight : 12h dark. The fish were fed to apparent satiation daily with 3 mm commercial pellets (Signature Salmon, Northeast Nutrition, Truro, NS, Canada).

3.2.2 Experimental protocol

The Atlantic salmon (225 fish; 343 ± 15 g) were separated into three 1000 l tanks (75 fish tank⁻¹; **Figure S2**) supplied with ~6°C flow-through seawater at ~100% air saturation at 7.5 l min⁻¹, and with a 12h light : 12h dark photoperiod. Feed was offered by hand to all tanks every other day until apparent satiation was achieved. The fish were

considered satiated when pellets began accumulating at the bottom of the tank. The fish were fasted 24 h before any sampling.

The fish were allowed three weeks of acclimation at ~6°C. The temperature was then decreased from 6 to 3°C over 10 days, and the fish were acclimated to this latter temperature for 5 weeks. Finally, the tanks were separated into three treatments: 1) a constant temperature of 3°C (control group); 2) holding at 3°C, followed by a 4 h exposure to 0°C, and a return to 3°C; and 3) '2', but with 24 h of exposure to 0°C. A diagram detailing the timing and duration of changes in water temperature in the three treatments is included as **Figure 3-1**. The two different 'cold-shock' durations (4 and 24 h) were performed at different times because of the limited cooling capacity of our glycol chiller (Technical Services, Memorial University). It could only maintain a temperature of 0°C in one tank at a time while keeping the others at a constant temperature of 3°C. When exposing the fish in one of the tanks to a 'cold-shock', the water temperature was decreased over 3 hours from 3 to 0°C, and then maintained at this temperature for 4 or 24 hours depending on the treatment. At the end of the 'cold-shock', the temperature in the tanks was returned to 3°C over 1 hour.

3.2.3 Sampling regime

Apparently healthy fish (behaving normally and with no external signs of any health or welfare related issue) [see Vadboncoeur et al. (Chapter 4; in Final Prep)] were haphazardly netted, and anesthetized in seawater containing 0.6 g 1⁻¹ MS-222 (Syndel Laboratories Ltd, Vancouver, BC, Canada). The first samples were taken at the end of the three weeks at 6°C, where 3 fish per tank had their first gill arch sampled (see details

93



Figure 3-1. Protocol used for the 'cold-shock' experiment. Fish in the three treatments were held in separate tanks. The 'X' represents time points at which fish (n=8) from all three treatments were sampled. The temperature was decreased from 3 to 0°C over 3 hours, and returned to 3°C after the 'cod-shock' in 1 h. The color shift from red to blue represent the change in temperature from $3^{\circ}C$ (red) to $\sim 0^{\circ}C$ (blue).

below) for Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase (NKA) activity. The first 3°C blood sample was taken (see details below) 2 days before the 'cold-shock' (these values referred to as 'initial'), with 3 fish sampled per tank (n=9). Blood samples were collected from eight fish per tank at the end of the 'cold-shock' while they were still at 0°C (either 4 or 24 hours after the start of the 'cold-shock'), and at 6, 24, 72 and 120 hours after being returned at 3°C. To obtain the eight control (time-matched) samples, four fish from the control tank (maintained at 3°C) were collected during each sampling of the 'cold-shock' treatments. All fish were measured for weight and fork length. Their blood was then sampled by caudal puncture prior to removal of their liver for the determination of hepatosomatic index (HSI).

Hepatosomatic index was calculated on every sampled fish according to the following formula:

 $HSI = 100 [W_L/W_t]$

where $W_t(g)$ was total body weight and W_L was liver weight.

3.2.4 Plasma and gill collection

The anesthetized fish were bled by caudal puncture within 3 min of netting. Blood samples were transferred to 2 ml Eppendorf[®] tubes containing 75 μ l of saline containing lithium heparin (Sigma Chemical Co., Oakville, On, Ca; 1000 units per ml), shaken by inversion, and then centrifuged at 1,100 *xg* for 1 minute. The plasma was then distributed into a number of Eppendorf[®] tubes for the various analyses, and immediately frozen in liquid nitrogen prior to beieng stored at -80°C for later analysis.

Additionally, gill tissue was collected from the fish sampled at 6°C, 3°C ('Initial') and at 3°C 72 h after the 24 h 'cold-shock'. The first gill arch on the left side of the fish

was taken out, placed whole in a 2 ml Eppendorf[®] tube, flash frozen in liquid nitrogen, and then stored at -80°C for later analysis.

3.2.5 Plasma analyses

3.2.5.1 Spectrophotometry

Samples were thawed and diluted to the desired concentration to allow for accurate readings. All enzyme activities were measured at 25°C using a SpectraMax M5e microplate reader (Molecular Devices, Sunnyvale, CA, USA). These assays were developed for this experiment using established protocols on human plasma (Bergmeyer et al., 1978), fish plasma (Casillas et al., 1982), fish liver (Treberg et al., 2002) and fish muscle (Treberg et al., 2003). All chemicals were purchased from Sigma Aldrich (Oakville, OB, Canada) unless otherwise stated.

Assay conditions were as follows:

Aspartate aminotransferase (AST; E.C. 2.6.1.1). 50 mM imidazole (pH 7.4), 200 mM aspartate, 0.2 mM NADH, 0.05 mM pyridoxal–5–phosphate and 14.5 U/ml malate dehydrogenase. The reaction was initiated with 7.0 mM α -ketoglutarate.

Lactate dehydrogenase (LDH; E.C. 1.1.1.27). 50 mM imidazole (pH 7.4) and 0.2 mM NADH. The reaction was initiated by the addition of 1 mM of pyruvate.

Creatine kinase (CK; E.C. 2.7.3.2). 50 mM Imidazole (pH 7.4), 5.0 mM MgCl₂, 2 mM ADP, 0.8 mM NADP, 5 mM glucose, 10 mM AMP, 2 U/ml hexokinase, 2 U/ml glucose–6–phosphate dehydrogenase, and 10 μ M P1,P5-Di(adenosine-5'-pentaphosphate). The reaction was initiated by the addition of 50 mM of phosphocreatine.

Glucose. The sample was deproteinized in 1:4 0.6% Protocatechuic acid. 250 mM Imidazole (pH 7.8), 5 mM MgSO₄, 10 mM ATP, 0.8 mM NADP⁺ and 10 U/ml glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase. The reaction was initiated by the addition of 10 U/ml hexokinase.

Lactate. The sample was deproteinized in 1:4 0.6% Protocatechuic acid. 200 mM glycine buffer solution and 25 mM NAD. The reaction was initiated by the addition of 400 U/ml of lactate dehydrogenase.

Cortisol levels in the plasma were measured in duplicate using an enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) kit (NEOGEN Corp. Lexington, KY, USA).

3.2.5.2 Ion measurements

Plasma sodium (Na⁺) and potassium (K⁺) plasma levels were analyzed using a PFP7 Flame Photometer (Jenway, Stone, Staffordshire, UK) following the manufacturer's methods for plasma analysis. Chloride (Cl⁻) and osmolality were measured according to manufacturer instructions using a ChloroChek Chloridometer (model 3400) and a VAPRO Vapor Pressure Osmometer (model 5600; ELITech Group, Logan, UT), respectively.

3.2.6 Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase activity

Gill Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase (NKA) activity was measured as described in McCormick (1993). SEID buffer (150 mM sucrose, 10 mM EDTA, 50 mM imidazole, 0.1% sodium deoxycholate, pH 7.3), Salt mix (105 mM NaCl, 21 mM KCl, 5.2 mM MgCl₂(hex), 50 mM imidazole, 5 mM sodium azide, pH 7.5) and Imidazole buffer (50 mM imidazole, pH 7.5) were prepared in advance and stored at 4°C for up to 1 month. pH was adjusted using 0.1 N HCl. On the day of assay, assay solutions were prepared as follows: ATPase mix

[3.1 mM ATP, 2.4 mM phosphoenolpyruvate (PEP), 0.21 mM NADH, excess (10-17 units ml⁻¹) pyruvate kinase (PK), excess (~61 units ml⁻¹) lactate dehydrogenase (LK), dissolved in Salt mix], and Ouabain (OB) solution (26.7 mM ouabain, dissolved in imidazole buffer at 85°C then kept in the dark on ice).

Gill lamellae (mean: 0.054 ± 0.0003 g) were homogenised in 1 ml of SEID buffer at 4°C using a Bullet Blender Storm 24 (Next Advance, Troy, NY, USA) and Precellys ceramic (zirconium oxide) beads (Bertin Corp., Rockville, MD, USA). Homogenates were spun for 30 seconds (at 5000 *xg* at 4°C), and the supernatant retained for use in the assay. On ice, 10 µl of sample was added to each of 6 wells of a microplate (Corning, costar 9017). Two hundred µl of control mix (comprised of: 190.2 µl of ATPase mix and 9.8 µl of imidazole buffer) was added to each of the first three wells, and 200 µl of NKA mix (190.2 µl of ATPase mix, 9.8 µl of OB solution) was added to wells 4-6. A kinetic assay was then run on a SpectraMAX 190 microplate spectrophotometer with SoftMax Pro software (Molecular Devices, San Jose, CA, USA) at 340 nm at 25°C for 45-60 minutes until the reaction was finished.

An ADP standard curve was used to convert OD to rate of ADP production, and the difference between the 'Control' and NKA mix OD values was taken as NKA activity. NKA activity was standardized per mg of protein. Protein concentrations were determined separately using a Bradford Assay (Bradford, 1976) and bovine serum albumin standards. All biochemical reagents for the measurement of NKA activity were obtained from Sigma Aldrich.

3.2.7 Statistical analyses

All data are reported as means \pm standard error of the mean (s.e.m.). The data were analyzed using Rstudio Version 1.4.1106 R 4.0.5 (R Core Team, 2020, <u>https://www.rproject.org/</u>). A Bonferroni outlier test was used to identify outliers before statistical analysis. Parameters were analysed by fitting linear models using the *lm* function. Statistical models were computed with 'treatment' and 'sampling' as main effects. Each model fit was graphically examined (i.e., using histograms and qqplots) and residuals tested for normality (Shapiro–Wilk, p<0.05). Non-normally distributed data were powertransformed using a Box-Cox transformation (Atkinson et al., 2021) using the *boxcox* function implemented in the *EnvStats* (version 2.7.0) package in R (Millard, 2017) so that the data met the assumption of normality. Finally, when the model identified significant effects, least-squares means post-hoc tests with Bonferroni's p-value correction for multiple comparisons [using the *lsmeans* function in R (Lenth, 2016)] were used to identify significant differences between treatments at a particular sampling point, and between sampling points within a treatment.

3.3 Results

3.3.1 Indices of stress and tissue damage

Plasma cortisol levels were 5 ± 2 ng ml⁻¹ in fish at 3°C before the 'cold-shock' (**Figure 3-2**). Control fish had stable cortisol levels over the course of the experiment. The fish exposed to a 4 h 'cold-shock' had significantly higher levels of plasma cortisol at 24h post-exposure (31 ± 11 ng ml⁻¹) as compared to initial values. In contrast, the 24h 'cold-shock' resulted in a ~4-fold increase in plasma cortisol levels by the end of the period of exposure to 0°C (23 ± 7 ng ml⁻¹, **Figure 3-2**). Nevertheless, these increases in plasma



Figure 3-2. Plasma cortisol, glucose and lactate concentrations prior to the 'cold-shock' ('initial'), at the end of the period of exposure to 0°C (0h), and at 6, 24, 72 and 120 hours after water temperature was increased back to 3°C. Control fish were held at a constant temperature of 3°C, whereas the other groups were exposed to 0°C for 4 or 24 h). Lower and upper box boundaries indicate the 25^{th} and 75^{th} quartiles, respectively, the line inside the box is the median value, and the vertical lines delimit the 10^{th} and 90^{th} percentiles, respectively. Filled circles show data points falling outside the 10^{th} and 90^{th} percentiles. * indicates a significant difference (p < 0.05) between treatments at a specific sampling point. Dissimilar letters indicate a significant difference between samplings within a treatment (Control, 4h 'cold-shock', 24h 'cold-shock'; n=8).

cortisol were short-lived, and levels in both experimental groups were similar to those in control fish by 72h post-exposure. Glucose levels in the control group were also stable for the duration of the experiment ($\sim 3.2 - 4.5$ mM). The fish exposed to 'cold-shock' for 4 hours had significantly higher glucose levels (5.5 ± 0.4 mM) as compared to control fish and pre-stress levels $(3.8 \pm 0.3 \text{ mM})$ at 6h and 72h post-stress, whereas those exposed to the 24h 'cold-shock' had significantly higher glucose levels at 72h (5.4 ± 0.3 mM) and 120h (6.2 \pm 0.4 mM) as compared to pre-stress levels. Their glucose levels were also significantly higher than control values at the end of the 'cold-shock' (0h) and higher than the controls and salmon exposed to 4h of 'cold-shock' at 120h post-stress (Figure 3-2). There were no differences in plasma lactate levels between the treatments or sampling points, with levels ranging between 0.08 ± 0.01 mM to 0.13 ± 0.2 mM (Figure 3-2). There were also no significant differences in the plasma levels of enzymes indicative of tissue damage (AST, CK and LDH) between the treatments at any sampling point. Values ranged from ~40 to 65 U ml⁻¹ for AST, ~420 to 600 U ml⁻¹ for CK and ~90 to 190 U ml⁻¹ for LDH (Figure 3-3).

3.3.2 Plasma ion levels, osmolality and Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase activity

No changes in plasma [Cl⁻], [K⁺] or [Na⁺] were recorded between the groups or sampling points, with mean plasma levels for these ions of 139 ± 9 mM, 3.3 ± 0.3 mM and 196 ± 12 mM, respectively (**Figure 3-4**). Osmolality prior to the 'cold-shock' was 337 ± 6 mOsm kg⁻¹, and did increase when fish were exposed to 0°C. In fish exposed to the 4h 'cold-shock', osmolality was higher at 24h post-exposure (368 ± 13 mOsm kg⁻¹) as compared to initial values, and remained elevated until the experiment was completed (values 378 ± 13 and 370 ± 4.7 mOsm kg⁻¹ at 72 and 120h after temperature was returned



Figure 3-3. Plasma aspartate aminotransferase (AST), creatine kinase (CK) and lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) activity prior to the 'cold-shock' ('initial)', at the end of the period of exposure to 0°C (0h), and at 6, 24, 72 and 120 hours after water temperature was increased back to 3°C. Control fish were held at a constant temperature of 3°C, whereas the other groups were exposed to 0°C for 4 or 24h). Lower and upper box boundaries indicate the 25th and 75th quartiles, respectively, the line inside the box is the median value, and the vertical lines delimit 'he 10th and 90th percentiles, respectively. Filled circles show data points falling outside the 10th and 90th percentiles. Dissimilar letters indicate a significant difference (p < 0.05) between samplings within a treatment (Control, 4h 'cold-shock', 24h 'cold-shock'; n=8).



Figure 3-4. Plasma chloride (Cl⁻), potassium (K⁺) and sodium (Na⁺) levels, and plasma osmolality, prior to the 'cold-shock' ('initial'), at the end of the period of exposure to 0°C (0h), and at 6, 24, 72 and 120 hours after water temperature was increased back to 3°C. Control fish were held at a constant temperature of 3°C, whereas the other groups were exposed to 0°C for4 or 24 h). Lower and upper box boundaries indicate the 25th and 75th quartiles, respectively, the line inside the box is the median value, and the vertical lines delimit the 10th and 90th percentiles, respectively. Filled circles show data points falling outside the 10th and 90th percentiles. * indicates a significant difference (p < 0.05) between treatments in a sampling point. Dissimilar letters indicate a significant difference between samplings within a treatment (Control, 4h 'cold-shock', 24h 'cold-shock'; n=8).

to 3°C). For fish exposed to 0°C for 24h, osmolality was not elevated until 120h after the 'cold-shock' as compared to initial levels (the value at this time point $368 \pm 6.2 \text{ mOsm kg}^{-1}$). Nevertheless, none of these values were increased as compared to their time-matched controls; the levels in these fish were also higher at the end of the experiment. (**Figure 3-4**). There was no difference in NKA activity in the gill homogenates of salmon acclimated to 6°C and 3°C. However, the gill NKA activity of salmon in the 24h 'cold-shock' treatment was significantly higher (by ~5-fold) at the 72h post-exposure sampling point than measured in fish prior to being lowered to 0°C (**Figure 3-5**).



Figure 3-5. Box-plots of Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase activity in gill homogenates from salmon acclimated to 6°C (n=9), held at 3°C for 5 weeks (n=9), and exposed to a 24 h 'cold-shock' followed by 72 h of recovery at 3°C (n=7). Lower and upper box boundaries indicate the 25th and 75th quartiles, respectively, the line inside the box is the median value, and the vertical lines delimit the 10th and 90th percentiles, respectively. Filled circles show data points falling outside the 10th and 90th percentiles. Dissimilar letters indicate a significant difference (p< 0.05) between samplings.

3.4 Discussion

Winter storms are expected to increase in frequency and intensity with climate change (IPCC, 2022), and this could exacerbate the fish welfare/health and mortality issues that have been observed over the past decade in Atlantic Canada and Iceland during the winter months (CBC News, 2020; Ćirić, 2020; Pennell, 2014; The Fish Site, 2022; Undercurrent News, 2020; Willick, 2019). The current study shows that while Atlantic salmon experience a moderate stress response during a 24 h 'cold-shock', and after being returned to 3°C following both 4 and 24 h 'cold-shocks', there was no evidence of tissue damage or an ionoregulatory disturbance, and there we no mortalities. Thus, rapid declines in temperature to 0°C are unlikely to be associated with the loss of salmon during winter storms in these regions.

3.4.1 Indices of stress and tissue damage

The two exposures to 0°C resulted in a moderate stress response (cortisol ~25-30 ng ml⁻¹) in the Atlantic salmon used in this study that lasted up to 24 hours after the fish were moved back to 3°C (**Figure 3-2**). When Atlantic salmon are acutely stressed, cortisol levels reach 100-200 ng ml⁻¹ (Barton et al., 1986, 1988; Carey and McCormick, 1998; Iversen et al., 1998). Interestingly, a rapid transfer from 13 to 10°C (the same temperature difference as in the current study) elicited a stronger cortisol response (to ~100 ng ml⁻¹) in post-smolt Atlantic salmon 1 hour post-transfer (Tang et al., 2022). Long acclimation periods at low temperature can lead to a decrease in the amplitude of the stress response through differential expression of corticoid receptors and decreases in plasma cortisol release in Atlantic salmon (Madaro et al., 2018; Tang et al., 2022). It is possible that a 3°C

drop in temperature is not that stressful for Atlantic salmon that are already acclimated to cold temperatures. However, there are no similar studies with which to compare our results, and thus, confirmation of this hypothesis would require additional research.

Glucose is an important metabolite and is released into the plasma when fish are exposed to acute stress (Jentoft et al., 2005; Rotllant and Tort, 1997). The initial increases in plasma glucose following the 'cold-shock' (i.e., at 0 and 24h ; **Figure 3-2**) were likely associated with the concomitant increase in plasma cortisol as this hormone is, in part, a glucocorticoid that stimulates the release of glucose through activation of gluconeogenesis and glycogenolysis (Barton et al., 1986; Butler, 1968; Faught and Vijayan, 2016; Wendelaar Bonga, 1997). A second increase in plasma glucose levels was observed in the fish exposed to 0°C for 4 and 24h at 72 h and 120 h following their return to 3°C, respectively. The increases in cortisol were similar to the magnitude of those measured in the first 24h after the 'cold-shock'. The reason(s) for this later increase in circulating glucose levels is not known as plasma cortisol was down to baseline levels during this period. (**Figure 3-2**). However, these results suggest that 'cold-shock' may be more than just an acute stressor, and that the duration of the fish's elevated glucose levels may depend on the length of exposure to 0°C.

Plasma lactate is used as a biomarker of anaerobic metabolism (Hvas and Oppedal, 2019; Jones, 1982). Increases in plasma lactate following a 'cold-shock' have been measured in salmonids originally held at preferred temperatures. Brown trout (*Salmo trutta*) exposed to 0.2° C for 10 minutes and recovered in 14°C water had maximum plasma lactate levels of 60 – 90 mM between 10 and 60 minutes and values that were elevated as compared to control fish for up to 10 hours post-exposure (Hyvärinen et al.,

2004). When exposed to a decrease in temperature from 16 to either 4 or 0°C for 5 or 1h, plasma lactate was increased (by 20-fold, to 11 mM) 1 hour post-shock only for Atlantic salmon exposed to a temperature to 0°C for 1h (Foss et al., 2012). In contrast, Porter et al. (2022) reported that plasma lactate was not elevated in Atlantic salmon 24 h after salmon were exposed to a temperature decrease from 8 to 1°C over 7h. The lack of an increase in plasma lactate in salmonids acclimated to cold temperatures (e.g., 3°C) after a 'cold-shock' to temperatures near 0°C may be due to the fish's low metabolic rate at this temperature (Porter et al., 2022).

Plasma enzymes are used as indices of cellular damage or apoptosis in general, or in specific tissues (Boyd, 1983). The low and steady plasma enzyme levels in this study (**Figure 3-3**) suggest that no cellular/tissue damage occurred during the 0°C exposure or during the salmon's subsequent recovery at 3°C. This data is hard to compare with the literature as 'cold-shock' experiments usually have protocols with larger temperature decreases than the one used here. However, there is some data. Orange-spotted grouper (*Epinephelus* coioid) had higher plasma AST levels when exposed to a 9°C (1.25-fold increase) and 12°C (2-fold increase) 'cold-shock' at 24h post-shock (Sun et al., 2019). Nile tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*) exposed to acute decreases in temperature of 2, 4, 8 and 12°C only had increased plasma levels of alanine aminotransferase (ALT; ~5-fold) at 48 h and AST (~4-fold) at 72 h after the largest temperature drop (12°C) (Panase et al., 2018). Collectively, this data suggests that tissue damage (as assessed by increases in plasma enzyme activity) only occurs when the drop in temperature is large. However, this would need to be confirmed by additional experiments.

3.4.2 Plasma ion levels, osmolality and Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase activity

'Cold-shocks' are known to challenge the osmoregulatory capacity of fishes, with plasma osmolality generally trending towards environmental values (Donaldson et al., 2008). The fish in the current experiment did not experience an osmoregulatory disturbance associated with the imposed 3° C 'cold-shock' (3 – 0°C; Figure 3-4). There were no changes in plasma [Cl⁻], $[Na^+]$ or $[K^+]$, and plasma osmolality was never different from that of the control group (Figure 3-4). Similar to the data for lactate mentioned above, Foss et al. (2012) only reported increased plasma Na⁺ at 6 h post-shock in Atlantic salmon exposed to the largest (and shortest) temperature decrease (16°C in 1h). The latter data suggest that the 'cold-shock' in our experiment was not large or long enough to compromise the salmon's osmoregulatory functions. This may be because coldacclimation results in compensatory responses that allow the fish to osmoregulate effectively at cold temperatures. Indeed, killifish (Fundulus heteroclitus) acclimated for 24 days to 5°C are able to limit the passive influx of ions by remodelling their gill structure and increasing the level of polyunsaturated fatty acids in their gill cell membranes, all the while reducing energy demand (Barnes et al., 2014). The Atlantic salmon has also been shown to increase the level of polyunsaturated fatty acids in the gills with decreasing temperature (Liu et al., 2018). Similar adaptations after 5 weeks at 3°C could be the reason for the stable ion levels measured during and after the 'cold-shock' in the current experiment. Increasing the level of polyunsaturated fatty acids, and other 'remodelling' of the gills, would reduce the gill's permeability to certain ions as described for killifish above (Barnes et al., 2014). Furthermore, the fish were held at their previous acclimation temperature after the 'cold-shock', and this may not have required the fish to make any physiological adjustments to maintain plasma ion levels at appropriate levels. However, the reported large increase in gill NKA activity following the 'cold-shock' (Figure 3-5) suggests that this protein might have played a role in limiting the increase in plasma ions as a consequence of 'cold-shock'. NKA in the gills of fish in seawater works in maintaining an electrochemical gradient that is responsible for the secretion of NaCl (Hwang and Lin, 2013). Gill NKA activity is known to increase with cold-acclimation. Gilthead sea bream had higher gill NKA activity at 12°C as compared to 19 and 26°C after 35 days of acclimation (Vargas-Chacoff et al., 2020). Staurnes et al. (1994) measured a similar response in the activity of Atlantic cod (*Gadus morhua*) gill NKA when this species was exposed to a rapid change in temperature from 8 to 1°C and after 17 days of acclimation to 1°C. Finally, low acclimation temperatures led to increased NKA activity in the gill tissue of fathead minnow (*Pimephales promelas;* Monroe et al., 2019) and increased NKA gene expression in the gills of European seabass (*Dicentrarchus labrax*; Islam et al., 2021).

A rapid response of NKA activity to a 'cold-shock' has not been described previously. However, cortisol is a known stimulator of NKA activity and transcription (McCormick et al., 2008), and thus, it could have played a role in the large increase in NKA measured in the current experiment at 72 h post-shock. Similarly, spottedtail goby (*Synechogobius ommaturus*) exposed to an acute increase in salinity had increased gill NKA activity that peaked after 12h and then settled to a new equilibrium at 96 h (Shui et al., 2018). Rapid changes in NKA activity have also been measured after 'heat-shock'. Blue green damselfish (*Chromis viridis*) experienced a 50% decrease in gill NKA activity 12 h after a 4°C 'heat-shock' (Tang et al., 2014). Rapid changes in the activity of NKA have been linked to a number of metabolites and hormones (e.g., cortisol), and the recruitment of NKA to the cellular membrane through endosomic transport (Blanco and Mercer, 1998; Carranza et al., 1998; Chew et al., 2014; McCormick et al., 2008; Tipsmark and Madsen, 2001).

3.4.3 Comparisons between 'cold-shock' studies

It is difficult to compare the physiological response to 'cold-shock' between different studies. 'Cold-shock' is an investigational tool that is not standardized and it has been performed under a variety of protocols (Donaldson et al., 2008; Reid et al., 2022). Many parameters need to be controlled, that can have significant impacts on the measured parameters. The amplitude of the decrease in temperature used is quite variable. For example, Ji et al. (2016) exposed turbot (Scophthalmus maximus) to a decrease in temperature of 17°C when examining this species' stress response, while Tang et al. (2022) used a 3°C decrease in temperature to examine the stress response of Atlantic salmon. The rate of temperature change also varies widely between studies. Some investigators transfer fish directly from one temperature to another (Hyvärinen et al., 2004; Inoue et al., 2008), while others take multiple hours/days to achieve the same temperature change (Islam et al., 2021; Panase et al., 2018). Finally, the duration and temperature of acclimation are also important to consider as they can lead to specific physiological responses (Barnes et al., 2014; Madaro et al., 2018; Tang et al., 2022). To date 'cold-shock' protocols have generally been used to emulate real-world events, and while not standardized to a specific physiological outcome [e.g., as the loss of equilibrium in critical thermal maximum (CT_{Max}) and minimum (CT_{Min}) tests], they are clearly relevant and important. In fact, keeping such studies relevant to culture or wild conditions should be the goal/aim of such studies, if we are to avoid the problems that have occurred in research aimed at understanding the physiology of fish, and their survival, at high temperatures (Lefevre et al., 2021; Ørsted et al., 2022). With climate change, there has been an explosion of researchers performing upper thermal tolerance tests. They often use protocols (e.g., Casselman et al., 2012) with questionable relevance to a fish in its natural environment or in aquaculture for ease of use (Desforges et al., 2021; Ørsted et al., 2022; Sandrelli and Gamperl, 2022). These studies have sometimes done more to 'muddy the waters' than to advance the field and provide valuable information of use to fisheries managers, aquaculture personnel and/or conservation biologists (Lefevre et al., 2021).

3.5 Conclusion

In our experiment, Atlantic salmon acclimated to 3° C (a 'cold' temperature for this species) and rapidly exposed to 0° C showed signs of moderate stress (increased plasma glucose levels and cortisol values of $\sim 25 - 35$ ng ml⁻¹ post-exposure). However, there were no effects of this protocol on plasma lactate, ion concentrations (Cl⁻, Na⁺ and K) or osmolality, and the only other substantive change was an increase in NKA activity following the 0°C exposure. This latter physiological change can be seen as an adaptive response, and given that neither of the 'cold-shock' protocols resulted in any mortality, 'cold-shock' is unlikely to be a major contributor to winter-related mortalities at salmon cage-sites in Atlantic Canada, Iceland and northern regions of Norway where cold temperatures are experienced.

During the acclimation period to 3°C in this experiment, a number of moribund fish had to be removed. These fish had ulcers to the head and jaw, and when examined had large, pale and friable livers, higher plasma AST levels than 'asymtomatic fish', and signs of issues with ionoregulation (see Chapter 4). The latter symptoms are very similar to a condition called 'Winter Syndrome' or 'Winter Disease' in fish such as sea bream and yellow drum [Sparus aurata, and Nibea albiflora; respectively; Ibarz et al., 2010; Song et al., 2019)], whereas the ulcers of the jaw/head are characteristic of an opportunistic infection such as *Tenacibaculum* sp. (tenacibaculosis) which occurs at cold temperatures (Olsen et al., 2011; Spilsberg et al., 2022). It is very likely that these two conditions, in combination, are largely responsible for fish mortality events at cage-sites that are not associated with 'winter chill' [where temperatures fall below the freezing point of salmon blood, -0.5 to -0.8 (Fletcher et al., 1988; Hurst, 2007)]. Additional research is currently underway to further understand whether 'Winter Syndrome' does occur in Atlantic salmon at cold temperatures, to understand its aetiology, and its relationship to opportunistic pathogenic infections and salmon mortality.

3.6 References

Atkinson, A.C., Riani, M., Corbellini, A., 2021. The box–cox transformation: review and extensions. Stat. Sci. 36, 239–255. https://doi.org/10.1214/20-STS778

Barnes, K.R., Cozzi, R.R.F., Robertson, G., Marshall, W.S., 2014. Cold acclimation of NaCl secretion in a eurythermic teleost: mitochondrial function and gill remodeling. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. A. Mol. Integr. Physiol. 168, 50–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpa.2013.11.004

Barton, B., Schreck, C., Barton, L., 1986. Effects of chronic cortisol administration and daily acute stress on growth, physiological conditions, and stress responses in juvenile rainbow trout. Dis. Aquat. Organ. 2, 173–185. https://doi.org/10.3354/dao002173

Barton, B.A., Schreck, C.B., Fowler, L.G., 1988. Fasting and diet content affect stressinduced changes in plasma glucose and cortisol in juvenile Chinook salmon. Progress. Fish-Cult. 50, 16–22. https://doi.org/10.1577/1548-8640(1988)050<0016:FADCAS>2.3.CO;2

Bergmeyer, H.U., Schelbe, P., Wilhelm, A., 1978. Optimization of methods for aspartate aminotransferase and alanine aminotransferase 16. https://doi.org/10.1093/clinchem/24.1.58

Björnsson, B., Steinarsson, A., Árnason, T., 2007. Growth model for Atlantic cod (*Gadus morhua*): Effects of temperature and body weight on growth rate. Aquaculture 271, 216–226. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2007.06.026

Blanco, G., Mercer, R.W., 1998. Isozymes of the Na-K-ATPase: heterogeneity in structure, diversity in function. Am. J. Physiol.-Ren. Physiol. 275, F633–F650. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajprenal.1998.275.5.F633

Boyd, J. w., 1983. The mechanisms relating to increases in plasma enzymes and isoenzymes in diseases of animals. Vet. Clin. Pathol. 12, 9–24. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1939-165X.1983.tb00609.x

Bradford, M.M., 1976. A rapid and sensitive method for the quantitation of microgram quantities of protein utilizing the principle of protein-dye binding. Anal. Biochem. 72, 248–254. https://doi.org/10.1016/0003-2697(76)90527-3

Butler, D.G., 1968. Hormonal control of gluconeogenesis in the North American eel (*Anguilla rostrata*). Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 10, 85–91. https://doi.org/10.1016/0016-6480(68)90012-9

Canadian Council on Animal Care, 2005. Guidelines on the care and use of fish in research, teaching and testing. Canadian Council on Animal Care, Ottawa.

Carey, J.B., McCormick, S.D., 1998. Atlantic salmon smolts are more responsive to an acute handling and confinement stress than parr. Aquaculture 168, 237–253. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0044-8486(98)00352-4

Carranza, M.L., Rousselot, M., Chibalin, A.V., Bertorello, A.M., Favre, H., Féraille, E., 1998. Protein kinase A induces recruitment of active Na+,K+-ATPase units to the plasma membrane of rat proximal convoluted tubule cells. J. Physiol. 511, 235–243. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7793.1998.235bi.x

Casillas, E., Sundquist, J., Ames, W.E., 1982. Optimization of assay conditions for, and the selected tissue distribution of, alanine aminotransferase and aspartate aminotransferase of English sole, *Parophrys vetulus* Girard. J. Fish Biol. 21, 197–204. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1095-8649.1982.tb03999.x

Casselman, M.T., Anttila, K., Farrell, A.P., 2012. Using maximum heart rate as a rapid screening tool to determine optimum temperature for aerobic scope in Pacific salmon Oncorhynchus spp. J. Fish Biol. 80, 358–377. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1095-8649.2011.03182.x

CBC News, 2020. Harsh weather linked to die-off at Newfoundland salmon farm | CBC News [WWW Document]. CBC. URL https://www.cbc.ca/news/anada/newfoundland-labrador/another-salmon-die-off-1.5483364 (accessed 10.30.20).

Chew, S.F., Hiong, K.C., Lam, S.P., Ong, S.W., Wee, W.L., Wong, W.P., Ip, Y.K., 2014. Functional roles of Na+/K+-ATPase in active ammonia excretion and seawater acclimation in the giant mudskipper, *Periophthalmodon schlosseri*. Front. Physiol. 5. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2014.00158

Ćirić, J., 2020. 500 tonnes of salmon die in arnarlax fish farms [WWW Document]. Icel. Rev. URL https://www.icelandreview.com/business/500-tonnes-of-salmon-die-inarnarlax-fish-farms/ (accessed 2.21.21).

Dempster, T., Wright, D., Oppedal, F., Fisheries Research and Development Corporation, 2016. Identifying the nature, extent and duration of critical production periods for Atlantic salmon in Macquarie Harbour, Tasmania, during summer. Univ. Melb. 21.

Desforges, J.E., Birnie-Gauvin, K., Aarestrup, K., Cooke, S.J., 2021. Upper thermal tolerance indicated by Ctmax fails to predict migration strategy and timing, growth, and predation vulnerability in juvenile brown trout (*Salmo trutta*). Physiol. Biochem. Zool. 94, 215–227. https://doi.org/10.1086/714636

Donaldson, M.R., Cooke, S.J., Patterson, D.A., Macdonald, J.S., 2008. Cold shock and fish. J. Fish Biol. 73, 1491–1530. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1095-8649.2008.02061.x

Elliott, J.M., Elliott, J.A., 2010. Temperature requirements of Atlantic salmon *Salmo salar*, brown trout *Salmo trutta* and Arctic charr *Salvelinus alpinus*: predicting the effects of climate change. J. Fish Biol. 77, 1793–1817. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1095-8649.2010.02762.x

Faught, E., Vijayan, M.M., 2016. Mechanisms of cortisol action in fish hepatocytes. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. B Biochem. Mol. Biol., Dr. Thomas W. Moon 199, 136–145. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpb.2016.06.012

Fletcher, G.L., Kao, M.H., Dempson, J.B., 1988. Lethal freezing temperatures of Arctic char and other salmonids in the presence of ice. Aquaculture 71, 369–378. https://doi.org/10.1016/0044-8486(88)90206-2

Foss, A., Grimsbø, E., Vikingstad, E., Nortvedt, R., Slinde, E., Roth, B., 2012. Live chilling of Atlantic salmon: physiological response to handling and temperature decrease on welfare. Fish Physiol. Biochem. 38, 565–571. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10695-011-9536-6

Fry, F.E.J., 1958. Temperature Compensation. Annu. Rev. Physiol. 20, 207–224. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ph.20.030158.001231

Huffman, J., 2019. Cooke experiences 'super chill' event off Nova Scotia coast [WWWDocument].Atl.SalmonFed.URLhttps://www.asf.ca/news-and-magazine/salmon-news/cooke-experiences-super-chill-event-off-nova-scotia-coast (accessed 9.8.22).

Hurst, T.P., 2007. Causes and consequences of winter mortality in fishes. J. Fish Biol. 71, 315–345. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1095-8649.2007.01596.x

Hvas, M., Oppedal, F., 2019. Physiological responses of farmed Atlantic salmon and two cohabitant species of cleaner fish to progressive hypoxia. Aquaculture 512, 734353. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2019.734353

Hwang, P.-P., Lin, L.-Y., 2013. Gill ionic transport, acid-base regulation, and nitrogen excretion, in: The Physiology of Fishes, Fourth Edition. Pp. 205–234.

Hyvärinen, P., Heinimaa, S., Rita, H., 2004. Effects of abrupt cold shock on stress responses and recovery in brown trout exhausted by swimming. J. Fish Biol. 64, 1015–1026. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1095-8649.2004.0367.x

Ibarz, A., Padrós, F., Gallardo, M.Á., Fernández-Borràs, J., Blasco, J., Tort, L., 2010. Low-temperature challenges to gilthead sea bream culture: review of cold-induced alterations and 'Winter Syndrome.' Rev. Fish Biol. Fish. 20, 539–556. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11160-010-9159-5 Inoue, L.A.K.A., Moraes, G., Iwama, G.K., Afonso, L.O.B., 2008. Physiological stress responses in the warm-water fish matrinxã (*Brycon amazonicus*) subjected to a sudden cold shock. Acta Amaz. 38, 603–609. https://doi.org/10.1590/S0044-59672008000400002

IPCC, 2022. Global Warming of 1.5°C: IPCC Special Report on impacts of global warming of 1.5°C above pre-industrial levels in context of strengthening response to climate change, sustainable development, and efforts to eradicate poverty, 1st ed. Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/9781009157940

Islam, M.J., Kunzmann, A., Slater, M.J., 2021. Extreme winter cold-induced osmoregulatory, metabolic, and physiological responses in European seabass (*Dicentrarchus labrax*) acclimatized at different salinities. Sci. Total Environ. 771, 145202. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.145202

Iversen, M., Finstad, B., Nilssen, K.J., 1998. Recovery from loading and transport stress in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.) smolts. Aquaculture 168, 387–394. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0044-8486(98)00364-0

Jentoft, S., Aastveit, A.H., Torjesen, P.A., Andersen, Ø., 2005. Effects of stress on growth, cortisol and glucose levels in non-domesticated Eurasian perch (*Perca fluviatilis*) and domesticated rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). Comp. Biochem. Physiol. A. Mol. Integr. Physiol. 141, 353–358. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpb.2005.06.006

Ji, L., Jiang, K., Liu, M., Wang, B., Han, L., Zhang, M., Wang, L., 2016. Low temperature stress on the hematological parameters and HSP gene expression in the turbot *Scophthalmus maximus*. Chin. J. Oceanol. Limnol. 34, 430–440. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00343-016-4367-z

Jones, D.R., 1982. Anaerobic exercise in teleost fish. Can. J. Zool. 60, 1131–1134. https://doi.org/10.1139/z82-157

Lefevre, S., Wang, T., McKenzie, D.J., 2021. The role of mechanistic physiology in investigating impacts of global warming on fishes. J. Exp. Biol. 224, jeb238840. https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.238840

Lenth, R. V, 2016. Least-squares means: the R package lsmeans. J Stat Sofw 69, 1–33.

Liu, C., Zhou, Y., Dong, K., Sun, D., Gao, Q., Dong, S., 2018. Differences in fatty acid composition of gill and liver phospholipids between Steelhead trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) and Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) under declining temperatures. Aquaculture 495, 815–822. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2018.06.045

Madaro, A., Folkedal, O., Maiolo, S., Alvanopoulou, M., Olsen, R.E., 2018. Effects of acclimation temperature on cortisol and oxygen consumption in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) post-smolt exposed to acute stress. Aquaculture 497, 331–335. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2018.07.056 McCormick, S.D., 1993. Methods for nonlethal gill biopsy and measurement of Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 50, 656–658. https://doi.org/10.1139/f93-075

McCormick, S.D., Regish, A., O'Dea, M.F., Shrimpton, J.M., 2008. Are we missing a mineralocorticoid in teleost fish? Effects of cortisol, deoxycorticosterone and aldosterone on osmoregulation, gill Na+,K+-ATPase activity and isoform mRNA levels in Atlantic salmon. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 157, 35–40. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygcen.2008.03.024

Millard, S.P., 2017. EnvStats: an R package for environmental statistics. Springer, New York.

Monroe, I., Wentworth, S., Thede, K., Aravindabose, V., Garvin, J., Packer, R.K., 2019. Activity changes in gill ion transporter enzymes in response to salinity and temperature in fathead minnows (*Pimephales promelas*). Comp. Biochem. Physiol. A. Mol. Integr. Physiol. 228, 29–34. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpa.2018.10.018

Narváez, D.A., Vargas, C.A., Cuevas, L.A., García-Loyola, S.A., Lara, C., Segura, C., Tapia, F.J., Broitman, B.R., 2019. Dominant scales of subtidal variability in coastal hydrography of the Northern Chilean Patagonia. J. Mar. Syst. 193, 59–73. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmarsys.2018.12.008

Oliveira, V.H.S., Dean, K.R., Qviller, L., Kirkeby, C., Bang Jensen, B., 2021. Factors associated with baseline mortality in Norwegian Atlantic salmon farming. Sci. Rep. 11, 14702. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-93874-6

Olsen, A., Nilsen, H., Sandlund, N., Mikkelsen, H., Sørum, H., Colquhoun, D., 2011. Tenacibaculum sp. Associated with winter ulcers in sea-reared Atlantic salmon *Salmo salar*. Dis. Aquat. Organ. 94, 189–199. https://doi.org/10.3354/dao02324

Ørsted, M., Jørgensen, L.B., Overgaard, J., 2022. Finding the right thermal limit: a framework to reconcile ecological, physiological and methodological aspects of Ctmax in ectotherms. J. Exp. Biol. 225, jeb244514. https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.244514

Panase, P., Saenphet, S., Saenphet, K., 2018. Biochemical and physiological responses of Nile tilapia *Oreochromis niloticus* Lin subjected to cold shock of water temperature. Aquac. Rep. 11, 17–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aqrep.2018.05.005

Pennell, J., 2014. Cold winter killing salmon at fish farms | SaltWire [WWW Document]. URL https://www.saltwire.com/newfoundland-labrador/business/cold-winter-killing-salmon-at-fish-farms-90564/ (accessed 9.8.22).

Porter, E.S., Clow, K.A., Sandrelli, R.M., Gamperl, A.K., 2022. Acute and chronic cold exposure differentially affect cardiac control, but not cardiorespiratory function, in resting Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*). Curr. Res. Physiol. 5, 158–170. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.crphys.2022.03.002

Reid, C.H., Patrick, P.H., Rytwinski, T., Taylor, J.J., Willmore, W.G., Reesor, B., Cooke, S.J., 2022. An updated review of cold shock and cold stress in fish. J. Fish Biol. 100, 1102–1137. https://doi.org/10.1111/jfb.15037

Rotllant, J., Tort, L., 1997. Cortisol and glucose responses after acute stress by net handling in the sparid red porgy previously subjected to crowding stress. J. Fish Biol. 51, 21–28. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1095-8649.1997.tb02510.x

Sandrelli, R.M., Gamperl, A.K., 2022. A comparison of methods used to evaluate the acute thermal and hypoxia tolerance of fishes [abstract]. In: 14th International Congress on the Biology of Fish. 2022 Jun 28 – Jul 1. Montpellier, France (Fr). Abstract nr ICBF22-488.

Shui, C., Shi, Y., Hua, X., Zhang, Z., Zhang, H., Lu, G., Xie, Y., 2018. Serum osmolality and ions, and gill Na+/K+-ATPase of spottedtail goby *Synechogobius ommaturus* (R.) in response to acute salinity changes. Aquac. Fish. 3, 79–83. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aaf.2018.03.002

Song, H., Xu, D., Tian, L., Chen, R., Wang, L., Tan, P., You, Q., 2019. Overwinter mortality in yellow drum (*Nibea albiflora*): Insights from growth and immune responses to cold and starvation stress. Fish Shellfish Immunol. 92, 341–347. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2019.06.030

Soto, D., Norambuena, F., 2004. Evaluation of salmon farming effects on marine systems in the inner seas of southern Chile: a large-scale mensurative experiment. J. Appl. Ichthyol. 20, 493–501. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1439-0426.2004.00602.x

Spilsberg, B., Nilsen, H.K., Tavornpanich, S., Gulla, S., Jansen, M.D., Lagesen, K., Colquhoun, D.J., Olsen, A.-B., 2022. Tenacibaculosis in Norwegian Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) cage-farmed in cold sea water is primarily associated with *Tenacibaculum finnmarkense genomovar finnmarkense*. J. Fish Dis. 45, 523–534. https://doi.org/10.1111/jfd.13577

Staurnes, M., Rainuzzo, J.R., Sigholt, T., Jøgensen, L., 1994. Acclimation of Atlantic cod (*Gadus morhua*) to cold water: Stress response, osmoregulation, gill lipid composition and gill Na-K-ATPase activity. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. A Physiol. 109, 413–421. https://doi.org/10.1016/0300-9629(94)90145-7

Sun, Z., Tan, X., Liu, Q., Ye, H., Zou, C., Xu, M., Zhang, Y., Ye, C., 2019. Physiological, immune responses and liver lipid metabolism of orange-spotted grouper (*Epinephelus coioides*) under cold stress. Aquaculture 498, 545–555. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2018.08.051

Szekeres, P., Eliason, E., Lapointe, D., Donaldson, M., Brownscombe, J., Cooke, S., 2016. On the neglected cold side of climate change and what it means to fish. Clim. Res. 69, 239–245. https://doi.org/10.3354/cr01404 Tang, C.-H., Leu, M.-Y., Shao, K., Hwang, L.-Y., Chang, W.-B., 2014. Short-term effects of thermal stress on the responses of branchial protein quality control and osmoregulation in a reef-associated fish, *Chromis viridis*. Zool. Stud. 53, 21. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40555-014-0021-7

Tang, P.A., Stefansson, S.O., Nilsen, T.O., Gharbi, N., Lai, F., Tronci, V., Balseiro, P., Gorissen, M., Ebbesson, L.O.E., 2022. Exposure to cold temperatures differentially modulates neural plasticity and stress responses in post-smolt Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*). Aquaculture 560, 738458. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2022.738458

The Fish Site, 2022. Arctic Fish reports 2,000 tonne salmon mortality [WWW Document]. TheFishSite. URL https://thefishsite.com/articles/arctic-fish-reports-2-000-tonne-salmon-mortality (accessed 4.4.22).

Tipsmark, C.K., Madsen, S.S., 2001. Rapid modulation of Na+/K+-ATPase activity in osmoregulatory tissues of a salmonid fish. J. Exp. Biol. 204, 701–709. https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.204.4.701

Treberg, J.R., Lewis, J.M., Driedzic, W.R., 2002. Comparison of liver enzymes in osmerid fishes: key differences between a glycerol accumulating species, rainbow smelt (*Osmerus mordax*), and a species that does not accumulate glycerol, capelin (*Mallotus villosus*). Comp. Biochem. Physiol. A. Mol. Integr. Physiol. 132, 433–438. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1095-6433(02)00083-1

Treberg, J.R., Martin, R.A., Driedzic, W.R., 2003. Muscle enzyme activities in a deep-sea squaloid shark, *Centroscyllium fabricii*, compared with its shallow-living relative, *Squalus acanthias*. J. Exp. Zoolog. A Comp. Exp. Biol. 300A, 133–139. https://doi.org/10.1002/jez.a.10318

Undercurrent News, 2020. Cooke's salmon mortalities in Newfoundland worse than originally reported [WWW Document]. Undercurr. News. URL https://www.undercurrentnews.com/2020/04/20/cookes-salmon-mortalities-in-newfoundland-worse-than-originally-reported/ (accessed 9.8.22).

Vargas-Chacoff, L., Arjona, F.J., Ruiz-Jarabo, I., García-Lopez, A., Flik, G., Mancera, J.M., 2020. Water temperature affects osmoregulatory responses in gilthead sea bream (*Sparus aurata L.*). J. Therm. Biol. 88, 102526. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtherbio.2020.102526

Wade, N.M., Clark, T.D., Maynard, B.T., Atherton, S., Wilkinson, R.J., Smullen, R.P., Taylor, R.S., 2019. Effects of an unprecedented summer heatwave on the growth performance, flesh colour and plasma biochemistry of marine cage-farmed Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*). J. Therm. Biol. 80, 64–74. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtherbio.2018.12.021

Wendelaar Bonga, S.E., 1997. The stress response in fish. Physiol. Rev. 77, 591-625. https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev.1997.77.3.591

Willick, F., 2019. Cold water kills 10,000 salmon at Cooke fish farm near Liverpool | CBC News [WWW Document]. CBC. URL https://www.cbc.ca/news/anada/nova-scotia/cooke-aquaculture-fish-kill-liverpool-1.5062704 (accessed 9.8.22).

CHAPTER 4: Low Seawater Temperatures are Associated with Liver Lipid Accumulation and Dysfunction, Ionoregulatory Disturbance and Opportunistic Infections in Cultured Post-Smolt Atlantic Salmon (*Salmo salar*)

Abstract

To ensure the sustainability of fish aquaculture, all sources of stress that could lead to issues with health and welfare and/or a loss of production should be examined, and if possible, mitigated. High temperatures, nutrition, pathogens, and the interactions between them, have been the focus of many studies. In contrast, while low temperatures are also a challenge to salmon production in several countries (regions), there has been limited research on this topic. In recent lab-based experiments, some Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar) reared at 8°C and below became lethargic and swam at the water's surface, and later developed ulcers to the head and jaw (symptoms similar to tenacibaculosis in Norwegian salmon aquaculture), and this was associated with significant mortalities. However, when fish with 'early' and 'advanced' symptoms were further examined, their livers were found to be large, pale and friable. Further, analysis of plasma samples showed that fish with this aetiology had: aspartate aminotransferase levels that were increasing; difficulty osmoregulating and producing enough glucose to maintain homeostasis; and high circulating cortisol levels [~100 ng ml⁻¹] when symptoms became severe / advanced. This set of physiological symptoms is very similar to a condition referred to as 'Winter Syndrome' in cultured gilthead sea bream and other species. Thus, it appears that 'Winter Syndrome', described here for the first time in Atlantic salmon, alone or in combination with opportunistic infections, results in lipid deposition in the liver, reduced/compromised liver functions and metabolic collapse that ultimately results in significant losses.

4.1 Introduction

Skin ulcers in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) aquaculture are problematic and can lead to large losses of fish at cage-sites (Bruno et al., 1998; Godoy et al., 2010; Lunder et al., 1995; MacKinnon et al., 2020, 2019; Spilsberg et al., 2022). The difficulty in addressing issues with skin ulcers in Atlantic salmon is that multiple pathogens (e.g., *Moritella viscosa, Tenacibaculum spp., Aliiovobrio wodanis* etc.), and different environmental conditions, have been associated with this aetiology. For example, salmon farms on Canada's east coast have reported skin ulcer outbreaks above 10°C (MacKinnon et al., 2020, 2019), whereas Norwegian farms typically experience outbreaks of ulcers at temperatures below 7°C (Spilsberg et al., 2022; Tunsjø et al., 2007). Further, although ulcers at low temperatures (7°C) at Canadian aquaculture cage-sites have not been reported in the literature, industry personnel in Atlantic Canada have indicated anecdotally that mortalities with ulcers are regularly removed during the colder months of the production cycle (Pers. Comm., cage site manager NL).

Due to improved monitoring, or greater impacts on production, ulcers associated with cold temperatures have been studied much more in Norway. *Moritella viscosa* was identified as the main causative agent in the development of 'winter-ulcer disease' (Karlsen et al., 2014), and vaccination was shown to be effective in preventing disease in salmon going to sea-cages (Karlsen et al., 2017). However, despite vaccination against *M. viscosa*, ulcers at low temperature continue to have significant impacts on production, and different pathogens have been associated with the disease (e.g., *Aliiovibrio wodanis* and *Tenacibaculum spp.*) (Nowlan et al., 2021; Småge et al., 2018, 2017). In Norway, outbreaks of *Tenacibaculum spp.* are known to cause different clinical signs depending on

the period of the year. Flank lesions have been reported in late fall and in late winter/spring, whereas lesions to the head and jaws have mostly been reported in late winter/spring. Head lesions/ulcers are associated with acute mortality (Spilsberg et al., 2022), and *Tennacibaculum maritimum* is known to cause mouth rot on the west coast of North America (Frisch et al., 2018), but not skin lesions (ulcers) associated with low temperatures.

Low rearing temperatures have also been shown to be stressful for many fish species (Reid et al., 2022). A condition has been identified in cultured gilthead sea bream (Sparus aurata) and other species [e.g., sea bass, Dicentrarchus labrax (Younes et al., 2020); yellow drum, Nibea albiflora (Song et al., 2019)], where the fish start to swim at the surface in a lethargic/tail down and disoriented state, and eventually become moribund. It is referred to as 'Winter Syndrome' or 'Winter Disease' in sea bream and is associated with increases in liver size, metabolic dysfunction and opportunistic infections (Ibarz et al., 2010b). We recently conducted 3 experiments where post-smolt Atlantic salmon were held at 8°C and below, for prolonged periods: 1) we performed an incremental temperature decrease at 1°C week⁻¹ from 8 to 1°C, with fish maintained for an additional week at 1°C, and 5% mortalities were recorded during the last two weeks of the experiment; 2) when acclimated to 3°C for 5 weeks, an average of 23% mortalities were recorded over the last three weeks; and finally 3) tanks acclimated to 8, 4 or 1°C experienced 40, 33 and 30% mortalities over a 12 week period, respectively. The moribund fish all had similar symptoms to those described above for sea bream and yellow drum with 'Winter Syndrome / Disease'. Thus, it is possible that this metabolic syndrome experienced by other cultured species, which is known to create favorable conditions for the development of opportunistic infections (Contessi et al., 2006; Mohammed and Peatman, 2018; Tort et al., 1998), may also occur in Atlantic salmon.

In this study, plasma from affected ('symptomatic') fish was analyzed for biomarkers of stress, osmoregulatory disturbance and tissue damage/liver failure to examine whether Atlantic salmon may also experience 'Winter Syndrome', and its possible association with skin/fin related infections. Ultimately, it is hoped that such research will lead to strategies (i.e., through changes in management / rearing protocols, modifications to diet formulations and/or the development of new vaccines) that would safeguard these fish during the winter months, reduce production losses, and improve fish health and welfare.

4.2 Materials and Methods

This study was approved by the Animal Care Committee of Memorial University of Newfoundland and Labrador (protocol [#]21-02-KG). All procedures conducted on the salmon were performed in accordance with the Canadian Council on Animal Care's Guidelines on the 'Care and Use of Fish in Research, Teaching and Testing' (Canadian Council on Animal Care, 2005).

4.2.1 Experimental animals

The Atlantic salmon used in these experiments were raised in freshwater in a commercial hatchery in New Brunswick (Canada) and transferred to seawater at the Dr. Joe Brown Aquatic Research Building (JBARB) (Department of Ocean Sciences, Memorial University) in January of 2021. These fish were initially held in a 3000 l tank supplied with flow through seawater (32 ppt salinity), with temperature maintained at ~6-

10°C. Oxygen levels and the photoperiod were ~100% air saturation and 12h light : 12h dark, respectively. The fish were fed to apparent satiation every day with a 3mm commercial pelleted diet (Signature Salmon, Northeast Nutrition, Truro NS. Canada).

4.2.2 Experimental protocols

4.2.2.1 Experiment [#]*1*

The salmon (280 fish; 175 ± 24 g, mean \pm s.e.m.) were haphazardly distributed into eight 500 l tanks (35 fish tank⁻¹; **Figure S2**) supplied with 10 l min⁻¹ of flow-through seawater (32 ppt salinity) at ~8°C and ~100% air saturation, and a 12h light : 12h dark photoperiod. The fish were acclimated to these tanks for two weeks before the start of the experiment. The 8 tanks were randomly separated into a control and an experimental treatment (4 tanks per treatment). Fish in the control tanks were maintained at a constant temperature of 8°C throughout the study, whereas fish in the experimental tanks were subjected to an incremental decrease in temperature of 1°C week⁻¹ from 8 to 1°C, followed by an additional week at 1°C. Feed was offered by hand to all tanks twice daily until apparent satiation was achieved. Fish were considered satiated when a few pellets accumulated at the bottom of the tank.

4.2.2.2 Experiment[#] *2*

Atlantic salmon (225 fish; 343 ± 15 g) were haphazardly distributed into three 1000 l tanks (75 fish tank⁻¹; **Figure S12**) supplied with ~6°C flow-through seawater at ~100% air saturation at 7.5 l min⁻¹ and a 12h light : 12h dark photoperiod. Feed was offered by hand to all tanks every other day until apparent satiation was achieved. The fish
were afforded three weeks of acclimation at ~6°C. The temperature was then decreased from 6 to 3°C over 10 days ($0.3^{\circ}C$ day⁻¹), and the fish were subsequently acclimated to 3°C for 5 weeks.

4.2.2.3 Experiment #3

Atlantic salmon (105 fish; 467 ± 31 g) were haphazardly separated into three 1000 l tanks (35 fish tank⁻¹; **Figure S12**) supplied with ~10°C flow-through seawater at ~100 % air saturation at 7.5 l min⁻¹, and a 12h light : 12h dark photoperiod. The fish were allowed 2 weeks of acclimation at ~10°C. The 3 tanks were subsequently haphazardly assigned to an acclimation temperature of 1, 4 or 8°C [the number of tanks limited by the capacity of a large glycol chiller (Technical Services, Memorial University) to maintain a temperature of 1°C], and temperature was decreased at 0.2°C day⁻¹ until the target temperature was achieved. All tanks attained their assigned temperature after 5 weeks, and temperatures were maintained for an additional 8 weeks. Feed was offered by hand to all tanks every other day until apparent satiation.

4.2.3 Asymptomatic fish vs. those with 'early' and 'advanced' symptoms

A considerable number of fish were culled (i.e., euthanized with 0.4 g l⁻¹ Syncaine (MS-222); Syndel Laboratories Ltd., Vancouver BC, Canada) during the three experiments mentioned in Section 2.2. To examine physiological changes in the affected fish, plasma samples were taken via caudal puncture (within 3 minutes of netting) from 27 salmon during Experiment [#]2 (Section 4.2.2.2) after 5 weeks at 3°C. These fish were separated into three groups. The first group were haphazardly sampled as apparently

healthy fish [designated as being 'asymptomatic' (n=9)]. The asymptomatic fish had no abnormal physical or behavioral symptoms. The symptomatic animals were sampled systematically to gather animals that had symptoms ranging in severity. The symptom range went from fish swimming lethargically and at the water's surface, to ones with extensive head ulceration. The symptomatic fish were subsequently divided into two groups (see below) using a scoring scheme adapted from Noble et al. (2018). All salmon were examined for three characteristics: snout/head damage, fin damage and skin lesions. Each characteristic was scored from 0-3, with 0 being an absence of damage, and 1 to 3 going from least to most severe (**Figure S4**). Further, if fin damage was active, as opposed to healed, the fin damage score was doubled. The three scores for each fish were summed to give a total individual score. The 9 fish with the lowest scores were placed in the 'early' symptom group, and the 9 fish with highest scores were put in the 'advanced' symptom group.

4.2.4 Fish sampling

Blood samples (~1 ml) were transferred to 2 ml Eppendorf[®] tubes with 75 μ l of saline containing lithium heparin (Sigma Chemical Co., Oakville, On, Ca; 1000 units ml⁻¹), shaken by inversion, and then centrifuged at 1,100 *xg* for 1 minute. The plasma was then distributed into a number of Eppendorf[®] tubes for the various analyses, and immediately frozen in liquid nitrogen prior to being stored at -80°C for later analyses.

The fish were then measured for weight, fork length and liver weight. Liver weight was used to calculate the fish's hepatosomatic index (HSI) using the following formula:

 $HSI = 100 [W_L/W_t]$

where $W_t(g)$ was total body weight and W_L was liver weight.

The percentage of survival was calculated over the course of the 3 experiments according to the formula:

Survival (%) =
$$100 - (M/I*100)$$

Where M was the cumulative number of mortalities (mortalities and culls) in a tank and I is the initial number of fish in the tank. Survival was recorded as the average of all tanks in an experiment/experimental group.

4.2.5 Plasma aspartate aminotransferase activity and hepatosomatic index

To better quantify the relationship between plasma aspartate aminotransferase (AST) levels and hepatosomatic index (HSI), Atlantic salmon from Experiment [#]2 (128 fish) had their blood sampled by caudal puncture after 5 weeks of acclimation at 3°C. The sampled fish were 'apparently healthy' and showed no signs of the condition(s) described in Section 3.1.

4.2.6 Plasma analyses

4.2.6.1 Spectrophotometry

Plasma samples were thawed, and diluted so that reaction rates could be accurately measured or that values were adequately covered by the standard curve (e.g., glucose, lactate, cortisol). All enzymatic activities were measured at 25°C using a SpectraMax M5e microplate reader (Molecular Devices, Sunnyvale, CA, USA). These assays were

developed for this experiment using established protocols on human plasma (Bergmeyer et al., 1978), fish plasma (Casillas et al., 1982), fish liver (Treberg et al., 2002) and fish muscle (Treberg et al., 2003).

Assay conditions were as follows:

Aspartate aminotransferase (AST; E.C. 2.6.1.1). 50 mM imidazole (pH 7.4), 200 mM aspartate, 0.2 mM NADH, 0.05 mM pyridoxal–5–phosphate and 14.5 U/ml malate dehydrogenase. The reaction was initiated with 7.0 mM α -ketoglutarate.

Lactate dehydrogenase (LDH; E.C. 1.1.1.27). 50 mM imidazole (pH 7.4) and 0.2 mM NADH. The reaction was initiated by the addition of 1 mM pyruvate.

Creatine kinase (CK; E.C. 2.7.3.2). 50 mM Imidazole (pH 7.4), 5.0 mM MgCl₂, 2 mM ADP, 0.8 mM NADP, 5 mM glucose, 10 mM AMP, 2 U/ml hexokinase, 2 U/ml glucose–6–phosphate dehydrogenase, and 10 μ M P1,P5-Di(adenosine-5')-pentaphosphate. The reaction was initiated by the addition of 50 mM phosphocreatine.

Glucose. Samples were initially deproteinized in 1:4 0.6% protocatechuic acid. 250 mM Imidazole (pH 7.8), 5 mM MgSO₄, 10 mM ATP, 0.8 mM NADP⁺ and 10 U/ml glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase. The reaction was initiated by the addition of 10 U/ml hexokinase.

Lactate. Samples were initially deproteinized in 1:4 0.6% protocatechuic acid. 200 mM glycine buffer solution and 25 mM NAD. The reaction was initiated by the addition of 400 U/ml of lactate dehydrogenase.

Cortisol levels in the plasma were measured in duplicate using an enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) kit (NEOGEN Corp. Lexington, KY, USA).

4.2.6.2 Ion measurements

Plasma sodium (Na⁺) and potassium (K⁺) levels were analyzed using a PFP7 Flame Photometer (Jenway, Stone, Staffordshire, UK) following the manufacturer's methods for analysis. Chloride (Cl⁻) and osmolality were measured according to manufacturer instructions using a ChloroChek Chloridometer (model 3400) and a VAPRO Vapor Pressure Osmometer (model 5600), respectively (ELITech Group, Logan, UT).

4.2.7 Statistical analyses

All data are reported as mean \pm standard error of the mean (s.e.m.). The data were analyzed using Rstudio Version 1.4.1106 R 4.0.5 (R Core Team, 2020, https://www.rproject.org/). A Bonferroni outlier test was used to identify outliers before statistical analysis. Parameters measured were analysed by fitting linear models using the lm function. Statistical models were computed with 'treatment' and 'sampling' as variables. Each model fit was graphically examined (i.e., using histograms and qqplots) and residuals tested for normality (Shapiro-Wilk, p<0.05). Non-normally distributed data were power-transformed using a Box-Cox transformation (Atkinson et al., 2021) using the boxcox function implemented in the EnvStats (version 2.7.0) package in R (Millard, 2017) so that the data met the assumption of normality. Finally, when the model identified significant effects, least-squares means post-hoc tests with Bonferroni's p-value correction for multiple comparisons [using the *lsmeans* function in R (Lenth, 2016)] were used to identify significant differences between treatments at a particular sampling point, and between sampling points within a treatment. Plasma AST was log₁₀-transformed using the *Im* function so that the relationship between this parameter and HSI became linear, and the statistical model was computed with 'hsi' and 'group' as variables. Significant differences were further examined as mentioned above.

4.3 Results

4.3.1 Mortalities

Salmon in Experiments #1, #2 and #3 developed similar symptoms and experienced significant mortalities. In Experiment #1, mortalities began when the fish were lowered to 1°C, and reached 5% after 2 weeks at this temperature (Figure 4-1). In Experiment #2, there were few mortalities (2%) during the initial holding at 6°C (3 weeks), however, mortalities began when temperature was being lowered to 3°C, and was approximately 0.6 % day⁻¹ when they were held at this temperature (Figure 4-1). During Experiment #3, mortalities reached 40, 33 and 30% by the end of the experiment in the tanks held at 8, 4 and 1°C respectively. The mortality rate was approximately 0.5, 0.5 and 0.8 % day⁻¹ at the 3 temperatures (Figure 4-1). These mortalities all had similar symptoms. The first sign of any health and welfare related issue was abnormal swimming behavior, where the fish were unresponsive and lethargic, and swam at the surface of the water (often in a 'taildown' position) (Figure S13). They would then develop ulcerations to the head and jaws that progressed rapidly and resulted in exposure of cranial/jaw bones only after a few days (Figure S14). In the later stages of the condition, fin rot was also observable on most affected fish, and skin lesions were recorded on the flanks of some salmon (Figure S14). When dissected, the moribund fish had large, pale and friable (i.e., easily broken apart) livers. These fish also had an enlarged spleen, enlarged gallbladder, and ascites (Figure **S14**). In contrast, the stock population used for the different experiments (held at 10°C)



Figure 4-1. Survival (in %) over the course of the 3 experiments (#1, green; #2, blue; #3 – 1°C, pink; #3 – 4°C, red: and #3 – 8°C, dark red). Fish in Experiment #1 were exposed to a decline in temperature of 1°C week⁻¹ from 8 to 1°C, and then maintained for an additional week at 1°C. Fish in Experiment #2 were held at 6°C for 21 days, then temperature was decreased for 10 days to 3°C and maintained at 3°C for 35 days. Fish in Experiment #3 were held for 14 days at 10°C, then temperature was decreased at a rate of 0.2°C day⁻¹. Forty-five days later, the fish were at their assigned temperature (1, 4 and 8°C) and held for 60 days. For Experiments #1 and 2, there were several tanks, and the plotted relationships with 95% confidence limits are shown (i.e., see the gray shaded areas). The equations for the two experiments are y = 100 - 0.069x (r² = 0.15) and y = 100 - 0.32x (r² = 0.36), respectively. No such fit was conducted for Experiment #3 as there was only one tank of fish at each temperature.

did not experience any of the described symptoms, and no mortalities were recorded in this group. The water source and husbandry procedures were the same / similar for all groups of fish.

4.3.2 Asymptomatic fish vs. those with 'early' and 'advanced' symptoms

The symptomatic fish (both 'early' and 'advanced') had significantly higher HSI values (2.5 ± 0.2 %) as compared to asymptomatic fish (1.6 ± 0.3 %) (**Figures 4-2 A and B**), and plasma cortisol values that were generally > ~100 ng ml⁻¹ (**Figure 4-3**). Although there were no differences in plasma lactate levels between the three groups, salmon with 'advanced' symptoms had significantly lower levels of plasma glucose (1.95 ± 0.34 mM) as compared asymptomatic fish and fish with 'early' symptoms (3.94 ± 0.3 mM and 3.84 ± 0.44 mM, respectively; **Figure 4-3**).

Symptomatic fish had increased plasma sodium and chloride levels, and osmolality values (230 ± 11 mM, 188 ± 7 mM and 432 ± 24 mOsm kg⁻¹, respectively), as compared to asymptomatic fish (190 ± 2 mM, 136 ± 3 mM and 338 ± 6 mOsm kg⁻¹, respectively) (**Figure 4-4**). However, there were no significant differences in plasma potassium levels between fish in the 3 categories. Fish with 'advanced' symptoms also had significantly increased plasma LDH levels as compared to asymptomatic fish and those with 'early' symptoms (by ~2.8-fold; **Figure 4-5**), and greater plasma levels of CK and AST at p < 0.1 (by > 2 fold) as compared to both other groups. **Figure 4-6** shows the relationship between plasma AST levels and HSI for fish in Experiment #2, whereas **Figure 4-7** shows log₁₀-transformed plasma AST levels plotted against HSI. For the asymptomatic fish from Experiment #2 (128 in total), both relationships were negative (i.e., AST declined as



Figure 4-2. A: Pictures of the livers from an asymptomatic (left; 440.8 g; HSI of 1.3) and symptomatic (right; 451.7 g; HSI of 2.8) Atlantic salmon held at 3°C. **B**: Box-plots showing the hepatosomatic index (HSI) of asymptomatic fish, and fish with 'early' symptoms and fish with 'advanced' symptoms (n=9). The lower and upper box boundaries indicate the 25th and 75th quartiles, respectively, the line inside the box is the median value, and the vertical lines delimit the 10th and 90th percentiles, respectively. Filled circles show data points falling outside the 10th and 90th percentiles. Dissimilar letters indicate a significant difference (p < 0.05) between groups.



Figure 4-3. Plasma cortisol, glucose and lactate levels in asymptomatic fish, fish with 'early' symptoms and fish with 'advanced' symptoms (n=9). The lower and upper box boundaries indicate the 25^{th} and 75^{th} quartiles, respectively, the line inside the box is the median value, and the vertical lines delimit the 10^{th} and 90^{th} percentiles, respectively. Filled circles show data points falling outside the 10^{th} and 90^{th} percentiles. Dissimilar letters indicate a significant difference (p < 0.05) between groups.



Figure 4-4. Plasma ion levels and osmolality in asymptomatic fish, fish with 'early' symptoms and fish with 'advanced' symptoms (n=9). The lower and upper box boundaries indicate the 25^{th} and 75^{th} quartiles, respectively, the line inside the box is the median value, and the vertical lines delimit the 10^{th} and 90^{th} percentiles, respectively (n=9 in each group). Filled circles show data points falling outside the 10^{th} and 90^{th} percentiles. Dissimilar letters indicate a significant difference (p < 0.05) between groups.



Figure 4-5. Plasma aspartate aminotransferase (AST), creatine kinase (CK) and lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) activity in asymptomatic fish, fish with 'early' symptoms and fish with 'advanced' symptoms (n=9). The lower and upper box boundaries indicate the 25th and 75th quartiles, respectively, the line inside the box is the median value, and the vertical lines delimit the 10th and 90th percentiles, respectively. Filled circles show data points falling outside the 10th and 90th percentiles. Dissimilar letters indicate a significant difference (p < 0.05) between groups. A ⁺ symbol indicates a difference at p < 0.1.



Figure 4-6. Relationship between hepatosomatic index (%; HSI) and plasma aspartate aminotransferase levels (U ml⁻¹; AST) in asymptomatic fish (black symbols, n=128) from Experiment [#]2, and fish sampled with 'early' symptoms (green symbols; n=9) and 'advanced' symptoms (red symbols; n=9). The line with 95% confidence limits shows the relationship between these two parameters for only the asymptomatic fish (black dots, $y = 260.81e^{-1.255x}$, p = <0.001, $R^2 = 0.22$).



Figure 4-7. Relationship between hepatosomatic index (%; HSI) and log transformed plasma aspartate aminotransferase activity values (U ml⁻¹; AST) for asymptomatic fish (black symbols; n=128) from Experiment #2, and fish with 'early' symptoms (green; n=9) and 'advanced' symptoms (red; n=9). The line with 95% confidence limits shows the linear relationship between these two parameters for only the asymptomatic fish (black dots, y = 5.5 - 1.1x, p = <0.001, $R^2 = 0.48$).

salmon HSI increased), with the linear relationship having an $R^2 = 0.48$ (p < 0.001). Most of the fish classified as having 'early' symptoms (6 out of 9; **Figure 4-6 & 4-7**, green symbols) had values that were similar to those in asymptomatic fish. In contrast, 77% (7 of 9) of the fish in the 'advanced' symptoms group (**Figure 4-6 & 4-7**; red symbols) had values that were well above (average ~20-fold higher) those recorded in asymptomatic fish with similar HSI values.

4.4 Discussion

Some fish in the current study developed a chronic condition at 8°C and below. where the fish were first observed in a lethargic/unresponsive state swimming at the surface. Then head/jaw ulcerations would develop, with the addition of fin rot on most fins, and significant mortalities were recorded. Identification of the pathogen(s) associated with the above aetiology was not possible/part of this study, but the symptoms have many similarities to what is described in the literature for fish from Norwegian aquaculture companies that have been identified as having tenacibaculosis (i.e., an infection with Tenacibaculum spp.) (Nowlan et al., 2021; Småge et al., 2018, 2017; Spilsberg et al., 2022). The fish from these studies are most often sampled to identify the pathogens and the histopathological impact on the tissues, but no study has investigated how the disease affects the fish's physiology or vice versa. The symptomatic animals from the current study had abnormally large (and friable and pale) livers, and issues with liver function, osmoregulation and severe stress, in addition to head erosion / ulcers and fin rot. Large pale friable livers, and the physiological disturbances reported here, are well described at low temperatures in cultured gilthead sea bream affected by 'Winter Syndrome' (Ibarz et al., 2010b). This study provides a potential link (although more research is required)

between 'Winter Syndrome' and low temperature ulcers/infections in Atlantic salmon culture; where metabolic and osmoregulatory issues (including liver dysfunction/damage and lipid deposition) reduce the salmon's overall health and robustness, and this may leave them vulnerable to opportunistic infections.

4.4.1 Metabolic dysfunction and fatty liver

Elevated plasma glucose has been measured in fish acclimated to cold vs. warm temperatures (Atwood et al., 2003; Chang et al., 2020; Connors et al., 1978; Staurnes et al., 1994; Virtanen and Oikari, 1984; Woo, 1990), and cortisol has a major impact on glucose metabolism. Specifically, cortisol stimulates glucose release via glycogenolysis and gluconeogenesis (Aedo et al., 2021; Faught and Vijayan, 2016; Jerez-Cepa et al., 2019; Vargas-Chacoff et al., 2021), and results in increased circulating glucose levels (Barton, 2002; Laiz-carrión et al., 2003; Staurnes et al., 1994; Vargas-Chacoff et al., 2020). Surprisingly, the symptomatic fish in this study had high circulating levels of cortisol, but their glucose levels were not higher, and fish with 'advanced' symptoms had very low plasma glucose levels (Figure 4-4). Glucose is mostly produced and/or released by the liver (Polakof et al., 2012). However, low temperatures reduce the activity of the glycogenolysis pathway in fish in favor of gluconeogenesis from lipids and amino acids to maintain glucose levels (Melis et al., 2017; Seibert, 1985). Furthermore, Hochachka and Hayes (1962) demonstrated that low acclimation temperatures (4 vs 15°C) tended to promote lipid synthesis by liver and muscle homogenates instead of glycogen synthesis in brook trout (Salvelinus fontinalis). The observed increase in the size of the liver (HSI), and its transition to a pale colour (i.e., indicative of 'fatty liver disease'; Figure 4-2 and 4-3) are consistent with the above findings, and a drop in plasma glucose levels may well be associated with the salmon's erratic/lethargic swimming behavior and unresponsiveness. Glucose is the only energy source that can be utilized by the nervous system (Bélanger et al., 2011), and injection with high doses of insulin results in low plasma glucose and a comatose state in goldfish (Carassius auratus) that can be reversed when glucose is administered (Munford and Greenwald, 1974). In addition, injecting Atlantic salmon with a high dose of insulin-like growth factor I (IGF-I) resulted in aberrant swimming behavior, hypoglycemia and death (McCormick, 1996). Similar to the present study, gilthead sea bream affected by 'Winter Syndrome' have low glucose levels compared to asymptomatic fish, and the first symptoms of the condition is erratic/lethargic swimming (Gallardo et al., 2003). Disruptions in liver function are also associated with increased HSI (indicative of lipid deposition) that leads to metabolic collapse, and mortality (Ibarz et al., 2010b). Interestingly, Atlantic salmon given cortisol implants at 10°C had increased plasma glucose and decreased HSI after 14 days (Vargas-Chacoff et al., 2021), which is a completely opposite response as compared to what the symptomatic salmon experienced at 3°C with high cortisol in the current experiment. As most glucose to support metabolic function comes from/is produced by the liver, this is further evidence that 'Winter Syndrome' in Atlantic salmon is associated with disruptions in liver function.

Indeed, the fish from the current experiment had large, pale and friable livers. This change in liver size, color and structural integrity at low temperatures referred to as 'fatty liver' (Horn et al., 2018; Jia et al., 2006; Sissener et al., 2017), has been described in gilthead sea bream in association with 'Winter Syndrome' and ascribed to increased hepatic lipid deposition (Ibarz et al., 2010b; Melis et al., 2017; Sánchez-Nuño et al., 2018).

In Atlantic salmon, 'paleness' of the liver has been used as a scoring parameter where a darker color was associated with 'apparently healthy' fish, and paler colors (yellow to orange hue) were associated with 'fatty liver' (i.e., increased lipid content) (Katerina et al., 2020). Although liver size do vary in Atlantic salmon (primarily due to changes in lipid content) (Bou et al., 2017; Hundal et al., 2022; Sissener et al., 2017), HSI values similar to the ones measured in the current study for the symptomatic fish (~ 2.5) are almost unheard of in the literature. The accumulation of lipids in the liver has been linked to many different conditions in various fish species: high-lipid diets, low levels of dietary eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA) and docosahexaenoic acid (DHA), starvation, parasites, bacterial infections and short day length (Fujisawa et al., 2021; Hundal et al., 2022; Nordgarden et al., 2002; SeppÄnen et al., 2009; Tao et al., 2018; Xu et al., 2021; Zhao et al., 2019; Zhou et al., 2020). Low temperatures have also been shown to lead to increased HSI values in juvenile white sturgeon (Acipenser transmontanus; Watson et al., 1998), European seabass (Dicentrarchus labrax; Islam et al., 2020) and gilthead sea bream (Melis et al., 2017). For Atlantic salmon, there are some indications that low temperatures can specifically increase hepatic lipid deposition (See Chapter 2 of current thesis; Vadboncoeur et al., submitted). Although, combinations of low temperature and continuous light (Døskeland et al., 2016), pathogens (Fjølstad and Heyeraas, 1985; Waagbø et al., 1988), an increase in dietary lipids (Dessen et al., 2021) and low dietary fish oil content (Ruyter et al., 2006) also result in increased lipid deposition and HSI. Importantly, high HSI values have been associated with a general decrease in a fish's robustness, and increased mortality (Bou et al., 2017; Dessen et al., 2021; Hundal et al., 2022; Rorvik et al., 2003).

'Fatty liver' is similar to a common disease in humans called non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD); zebrafish (*Danio rerio*) and medaka (*Oryzias latipes*) are increasingly used as models to study this disease (Asaoka et al., 2014). Lipid accumulation in the liver (steatosis) associated with NAFLD induces hepatocyte oxidative stress, lipid peroxidation and cell death that promotes the inflammatory response in the liver (Shwartz et al., 2019). This inflammation, in combination with steatosis, leads to non-alcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH) and the later stages of the disease can be extremely detrimental to the health of affected patients (Schuster et al., 2018). If unresolved, the inflamed liver is unable to maintain normal functions (Robinson et al., 2016). NAFLD, especially in the later stages of the disease, can be associated with severe hypoglycemia as a result of a dysregulation in glucose metabolism (Lee et al., 2022). Consistent with the above, the high HSI in Atlantic salmon in this study (~2.5) appears to hinder the liver from fulfilling its normal physiological functions, which is consistent with gilthead sea bream affected by 'Winter Syndrome' and humans in the later stages of NAFLD.

'Winter Syndrome' has also been linked to metabolic depression, nutritional imbalance, immunosuppression and an increase in the incidence of infection by opportunistic pathogens in gilthead sea bream at sea-cages (Melis et al., 2017). The metabolic reorganization/dysregulation exhibited at low temperatures results in an increase in lipid deposition in the liver, because lipogenesis pathways in the liver are favoured /increased. However, this does not account for all of the lipid deposition in 'Winter Syndrome' (Ibarz et al., 2007). The Atlantic salmon in the current study experienced a similar increase in lipid deposition in the liver, and Atlantic salmon hepatocytes have been shown to increase fatty acid synthesis, but decrease the β -oxidation of fatty acids, at low

temperature (Fonseca-Madrigal et al., 2006). In this metabolic state associated with 'Winter Syndrome', which is exacerbated by high cortisol levels, lipids stored in the muscle and in the abdominal cavity are released into the bloodstream to be used for energy production. However, the imbalance between fatty acid β -oxidation and lipogenic pathways leads to a metabolic bottleneck in the liver, where lipids are deposited and stored at unhealthy levels instead of being oxidized for energy production.

4.4.2 Osmoregulatory disturbance

Most, but not all, symptomatic fish had ulcers. The fish in the worst condition had erosion/ulcers of their head/jaw, lesions on their flanks and fin rot on most fins (Figure **S14**). The ulcers would have certainly hindered the appropriate regulation of plasma [Na⁺], [Cl⁻] and osmolality by increasing the fish's permeability to external ions. For example, Atlantic salmon infected with sea lice have higher plasma [Na⁺] and [Cl⁻], and resulting osmolality, compared to control animals (Bowers et al., 2000; Fjelldal et al., 2020). However, the progression of fish from having 'early' to 'advanced' symptoms in the current experiment did not have a significant impact on plasma ion levels (Figure 4-5). This may be because the pathogen may have already been altering mucus production, and that this led to increased plasma osmolality (Shephard, 1994). However, the increase in plasma osmolality could also have been a response to the decrease in energy (glucose) availability. Indeed, glucose is the main source of energy for osmoregulation by the gills (Tseng and Hwang, 2008), and as discussed previously, reductions in liver function in the symptomatic fish led to a reduction in glucose production (circulating levels). Arctic, Antarctic and cold-acclimated temperate fish are also known to reduce the energy

requirements of osmoregulation by decreasing the gradient in osmolality between the animal and its environment (O'Grady and Devries, 1982; Pörtner et al., 1998). Thus, if the increased HSI resulted in liver dysfunction and limited glucose production, there may have been reductions in the energy expenditure associated with osmoregulation to preserve circulating glucose for more essential roles, and therefore, further imbalances in ions such as Na⁺ and Cl⁻.

Interestingly, no differences were found in plasma $[K^+]$. However, some symptomatic fish had high plasma $[K^+]$ values (**Figure 4-4**). Plasma $[K^+]$ is greater in cells than in the plasma (Palmer, 2015), and thus, the increase in plasma $[K^+]$ and enzymes of tissue damage (see below) were likely related to an increase in cell damage (and the release of cellular contents) in several tissues in fish with 'advanced' symptoms.

4.4.3 Tissue damage

There were no significant increases in plasma LDH, CK or AST in fish with 'early' symptoms. However, the activity of these enzymes in the plasma increased in fish with 'advanced' symptoms (**Figures 4-5, 4-6 & 4-7**), and this indicates that tissue damage was occurring as the condition progressed (Boyd, 1983). Plasma AST levels are used in human medicine to assess, in part, liver condition/function (Ono et al., 1995; Wang et al., 2019), and given that the symptomatic fish had visibly poor liver condition, there was an expectation that plasma AST activity would increase in the plasma as is described in humans and the different animal models affected by NAFLD (Mundi et al., 2020). Indeed, plasma AST levels were much higher in fish characterized as having 'advanced' symptoms (**Figures 4-5 & 4-7**), and this is similar to the results of Ye et al. (2019) who

fed different levels of rendered animal protein meal to hybrid grouper [Epinephelus fuscoguttatus (F) x Epinephalus lanceolactus (M)], and this resulted in hepatic steatosis, an increased in HSI and liver damage. Increases in plasma enzyme activity (e.g., CK, LDH and CK) are due to increased leakage from, and/or the apoptosis of, cells of certain tissues (Boyd, 1983; Klein et al., 2020). Cellular damage in the liver could have been related to oxidative stress, as reduced antioxidant enzyme activities and antioxidant gene expression, and increased lipid perioxidation, have been measured in cold-stressed gilthead seabream and yellow drum, (Ibarz et al., 2010a; Song et al., 2019). Hypoxia could similarly play a role in cellular damage in the liver due to reduced blood flow to this organ, and consequently, altered liver function. Hepatic steatosis decreases vascular compliance in humans affected by NAFLD (Solhjoo et al., 2011), creates hypertension in the portal vein (Francque et al., 2010, 2010; Van der Graaff et al., 2018), and this results in impairment of blood flow to the liver (Francque et al., 2012; van der Graaff et al., 2019). The cause of this phenomenon is primarily the swelling of hepatocytes that incorporate large lipid droplets, and the compression of sinusoids and restrictions in sinusoidal blood flow in the liver (van der Graaff et al., 2019). Drugs that reduce vasoconstriction in rats with early NAFLD lowered plasma enzyme activities and mitigated steatosis (van der Graaff et al., 2022). This reduction in blood flow to the liver could explain the reduction in plasma AST activity with increases in HSI (Figure 4-6 & 4-7) measured in 'apparently healthy' fish acclimated for 5 weeks at 3°C. Reduced blood flow to the liver could also result in increased plasma CK and LDH activities as enzymes released from other tissues/organs may not be properly filtered from the plasma. Alternatively, the reduction in plasma AST activity may be a mechanism to limit the liver's inflammatory response with increasing

HSI, since the release of cellular contents is one of the primary promoters of the inflammatory response (AnvariFar et al., 2017). We did not examine this relationship (i.e., its causes) further in this study. However, contrary to the present study on Atlantic salmon, NAFLD has not been linked with reduced plasma AST activity.

4.4.4 Plasma cortisol levels

Fish with 'early' and 'advanced' symptoms had high resting cortisol levels (generally > 100 ng ml⁻¹). High circulating levels of cortisol are commonly observed in Atlantic salmon infected with sea lice (Fjelldal et al., 2020) and infectious salmon anemia virus (Olsen et al., 1992); especially when the fish are in a moribund state. Cortisol is known to have depressive effects on the immune system, and high circulating levels of this glucocorticoid would limit the ability of the immune system to signal an infection or injury, or to delay or stop the inflammatory response (Coutinho and Chapman, 2011). Indeed, high circulating cortisol levels, in addition to the immunosuppressive effects of cold temperature itself (Abram et al., 2017), could be an important factor in the rapid development of the ulcers reported in the current experiment.

The liver is responsible for the clearance of plasma cortisol (Vijayan et al., 1991). Based on our hypothesis that high HSI values (here ~2.5) impede liver functions, it is possible/probable that cortisol may not have been properly/efficiently cleared from plasma, further reinforcing the metabolic state that symptomatic animals were experiencing. In this metabolic state, lipids are released from muscles and other tissues, and since fatty-acid oxidation and overall metabolic needs are reduced at low temperatures (Fonseca-Madrigal et al., 2006; Porter et al., 2022), there is a mismatch between the amount of lipid released and that needed for energy production. These surplus lipids are deposited in the liver, increasing HSI. Cortisol has been identified in humans as a glycemic promoter when released during prolonged hypoglycemic stress (Tesfaye and Seaquist, 2010). Therefore, the combination of reduced cortisol clearance, and increased production due to hypoglycemia (**Figure 4-3**), would further exacerbate the physiological downward spiral that the fish is experiencing, and result in metabolic breakdown and liver failure.

4.4.5 Immune function and opportunistic infections

The fish in the current experiment, in addition to having symptoms that resembled 'Winter Syndrome', had head/jaw ulceration (erosion) similar to that observed at Norwegian sea-cages at low temperature and that were recently described as being attributed to tenacibaculosis (Småge et al., 2018, 2017; Spilsberg et al., 2022). It is hypothesized that physical damage to the head and jaw, due to rubbing against the nets of sea-cages, provides the necessary conditions for the proliferation of this pathogen in sea-cages (Spilsberg et al., 2022). This is consistent with the possible route of infection in the current study. The salmon were lethargic and swimming at the surface, often in close proximity to the outlet pipe of the tank's degasser (**Figure S13**) and the walls of the tank. The disease is associated with high variability in mortality rates between sites where it is identified, is linked with low temperature (< 8°C), and is more prevalent in smolts recently transferred to sea (Olsen et al., 2011; Spilsberg et al., 2022). 'Fatty liver' has not been reported to be associated with tenacibaculosis in Atlantic salmon. However, *Tenacibaculum spp.* infections have led to enlarged, pale and friable livers in black

damselfish (Neoglyphidion melas; Haridy et al., 2015), Picasso triggerfish (Rhinecanthus assasi; Haridy et al., 2015), European seabass (Khalil et al., 2018; Yardımcı and Timur, 2015) and Senegalese sole (*Solea senegalensis*; Mabrok et al., 2016). These studies, which focused on the bacteriology of the pathogen, did not quantify the change in liver size or liver lipid content. They only described the appearance of the liver. However, other pathogens or combinations of pathogens can result in fish with large, pale and friable livers. Shoemaker et al. (2015) described general bacterial infections in fish with the symptoms of: abnormal swimming, lethargy, fin erosion, ascites, swollen organs, pale organs, white nodules and hemorrhagic organs. Indeed, paleness and enlargement of the liver have been linked to hepatic steatosis in the later stages of Aeromonas hydrophila infection in channel catfish (Ictalurus punctatus; Grizzle and Kiryu, 1993), and Pseudomonas plecoglossicida infection in Barramundi (Lates calcarifer) led to steatosis 1 day post-infection and hepatic necrosis that resulted in 100% mortality at 5 days postinfection (Sun et al., 2020). Further, the HSI of year-old rainbow trout $(150 \pm 15g)$ infected with *Psychrobacter immobilis* was 2.97 as compared to 1.22 for apparently healthy fish (Hisar et al., 2002), data which are similar to that of asymptomatic and symptomatic fish in the current study.

In the late 1970's, 'Hitra-disease' or 'cold-water vibriosis' (CWV) (pathogen *Aliivibrio salmonicida*) caused 'liver lipoid degeneration' (later renamed 'fatty liver') in the winter in Norway (Egidius et al., 1984; Holm et al., 1985; Roald, 1976; Urbanczyk et al., 2007); the liver enlarged and changed in colour from brown to yellow in color (Fjølstad and Heyeraas, 1985; Waagbø et al., 1988). This condition is also associated with anemia (Poston et al., 1976; Smith, 1979; Waagbø et al., 1988), an enlarged spleen (Fjølstad and

Heyeraas, 1985; Roberts et al., 1979; Smith, 1979), and extensive hemorrhaging (i.e., petechiae in the skin, gills, liver, swim bladder, caeca and abdominal fat) (Egidius et al., 1984, 1981; Poppe et al., 1985). However, the absence of the latter condition (e.g., see Figure S14G) makes it unlikely that this pathogen played a major role in the symptoms displayed by fish in this study.

Given that a number of pathogenic infections are associated with 'fatty liver', in addition to 'Winter Syndrome', it is difficult to reconcile whether cold temperatures and 'Winter Syndrome' made the fish susceptible to opportunistic infections and mortality, or whether a pathogenic infection also contributed to the physiological disturbances reported in this study. For example, Ibarz et al. (2010) suggest that low temperatures are the initial cause of all these physiological disruptions in sea bream, and that these effects, combined with a cold-induced immune suppression, make the fish more susceptible to infection: this conclusion was based on the observation that a drop in temperature alone causes coldinduced fasting, thermal stress, and metabolic depression in this species; and that these immediate effects are related to an ionic imbalance caused by malfunctions of the gills and digestive system, and to a fatty liver which impacts liver function/metabolism and the blood's chemical composition. However, salmon mortalities in the same cages/regions/temperatures were greatly reduced after a CWV vaccination program was implemented (Kashulin et al., 2017), and Atlantic salmon can be acclimated to low temperatures for long periods with little to no mortalities (Arnesen et al., 1998; Døskeland et al., 2016; Madaro et al., 2018; Tang et al., 2022; Virtanen and Oikari, 1984). This latter information supports the hypothesis that the dramatic increase in lipid deposition/HSI, liver dysfunction, metabolic breakdown and ionoregulatory disturbances observed in this study were induced by low temperature and exposure to a specific pathogen(s).

Irrespective of the causes(s) of salmon mortalities at cold temperatures in this study, and at Atlantic Canadian cage-sites (Pers. Comm.), research on sea bream suggests that impacts on production can be overcome. Production losses associated with 'Winter Syndrome' in gilthead sea bream have decreased over the past 20 years due to better management and feed formulations (Ibarz et al., 2010b). These winter feeds include higher proportions of fish meal, decreased plant proteins and inclusion of micronutrients like vitamin C, vitamin E, taurine and betaine (Richard et al., 2016; Schrama et al., 2017; Silva et al., 2014; Teodósio et al., 2021). Feeds with low EPA/DHA can also limit mortalities in Atlantic salmon during outbreaks of furunculosis and CWV (Rorvik et al., 2003). This is because DHA (from marine oils) decreases salmon liver inflammation and adipocyte lipid deposition as compared to fish fed oleic acid (OA; i.e., vegetable oils) (Bou et al., 2020).

4.5 Conclusion

Atlantic salmon, at temperatures of 8°C and below, developed severe head and jaw ulcers in 3 lab-based experiments that had many similarities to what has been described in Norwegian salmon aquaculture as tenacibaculosis. These fish also had large, pale and friable livers, and the hallmarks of metabolic collapse, ionoregulatory disturbance and liver dysfunction as described for 'Winter Syndrome'/'Disease' in cultured gilthead sea bream and yellow drum. Thus, it appears that these multiple facilitating factors may make Atlantic salmon with 'Winter Syndrome' walk a 'physiological tightrope' that leads to hepatic lipid deposition, an increase in liver size (HSI), and eventually liver failure.

However, it is still difficult to discern with certainty what triggers the increase in lipid deposition and liver size. It appears that winter-rearing conditions result in not a single factor, but a combination of factors that favor the development of 'fatty liver', including bacterial infection(s). Thus, additional studies need to be conducted to understand the prevalence of 'Winter Syndrome' at sea-cages in Atlantic Canada, to identify the pathogens associated with disease outbreaks at sea-cages in winter (at cold temperatures), and to identify/develop management strategies (including vaccines and diet formulations) that can be used to reduce losses of fish and production at cage-sites in Atlantic Canada.

4.6 References

Abram, Q.H., Dixon, B., Katzenback, B.A., 2017. Impacts of low temperature on the teleost immune system. Biology 6, 39. https://doi.org/10.3390/biology6040039

Aedo, J., Aravena-Canales, D., Ruiz-Jarabo, I., Oyarzún, R., Molina, A., Martínez-Rodríguez, G., Valdés, J.A., Mancera, J.M., 2021. Differential metabolic and transcriptional responses of gilthead seabream (*Sparus aurata*) administered with cortisol or cortisol-BSA. Animals 11, 3310. https://doi.org/10.3390/ani11113310

AnvariFar, H., Amirkolaie, A.K., Miandare, H.K., Ouraji, H., Jalali, M.A., Üçüncü, S.İ., 2017. Apoptosis in fish: environmental factors and programmed cell death. Cell Tissue Res. 368, 425–439. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00441-016-2548-x

Arnesen, A.M., Johnsen, H.K., Mortensen, A., Jobling, M., 1998. Acclimation of Atlantic salmon *Salmo salar* L. smolts to 'cold' sea water following direct transfer from fresh water. Aquaculture. 168, 351-367. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0044-8486(98)00361-5

Asaoka, Y., Terai, S., Sakaida, I., Nishina, H., 2014. The expanding role of fish models in understanding non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. Dis. Model. Mech. 7, 409–409. https://doi.org/10.1242/dmm.016022

Atkinson, A.C., Riani, M., Corbellini, A., 2021. The box–cox transformation: review and extensions. Stat. Sci. 36, 239–255. https://doi.org/10.1214/20-STS778

Atwood, H.L., Tomasso, J.R., Webb, K., Gatlin III, D.M., 2003. Low-temperature tolerance of Nile tilapia, *Oreochromis niloticus*: effects of environmental and dietary factors. Aquac. Res. 34, 241–251. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2109.2003.00811.x

Barton, B.A., 2002. Stress in fishes: A diversity of responses with particular reference to changes in circulating corticosteroids. Integr. Comp. Biol. 42, 517–525. https://doi.org/10.1093/icb/42.3.517

Bélanger, M., Allaman, I., Magistretti, P.J., 2011. Brain energy metabolism: Focus on astrocyte-neuron metabolic cooperation. Cell Metab. 14, 724–738. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2011.08.016

Bergmeyer, H.U., Schelbe, P., WIlhelm, A., 1978. Optimization of methods for aspartate aminotransferase and alanine aminotransferase 16. https://doi.org/10.1093/clinchem/24.1.58

Bou, M., Berge, G.M., Baeverfjord, G., Sigholt, T., Østbye, T.-K., Ruyter, B., 2017. Low levels of very-long-chain n -3 PUFA in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) diet reduce fish robustness under challenging conditions in sea cages. J. Nutr. Sci. 6, e32. https://doi.org/10.1017/jns.2017.28

Bou, M., Torgersen, J.S., Østbye, T.-K.K., Ruyter, B., Wang, X., Škugor, S., Kristiansen, I.Ø., Todorčević, M., 2020. DHA modulates immune response and mitochondrial function of Atlantic salmon adipocytes after LPS treatment. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 21, 4101. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms21114101

Bowers, J.M., Mustafa, A., Speare, D.J., Conboy, G.A., Brimacombe, M., Sims, D.E., Burka, J.F., 2000. The physiological response of Atlantic salmon, *Salmo salar L.*, to a single experimental challenge with sea lice, *Lepeophtheirus salmonis*. J. Fish Dis. 23, 165–172. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2761.2000.00225.x

Boyd, J. w., 1983. The mechanisms relating to increases in plasma enzymes and isoenzymes in diseases of animals. Vet. Clin. Pathol. 12, 9–24. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1939-165X.1983.tb00609.x

Bruno, D.W., Griffiths, J., Petrie, J., Hastings, T.S., 1998. *Vibrio viscosus* in farmed Atlantic salmon *Salmo salar* in Scotland: field and experimental observations. Dis. Aquat. Organ. 34, 161–166. https://doi.org/10.3354/dao034161

Canadian Council on Animal Care, 2005. Guidelines on the care and use of fish in research, teaching and testing. Canadian Council on Animal Care, Ottawa.

Casillas, E., Sundquist, J., Ames, W.E., 1982. Optimization of assay conditions for, and the selected tissue distribution of, alanine aminotransferase and aspartate aminotransferase of English sole, *Parophrys vetulus* Girard. J. Fish Biol. 21, 197–204. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1095-8649.1982.tb03999.x

Chang, C.-H., Zhou, X.-W., Wang, Y.-C., Lee, T.-H., 2020. Differential effects of hypothermal stress on lactate metabolism in fresh water- and seawater-acclimated milkfish, *Chanos chanos*. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. A. Mol. Integr. Physiol. 248, 110744. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpa.2020.110744

Connors, T.J., Schneider, M.J., Genoway, R.G., Barraclough, S.A., 1978. Effect of acclimation temperature on plasma levels of glucose and lactate in rainbow trout, *Salmo gairdneri*. J. Exp. Zool. 206, 443–449. https://doi.org/10.1002/jez.1402060313

Contessi, B., Volpatti, D., Gusmani, L., Galeotti, M., 2006. Evaluation of immunological parameters in farmed gilthead sea bream, *Sparus aurata* L., before and during outbreaks of 'winter syndrome.' J. Fish Dis. 29, 683–690. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2761.2006.00765.x

Coutinho, A.E., Chapman, K.E., 2011. The anti-inflammatory and immunosuppressive effects of glucocorticoids, recent developments and mechanistic insights. Mol. Cell. Endocrinol. 335, 2–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mce.2010.04.005

Dessen, J.-E., Østbye, T.K., Ruyter, B., Bou, M., Thomassen, M.S., Rørvik, K.-A., 2021. Sudden increased mortality in large seemingly healthy farmed Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.) was associated with environmental and dietary changes. J. Appl. Aquac. 33, 165–182. https://doi.org/10.1080/10454438.2020.1726237

Døskeland, I., Imsland, A.K.D., Fjelldal, P.G., Stefansson, S.O., Roth, B., Eriksen, K.E., Mikalsen, B., Handeland, S., 2016. The effect of low temperatures and photoperiods on growth and vertebra morphometry in Atlantic salmon. Aquac. Int. 24, 1421–1434. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10499-016-9999-7

Egidius, E., Andersen, K., Clausen, E., Raa, J., 1981. Cold-water vibriosis or 'Hitra disease' in Norwegian salmonid farming. J. Fish Dis. 4, 353–354. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2761.1981.tb01143.x

Egidius, E., Soleim, O., Andersen, K., 1984. Further observations on cold-water vibriosis or Hitra disease [*Vibrio ordalii*, *Vibrio anguillarum*, hemorrhages]. Bull. Eur. Assoc. Fish Pathol. Den.

Faught, E., Vijayan, M.M., 2016. Mechanisms of cortisol action in fish hepatocytes. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. B Biochem. Mol. Biol., Dr. Thomas W. Moon 199, 136–145. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpb.2016.06.012

Fjelldal, P.G., Hansen, T.J., Karlsen, Ø., 2020. Effects of laboratory salmon louse infection on osmoregulation, growth and survival in Atlantic salmon. Conserv. Physiol. 8, coaa023. https://doi.org/10.1093/conphys/coaa023

Fjølstad, M., Heyeraas, A.L., 1985. Muscular and myocardial degeneration in cultured Atlantic salmon, *Salmo salar L.*, suffering from 'Hitra disease.' J. Fish Dis. 8, 367–372. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2761.1985.tb00957.x

Fonseca-Madrigal, J., Bell, J.G., Tocher, D.R., 2006. Nutritional and environmental regulation of the synthesis of highly unsaturated fatty acids and of fatty-acid oxidation in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar L.*) enterocytes and hepatocytes. Fish Physiol. Biochem. 32, 317–328. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10695-006-9109-2

Francque, S., Laleman, W., Verbeke, L., Van Steenkiste, C., Casteleyn, C., Kwanten, W., Van Dyck, C., D'Hondt, M., Ramon, A., Vermeulen, W., De Winter, B., Van Marck, E., Van Marck, V., Pelckmans, P., Michielsen, P., 2012. Increased intrahepatic resistance in severe steatosis: endothelial dysfunction, vasoconstrictor overproduction and altered microvascular architecture. Lab. Invest. 92, 1428–1439. https://doi.org/10.1038/labinvest.2012.103

Francque, S., Wamutu, S., Chatterjee, S., Van Marck, E., Herman, A., Ramon, A., Jung, A., Vermeulen, W., De Winter, B., Pelckmans, P., Michielsen, P., 2010. Non-alcoholic steatohepatitis induces non-fibrosis-related portal hypertension associated with splanchnic vasodilation and signs of a hyperdynamic circulation in vitro and in vivo in a rat model. Liver Int. 30, 365–375. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1478-3231.2009.02136.x

Frisch, K., Småge, S.B., Johansen, R., Duesund, H., Brevik, Ø.J., Nylund, A., 2018. Pathology of experimentally induced mouthrot caused by *Tenacibaculum maritimum* in Atlantic salmon smolts. PLoS One 13, e0206951. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0206951

Fujisawa, K., Takami, T., Shintani, H., Sasai, N., Matsumoto, T., Yamamoto, N., Sakaida, I., 2021. Seasonal variations in photoperiod affect hepatic metabolism of medaka (*Oryzias latipes*). FEBS Open Bio 11, 1029–1040. https://doi.org/10.1002/2211-5463.13095

Gallardo, M.Á., Sala-Rabanal, M., Ibarz, A., Padrós, F., Blasco, J., Fernández-Borràs, J., Sánchez, J., 2003. Functional alterations associated with "winter syndrome" in gilthead sea bream (*Sparus aurata*). Aquaculture 223, 15–27. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0044-8486(03)00164-9

Godoy, M., Gherardelli, V., Heisinger, A., Fernández, J., Olmos, P., Ovalle, L., Ilardi, P., Avendaño-Herrera, R., 2010. First description of atypical furunculosis in freshwater farmed Atlantic salmon, Salmo salar L., in Chile. J. Fish Dis. 33, 441–449. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2761.2010.01142.x

Grizzle, J.M., Kiryu, Y., 1993. Histopathology of gill, liver, and pancreas, and serum enzyme levels of channel catfish infected with *Aeromonas hydrophila* complex. J. Aquat. Anim. Health 5, 36–50. https://doi.org/10.1577/1548-8667(1993)005<0036:HOGLAP>2.3.CO;2

Haridy, M., Hasheim, M., Abdelgalil, M., Sakai, H., Yanai, T., 2015. Pathological findings of *Tenacibaculum maritimus* infection in black damselfish, *Neoglyphieodon melas* and Picasso triggerfish, *Rhinecanthus assasi* in Red sea, Egypt. J. Vet. Sci. Technol. https://doi.org/10.4172/2157-7579.1000214

Hisar, O., Yanik, T., Hisar, S.A., 2002. Clinical and pathological investigation of *Psychrobacter immobilis* infection in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus Mykiss*, Walbaum). http://hdl.handle.net/10524/19062

Hochachka, P.W., Hayes, F.R., 1962. The effect of temperature acclimation on pathways of glucose metabolism in the trout. Can. J. Zool. 40, 261–270. https://doi.org/10.1139/z62-027

Holm, K.O., Strom, E., Stensvag, K., Raa, J., Jorgensen, T., 1985. Characteristics of a *Vibrio sp.* Associated with the "Hitra Disease" of Atlantic Salmon in Norwegian Fish Farms. 20, 125–129. https://doi.org/10.3147/jsfp.20.125

Horn, S.S., Ruyter, B., Meuwissen, T.H.E., Hillestad, B., Sonesson, A.K., 2018. Genetic effects of fatty acid composition in muscle of Atlantic salmon. Genet. Sel. Evol. 50, 23. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12711-018-0394-x

Hundal, B.K., Lutfi, E., Sigholt, T., Rosenlund, G., Liland, N.S., Glencross, B., Sissener, N.H., 2022. A piece of the puzzle—possible mechanisms for why low dietary EPA and DHA cause hepatic lipid accumulation in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*). Metabolites 12, 159. https://doi.org/10.3390/metabo12020159

Ibarz, A., Beltrán, M., Fernández-Borràs, J., Gallardo, M.A., Sánchez, J., Blasco, J., 2007. Alterations in lipid metabolism and use of energy depots of gilthead sea bream (*Sparus aurata*) at low temperatures. Aquaculture 262, 470–480. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2006.11.008

Ibarz, A., Martín-Pérez, M., Blasco, J., Bellido, D., de Oliveira, E., Fernández-Borràs, J., 2010a. Gilthead sea bream liver proteome altered at low temperatures by oxidative stress. Proteomics 10, 963–975. https://doi.org/10.1002/pmic.200900528

Ibarz, A., Padrós, F., Gallardo, M.Á., Fernández-Borràs, J., Blasco, J., Tort, L., 2010b. Low-temperature challenges to gilthead sea bream culture: review of cold-induced alterations and 'Winter Syndrome.' Rev. Fish Biol. Fish. 20, 539–556. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11160-010-9159-5

Islam, M.J., Slater, M.J., Bögner, M., Zeytin, S., Kunzmann, A., 2020. Extreme ambient temperature effects in European seabass, *Dicentrarchus labrax*: Growth performance and hemato-biochemical parameters. Aquaculture 522, 735093. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2020.735093

Jerez-Cepa, I., Gorissen, M., Mancera, J.M., Ruiz-Jarabo, I., 2019. What can we learn from glucocorticoid administration in fish? Effects of cortisol and dexamethasone on intermediary metabolism of gilthead seabream (*Sparus aurata L*.). Comp. Biochem. Physiol. A. Mol. Integr. Physiol. 231, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpa.2019.01.010

Jia, G., Feng, J., Qin, Z., 2006. Studies on the fatty liver diseases of *Sciaenops ocellatus* caused by different ether extract levels in diets. Front. Biol. China 1, 9–12. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11515-005-0002-7

Karlsen, C., Thorarinsson, R., Wallace, C., Salonius, K., Midtlyng, P.J., 2017. Atlantic salmon winter-ulcer disease: Combining mortality and skin ulcer development as clinical efficacy criteria against *Moritella viscosa* infection. Aquaculture 473, 538–544. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2017.01.035

Karlsen, C., Vanberg, C., Mikkelsen, H., Sørum, H., 2014. Co-infection of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*), by *Moritella viscosa* and *Aliivibrio wodanis*, development of disease and host colonization. Vet. Microbiol. 171, 112–121. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetmic.2014.03.011

Kashulin, A., Seredkina, N., Sørum, H., 2017. Cold-water vibriosis. The current status of knowledge. J. Fish Dis. 40, 119–126. https://doi.org/10.1111/jfd.12465

Katerina, K., Berge, G.M., Turid, M., Aleksei, K., Grete, B., Trine, Y., Mats, C., John, S., Bente, R., 2020. Microalgal *Schizochytrium limacinum* biomass improves growth and filet quality when used long-term as a replacement for fish oil, in modern salmon diets. Front. Mar. Sci. 7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2020.00057

Khalil, R.H., Diab, A.M., Shakweer, M.S., Ghetas, H.A., Khallaf, M.M., Omar, A.A.-D., 2018. New perspective to control of tenacibaculosis in sea bass *Dicentrarchus labrax L*. Aquac. Res. 49, 2357–2365. https://doi.org/10.1111/are.13689

Klein, R., Nagy, O., Tóthová, C., Chovanová, F., 2020. Clinical and diagnostic significance of lactate dehydrogenase and its isoenzymes in animals. Vet. Med. Int. 2020, e5346483. https://doi.org/10.1155/2020/5346483

Laiz-carrión, R., Martín Del Río, M.P., Miguez, J.M., Mancera, J.M., Soengas, J.L., 2003. Influence of cortisol on osmoregulation and energy metabolism in gilthead seabream *Sparus aurata*. J. Exp. Zoolog. A Comp. Exp. Biol. 298A, 105–118. https://doi.org/10.1002/jez.a.10256

Lee, J.-Y., Kim, Y., Han, K., Han, E., Lee, B.W., Kang, E.S., Cha, B.-S., Ko, S.-H., Lee, Y., 2022. Analysis of severe hypoglycemia among adults with type 2 diabetes and nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. JAMA Netw. Open 5, e220262. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2022.0262

Lenth, R. V, 2016. Least-squares means: the R package lsmeans. J Stat Sofw 69, 1–33.

Lunder, T., Evensen, Ø., Holstad, G., Håstein, T., 1995. \'Winter ulcer\' in the Atlantic salmon *Salmo salar*. Pathological and bacteriological investigations and transmission experiments. Dis. Aquat. Organ. 23, 39–49. https://doi.org/10.3354/dao023039

Mabrok, M., Machado, M., Serra, C.R., Afonso, A., Valente, L.M.P., Costas, B., 2016. Tenacibaculosis induction in the Senegalese sole (*Solea senegalensis*) and studies of *Tenacibaculum maritimum* survival against host mucus and plasma. J. Fish Dis. 39, 1445–1455. https://doi.org/10.1111/jfd.12483

MacKinnon, B., Groman, D., Fast, M.D., Manning, A.J., Jones, P., MacKinnon, A.M., St-Hilaire, S., 2020. Transmission experiment in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) with an Atlantic Canadian isolate of *Moritella viscosa*. Aquaculture 516, 734547. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2019.734547

MacKinnon, B., Jones, P., Hawkins, L., Dohoo, I., Stryhn, H., Vanderstichel, R., St-Hilaire, S., 2019. The epidemiology of skin ulcers in saltwater reared Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) in Atlantic Canada. Aquaculture 501, 230–238. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2018.11.035 Madaro, A., Folkedal, O., Maiolo, S., Alvanopoulou, M., Olsen, R.E., 2018. Effects of acclimation temperature on cortisol and oxygen consumption in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) post-smolt exposed to acute stress. Aquaculture 497, 331–335. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2018.07.056

McCormick, S.D., 1996. Effects of growth hormone and insulin-like growth factor i on salinity tolerance and gill Na+, K+-ATPase in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*): Interaction with cortisol. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 101, 3–11. https://doi.org/10.1006/gcen.1996.0002

Melis, R., Sanna, R., Braca, A., Bonaglini, E., Cappuccinelli, R., Slawski, H., Roggio, T., Uzzau, S., Anedda, R., 2017. Molecular details on gilthead sea bream (*Sparus aurata*) sensitivity to low water temperatures from 1H NMR metabolomics. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. A. Mol. Integr. Physiol. 204, 129–136. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpa.2016.11.010

Millard, S.P., 2017. EnvStats: an R package for environmental statistics. Springer, New York.

Mohammed, H.H., Peatman, E., 2018. Winter kill in intensively stocked channel catfish (*Ictalurus punctatus*): Coinfection with *Aeromonas veronii*, *Streptococcus parauberis* and *Shewanella putrefaciens*. J. Fish Dis. 41, 1339–1347. https://doi.org/10.1111/jfd.12827

Mundi, M.S., Velapati, S., Patel, J., Kellogg, T.A., Abu Dayyeh, B.K., Hurt, R.T., 2020. Evolution of NAFLD and its management. Nutr. Clin. Pract. 35, 72–84. https://doi.org/10.1002/ncp.10449

Munford, J., Greenwald, L., 1974. The hypoglycemic effects of external insulin on fish and frogs. J. Exp. Zool. 190, 341–345. https://doi.org/10.1002/jez.1401900310

Noble, E.C., Gismervik, K., Iversen, M.H., Kolarevic, J., Nilsson, J., Stien, L.H., Turnbull, J.F., 2018. Welfare indicators for farmed atlantic salmon - tools for assessing fish welfare 352. http://hdl.handle.net/11250/2575780

Nordgarden, U., Hemre, G.-I., Hansen, T., 2002. Growth and body composition of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.) parr and smolt fed diets varying in protein and lipid contents. Aquaculture 207, 65–78. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0044-8486(01)00750-5

Nowlan, J.P., Britney, S.R., Lumsden, J.S., Russell, S., 2021. Experimental induction of tenacibaculosis in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.) using *Tenacibaculum maritimum*, *T. dicentrarchi*, and *T. finnmarkense*. Pathogens 10, 1439. https://doi.org/10.3390/pathogens10111439

O'Grady, S.M., Devries, A.L., 1982. Osmotic and ionic regulation in polar fishes 10. https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-0981(82)90193-9 Olsen, A., Nilsen, H., Sandlund, N., Mikkelsen, H., Sørum, H., Colquhoun, D., 2011. Tenacibaculum sp. associated with winter ulcers in sea-reared Atlantic salmon *Salmo salar*. Dis. Aquat. Organ. 94, 189–199. https://doi.org/10.3354/dao02324

Olsen, Y., Falk, K., Reite, O., 1992. Cortisol and lactate levels in Atlantic salmon *Salmo salar* developing infectious anaemia (ISA). Dis. Aquat. Organ. 14, 99–104. https://doi.org/10.3354/dao014099

Ono, K., Ono, T., Matsumata, T., 1995. The pathogenesis of decreased aspartate aminotransferase and alanine aminotransferase activity in the plasma of hemodialysis patients: the role of vitamin B6 deficiency. Clin. Nephrol. 43, 405–408. https://doi.org/10.1515/9783110227802.81

Palmer, B.F., 2015. Regulation of potassium homeostasis. Clin. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 10, 1050–1060. https://doi.org/10.2215/CJN.08580813

Polakof, S., Panserat, S., Soengas, J.L., Moon, T.W., 2012. Glucose metabolism in fish: a review. J. Comp. Physiol. B 182, 1015–1045. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00360-012-0658-7

Poppe, T., Hastein, T., Froslie, A., Koppgang, N., Nordheim, G., 1985. Nutritional aspects of Haemorrhagic Syndrome ('Hitra Disease') in farmed Atlantic salmon *Salmo salar*. Dis. Aquat. Organ. 1, 155–162. https://doi.org/10.3354/dao001155

Porter, E.S., Clow, K.A., Sandrelli, R.M., Gamperl, A.K., 2022. Acute and chronic cold exposure differentially affect cardiac control, but not cardiorespiratory function, in resting Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*). Curr. Res. Physiol. 5, 158–170. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.crphys.2022.03.002

Pörtner, H.O., Hardewig, I., Sartoris, F.J., Van Dijk, P.L.M., 1998. Energetic aspects of cold adaptation: critical temperatures in metabolic, ionic and acid-base regulation, in: Pörtner, H.-O., Playle, R.C. (Eds.), Cold Ocean Physiology, Society for Experimental Biology Seminar Series. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, pp. 88–120. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511661723.005

Poston, H.A., Combs, G.F., Jr., Leibovitz, L., 1976. Vitamin E and selenium interrelations in the diet of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*): Gross, histological and biochemical deficiency signs. J. Nutr. 106, 892–904. https://doi.org/10.1093/jn/106.7.892

Reid, C.H., Patrick, P.H., Rytwinski, T., Taylor, J.J., Willmore, W.G., Reesor, B., Cooke, S.J., 2022. An updated review of cold shock and cold stress in fish. J. Fish Biol. 100, 1102–1137. https://doi.org/10.1111/jfb.15037

Richard, N., Silva, T.S., Wulff, T., Schrama, D., Dias, J.P., Rodrigues, P.M.L., Conceição, L.E.C., 2016. Nutritional mitigation of winter thermal stress in gilthead seabream: Associated metabolic pathways and potential indicators of nutritional state. J. Proteomics 142, 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jprot.2016.04.037
Roald, S.O., 1976. [An outbreak of lipoid liver degeneration (LLD) in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) in a fish farm and attempts to cure the disease (author's transl)]. Nord. Vet. Med. 28, 243–249.

Roberts, R.J., Richards, R.H., Bullock, A. m., 1979. Pansteatitis in rainbow trout *Salmo gairdneri Richardson*: a clinical and histopathological study. J. Fish Dis. 2, 85–92. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2761.1979.tb00145.x

Robinson, M.W., Harmon, C., O'Farrelly, C., 2016. Liver immunology and its role in inflammation and homeostasis. Cell. Mol. Immunol. 13, 267–276. https://doi.org/10.1038/cmi.2016.3

Rorvik, K.-A., Dehli, A., Thomassen, M., Ruyter, B., Steien, S.H., Salte, R., 2003. Synergistic effects of dietary iron and omega-3 fatty acid levels on survival of farmed Atlantic salmon, *Salmo salar L.*, during natural outbreaks of furunculosis and cold water vibriosis. J. Fish Dis. 26, 477–485. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2761.2003.00482.x

Ruyter, B., Moya-Falcón, C., Rosenlund, G., Vegusdal, A., 2006. Fat content and morphology of liver and intestine of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*): Effects of temperature and dietary soybean oil. Aquaculture 252, 441–452. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2005.07.014

Sánchez-Nuño, S., Eroldogan, O.T., Sanahuja, I., Özşahniğlu, I., Blasco, J., Fernández-Borràs, J., Fontanillas, R., Guerreiro, P.M., Ibarz, A., 2018. Cold-induced growth arrest in gilthead sea bream *Sparus aurata*: metabolic reorganisation and recovery. Aquac. Environ. Interact. 10, 511–528. https://doi.org/10.3354/aei00286

Schrama, D., Richard, N., Silva, T.S., Figueiredo, F.A., Conceição, L.E.C., Burchmore, R., Eckersall, D., Rodrigues, P.M.L., 2017. Enhanced dietary formulation to mitigate winter thermal stress in gilthead sea bream (*Sparus aurata*): a 2D-DIGE plasma proteome study. Fish Physiol. Biochem. 43, 603–617. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10695-016-0315-2

Schuster, S., Cabrera, D., Arrese, M., Feldstein, A.E., 2018. Triggering and resolution of inflammation in NASH. Nat. Rev. Gastroenterol. Hepatol. 15, 349–364. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41575-018-0009-6

Seibert, H., 1985. Effects of temperature on glucose release and glycogen metabolism in isolated hepatocytes from rainbow trout (*Salmo gairdneri*). Comp. Biochem. Physiol. Part B Comp. Biochem. 81, 877–883. https://doi.org/10.1016/0305-0491(85)90082-3

SeppÄnen, E., Kuukka, H., Voutilainen, A., Huuskonen, H., Peuhkuri, N., 2009. Metabolic depression and spleen and liver enlargement in juvenile Arctic charr *Salvelinus alpinus* exposed to chronic parasite infection. J. Fish Biol. 74, 553–561. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1095-8649.2008.02144.x Shephard, K.L., 1994. Functions for fish mucus. Rev. Fish Biol. Fish. 4, 401–429. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00042888

Shoemaker, C., Xu, D.-H., LaFrentz, B., LaPatra, S., 2015. Overview of fish immune system and infectious diseases, in: Dietary nutrients, additives, and fish health. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd, pp. 1–24. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781119005568.ch1

Shwartz, A., Goessling, W., Yin, C., 2019. Macrophages in zebrafish models of liver diseases. Front. Immunol. 10. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2019.02840

Silva, T.S., Costa, A.M.R. da, Conceição, L.E.C., Dias, J.P., Rodrigues, P.M.L., Richard, N., 2014. Metabolic fingerprinting of gilthead seabream (*Sparus aurata*) liver to track interactions between dietary factors and seasonal temperature variations. PeerJ 2, e527. https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.527

Sissener, N.H., Liland, N.S., Holen, E., Stubhaug, I., Torstensen, B.E., Rosenlund, G., 2017. Phytosterols are not involved in the development of fatty liver in plant oil fed Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) at high or low water temperature. Aquaculture 480, 123–134. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2017.08.007

Småge, S.B., Brevik, Ø.J., Frisch, K., Watanabe, K., Duesund, H., Nylund, A., 2017. Concurrent jellyfish blooms and tenacibaculosis outbreaks in Northern Norwegian Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) farms. PLOS ONE 12, e0187476. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0187476

Småge, S.B., Frisch, K., Vold, V., Duesund, H., Brevik, Ø.J., Olsen, R.H., Sjaatil, S.T., Klevan, A., Brudeseth, B., Watanabe, K., Nylund, A., 2018. Induction of tenacibaculosis in Atlantic salmon smolts using *Tenacibaculum finnmarkense* and the evaluation of a whole cell inactivated vaccine. Aquaculture 495, 858–864. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2018.06.063

Smith, C.E., 1979. The prevention of liver lipoid degeneration (ceroidosis) and microcytic anaemia in rainbow trout *Salmo gairdneri Richardson* fed rancid diets: a preliminary report. J. Fish Dis. 2, 429–437. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2761.1979.tb00394.x

Solhjoo, E., Mansour-Ghanaei, F., Moulaei-Langorudi, R., Joukar, F., 2011. Comparison of portal vein doppler indices and hepatic vein doppler waveform in patients with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease with healthy control. Hepat. Mon. 11, 740–744. https://doi.org/10.5812/kowsar.1735143X.729

Song, H., Xu, D., Tian, L., Chen, R., Wang, L., Tan, P., You, Q., 2019. Overwinter mortality in yellow drum (*Nibea albiflora*): Insights from growth and immune responses to cold and starvation stress. Fish Shellfish Immunol. 92, 341–347. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2019.06.030

Spilsberg, B., Nilsen, H.K., Tavornpanich, S., Gulla, S., Jansen, M.D., Lagesen, K., Colquhoun, D.J., Olsen, A.-B., 2022. Tenacibaculosis in Norwegian Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) cage-farmed in cold sea water is primarily associated with *Tenacibaculum finnmarkense genomovar finnmarkense*. J. Fish Dis. 45, 523–534. https://doi.org/10.1111/jfd.13577

Staurnes, M., Rainuzzo, J.R., Sigholt, T., Jøgensen, L., 1994. Acclimation of Atlantic cod (*Gadus morhua*) to cold water: Stress response, osmoregulation, gill lipid composition and gill Na-K-ATPase activity. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. A Physiol. 109, 413–421. https://doi.org/10.1016/0300-9629(94)90145-7

Sun, Y., Zhu, Z., Weng, S., He, J., Dong, C., 2020. Characterization of a highly lethal barramundi (*Lates calcarifer*) model of *Pseudomonas plecoglossicida* infection. Microb. Pathog. 149, 104516. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micpath.2020.104516

Tang, P.A., Stefansson, S.O., Nilsen, T.O., Gharbi, N., Lai, F., Tronci, V., Balseiro, P., Gorissen, M., Ebbesson, L.O.E., 2022. Exposure to cold temperatures differentially modulates neural plasticity and stress responses in post-smolt Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*). Aquaculture 560, 738458. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2022.738458

Tao, Y.-F., Qiang, J., Bao, J.-W., Chen, D.-J., Yin, G.-J., Xu, P., Zhu, H.-J., 2018. Changes in physiological parameters, lipid metabolism, and expression of microRNAs in genetically improved farmed tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*) with fatty liver induced by a high-fat diet. Front. Physiol. 9. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2018.01521

Teodósio, R., Aragão, C., Colen, R., Carrilho, R., Dias, J., Engrola, S., 2021. A nutritional strategy to promote gilthead seabream performance under low temperatures. Aquaculture 537, 736494. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2021.736494

Tesfaye, N., Seaquist, E.R., 2010. Neuroendocrine responses to hypoglycemia. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 1212, 12–28. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-6632.2010.05820.x

Tort, L., Rotllant, J., Rovira, L., 1998. Immunological suppression in gilthead sea bream *Sparus aurata* of the North-West Mediterranean at low temperatures. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. A. Mol. Integr. Physiol. 120, 175–179. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1095-6433(98)10027-2

Treberg, J.R., Lewis, J.M., Driedzic, W.R., 2002. Comparison of liver enzymes in osmerid fishes: key differences between a glycerol accumulating species, rainbow smelt (*Osmerus mordax*), and a species that does not accumulate glycerol, capelin (*Mallotus villosus*). Comp. Biochem. Physiol. A. Mol. Integr. Physiol. 132, 433–438. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1095-6433(02)00083-1

Treberg, J.R., Martin, R.A., Driedzic, W.R., 2003. Muscle enzyme activities in a deep-sea squaloid shark, *Centroscyllium fabricii*, compared with its shallow-living relative, *Squalus acanthias*. J. Exp. Zoolog. A Comp. Exp. Biol. 300A, 133–139. https://doi.org/10.1002/jez.a.10318

Tseng, Y.-C., Hwang, P.-P., 2008. Some insights into energy metabolism for osmoregulation in fish. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. Part C Toxicol. Pharmacol., "Diversity in a Changing Environment" - the International Conference of Comparative Physiology, Biochemistry and Toxicology and 6th Chinese Comparative Physiology Conference, 2007 148, 419–429. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpc.2008.04.009

Tunsjø, H.S., Paulsen, S.M., Mikkelsen, H., L'Abée-Lund, T.M., Skjerve, E., Sørum, H., 2007. Adaptive response to environmental changes in the fish pathogen *Moritella viscosa*. Res. Microbiol. 158, 244–250. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resmic.2006.11.014

Urbanczyk, H., Ast, J.C., Higgins, M.J., Carson, J., Dunlap, P.V.Y. 2007, 2007. Reclassification of *Vibrio fischeri*, *Vibrio logei*, *Vibrio salmonicida* and *Vibrio wodanis* as *Aliivibrio fischeri gen. nov., comb. nov., Aliivibrio logei comb. nov., Aliivibrio salmonicida comb. nov.* and *Aliivibrio wodanis comb. nov.* Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol. 57, 2823–2829. https://doi.org/10.1099/ijs.0.65081-0

van der Graaff, D., Chotkoe, S., De Winter, B., De Man, J., Casteleyn, C., Timmermans, J.-P., Pintelon, I., Vonghia, L., Kwanten, W.J., Francque, S., 2022. Vasoconstrictor antagonism improves functional and structural vascular alterations and liver damage in rats with early NAFLD. JHEP Rep. 4, 100412. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhepr.2021.100412

van der Graaff, D., Kwanten, W.J., Couturier, F.J., Govaerts, J.S., Verlinden, W., Brosius, I., D'Hondt, M., Driessen, A., De Winter, B.Y., De Man, J.G., Michielsen, P.P., Francque, S.M., 2018. Severe steatosis induces portal hypertension by systemic arterial hyporeactivity and hepatic vasoconstrictor hyperreactivity in rats. Lab. Invest. 98, 1263–1275. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41374-017-0018-z

van der Graaff, D., Kwanten, W.J., Francque, S.M., 2019. The potential role of vascular alterations and subsequent impaired liver blood flow and hepatic hypoxia in the pathophysiology of non-alcoholic steatohepatitis. Med. Hypotheses 122, 188–197. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mehy.2018.11.014

Vargas-Chacoff, L., Arjona, F.J., Ruiz-Jarabo, I., García-Lopez, A., Flik, G., Mancera, J.M., 2020. Water temperature affects osmoregulatory responses in gilthead sea bream (*Sparus aurata L.*). J. Therm. Biol. 88, 102526. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtherbio.2020.102526

Vargas-Chacoff, L., Regish, A.M., Weinstock, A., Björnsson, B.Th., McCormick, S.D., 2021. Effects of long-term cortisol treatment on growth and osmoregulation of Atlantic salmon and brook trout. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 308, 113769. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygcen.2021.113769

Vijayan, M.M., Ballantyne, J.S., Leatherland, J.F., 1991. Cortisol-induced changes in some aspects of the intermediary metabolism of *Salvelinus fontinalis*. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 82, 476–486. https://doi.org/10.1016/0016-6480(91)90323-X

Virtanen, E., Oikari, A., 1984. Effects of low acclimation temperature on salinity adaptation in the presmolt salmon, *Salmo salar L*. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. A Physiol. 78, 387–392. https://doi.org/10.1016/0300-9629(84)90166-X

Waagbø, R., Sandnes, K., Espelid, S., Lie, Ø., 1988. Haematological and biochemical analyses of Atlantic salmon, *Salmo solar* L., suffering from coldwater vibriosis ('Hitra disease'). J. Fish Dis. 11, 417–423. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2761.1988.tb00737.x

Wang, Q., Chen, Q., Zhang, X., Lu, X.-L., Du, Q., Zhu, T., Zhang, G.-Y., Wang, D.-S., Fan, Q.-M., 2019. Diagnostic value of gamma-glutamyltransferase/aspartate aminotransferase ratio, protein induced by vitamin K absence or antagonist II, and alpha-fetoprotein in hepatitis B virus-related hepatocellular carcinoma. World J. Gastroenterol. 25, 5515–5529. https://doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v25.i36.5515

Watson, L.R., Milani, A., Hedrick, R.P., 1998. Effects of water temperature on experimentally-induced infections of juvenile white sturgeon (*Acipenser transmontanus*) with the white sturgeon iridovirus (WSIV). Aquaculture 166, 213–228. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0044-8486(98)00283-X

Woo, N.Y.S., 1990. Metabolic and osmoregulatory changes during temperature acclimation in the red sea bream, *Chrysophrys major*: Implications for its culture in the subtropics. Aquaculture 87, 197–208. https://doi.org/10.1016/0044-8486(90)90275-R

Xu, H., Jiang, Y., Miao, X.-M., Tao, Y.-X., Xie, L., Li, Y., 2021. A Model Construction of Starvation Induces Hepatic Steatosis and Transcriptome Analysis in Zebrafish Larvae. Biology 10, 92. https://doi.org/10.3390/biology10020092

Yardımcı, R.E., Timur, G., 2015. Isolation and identification of *Tenacibaculum maritimum*, the causative agent of tenacibaculosis in farmed sea bass (*Dicentrarchus labrax*) on the Aegean Sea coast of Turkey. Isr. J. Aquac. - Bamidgeh 67. https://doi.org/10.46989/001c.20708

Ye, H., Zhou, Y., Su, N., Wang, A., Tan, X., Sun, Z., Zou, C., Liu, Q., Ye, C., 2019. Effects of replacing fish meal with rendered animal protein blend on growth performance, hepatic steatosis and immune hybrid grouper (Epinephelus status in *fuscoguttatus* $\mathcal{Q} \times Epinephelus$ *lanceolatus* \mathcal{F}). Aquaculture 511, 734203. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2019.734203

Younes, A.F., Cerrato, R.M., Nye, J.A., 2020. Overwintering survivorship and growth of young-of-the-year black sea bass *Centropristis striata*. PLOS ONE 15, e0236705. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0236705

Zhao, H., Luo, Y., Wu, Z., Zhou, Y., Guo, D., Wang, H., Chen, X., 2019. Hepatic lipid metabolism and oxidative stress responses of grass carp (*Ctenopharyngodon idella*) fed diets of two different lipid levels against *Aeromonas hydrophila* infection. Aquaculture 509, 149–158. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2019.05.029

Zhou, Y.-L., Guo, J.-L., Tang, R.-J., Ma, H.-J., Chen, Y.-J., Lin, S.-M., 2020. High dietary lipid level alters the growth, hepatic metabolism enzyme, and anti-oxidative capacity in juvenile largemouth bass *Micropterus salmoides*. Fish Physiol. Biochem. 46, 125–134. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10695-019-00705-7

CHAPTER 5: Summary, Research Limitations and Perspectives

5.1 Temperature, stress and mortality

High temperatures are stressful for Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar) (Beemelmanns et al., 2021; Gamperl et al., 2020; Jeffries et al., 2014). However, the literature on how low temperatures (to 0-1°C) impact many aspects of this species' physiology is not as clear (Liu et al., 2020; Sandnes et al., 1988). The results from Chapter 2 demonstrate that an incremental (1°C per week) decrease in water temperatures leads to the reduction (at ~5-6°C), then cessation (at ~1°C) of feeding. Starting at 4-5°C, increases and decreases in plasma Cl⁻ and K⁺ levels, respectively, and an increase in plasma osmolality were measured. With temperatures approaching 1°C, the fish experienced mild to moderate stress. Further, Chapter 3 shows that rapid exposure to 0°C from 3°C for 4 or 24 hours (i.e. a 'cold-shock') has few effects on salmon, with physiological changes limited to mild stress, and interestingly, an increase in gill Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase activity. This latter result is likely key to this species maintaining ion homeostasis following an event of this nature. Overall, these data show that Atlantic salmon have the capacity to adjust their physiology so that they can tolerate temperatures close to their lower thermal limit. This conclusion may not be surprising as salmon in the wild are found at low temperatures in rivers (Caissie et al., 2014) and off the coast of Norway (i.e., down to as low as -0.5°C; Strøm et al., 2020). However, significant mortality was recorded in every experiment where salmon were held for long periods below 8°C (Chapter 4), and this is consistent with the scientific literature (Spilsberg et al., 2022) and reports (CBC News, 2020; Stundin, 2022; The Fish Site, 2022) of losses of salmon in sea-cages. In my experiments, 5 - 30% of the fish developed enlarged livers (had increased HSI), had elevated levels of AST which suggests liver damage, and developed severe ulceration/erosion of the head and snout that was often accompanied with fin rot in the later stages of this condition (Chapter 4). It is likely that this is related to their duration of exposure to cold temperatures, and possibly the diets currently fed to salmon.

Cultured salmon are fed a diet produced with increasing proportions of plant protein and lipid, and they cannot migrate to more favorable thermal environments to ensure that exposure to cold temperatures is of limited duration (see Appendices Figure S1). Further, it is possible that selection for specific traits desirable for a cultured fish species (i.e., high growth, late maturity, feed conversion efficiency) may also play a role in the development of health issues at low temperature. The current research shows that the development of skin ulcers, usually but not exclusively to the head and jaw, is accompanied by an increase in HSI and the accumulation of lipids in the liver, and that this is concomitant with the release of cellular markers of this tissues' damage (e.g., AST). The literature identifies many facets of winter rearing conditions that depress lipid metabolism in the liver and that would encourage lipid accumulation (Dessen et al., 2021; Døskeland et al., 2016; Fjølstad and Heyeraas, 1985; Ruyter et al., 2006), and higher lipid content and/or liver size has been linked to reduced overall robustness in fishes (Bou et al., 2017; Dessen et al., 2021; Hundal et al., 2022; Rorvik et al., 2003). Thus, the effects of low temperatures, in combination with specific diet formulations, could explain the aetiology observed in salmon in the current study, and when combined with opportunistic infections could be the main cause of winter-related mortalities in cage-sites in cold temperate regions (Spilsberg et al., 2022).

5.2 Mortality in lab-based experiments vs. winter mortality events

Significant mortalities (5 - 30%) were recorded during the experiments described in this master's thesis, and are also reported by the salmon aquaculture industry at cagesites in winter (CBC News, 2020; Stundin, 2022; The Fish Site, 2022). From the information available, the mortalities experienced at sea-cages are mostly acute in nature, since they are reported after storms or other significant events, with many thousands of fish dying (Huffman, 2019; Willick, 2019). According to industry reports, the fish either freeze when ambient temperature drops below ~-0.7°C (Fletcher et al., 1988; Huffman, 2019; Hurst, 2007), or develop severe ulcers during harsh winter conditions (Spilsberg et al., 2022; Stundin, 2022). However, it is important to mention that mortalities at cage-sites are collected via water pumps at the bottom of the cages or manually by divers, and that the frequency of the recovery of mortalities is limited during the winter months. Further, it is possible that mortalities are underreported, as producers in some areas (e.g., Newfoundland) are not required to report mortality events (the numbers of mortalities) when they are of less than 10% of total fish on a site (Government of Newfoundland and Labrador, 2021). Thus, little information exists related to the development of skin and head ulcers after harsh winter conditions in the industry. This makes it difficult to compare mortality rates at cage-sites in winter with those that were observed in the current experiments and to identify specific causes of mortality [i.e., what is the role of diet vs. temperature alone (Dessen et al., 2021), vs. temperature-induced immune suppression and metabolic suppression (Abram et al., 2017; Melis et al., 2017)].

5.3 Experimental limitations

5.3.1 'Cold-shock'

As discussed in Chapter 3, there are no standardized methods for conducting 'cold-shock' protocols, whereas high temperature challenges are more consistent (e.g., CT_{max} and IT_{max} assessments of upper thermal tolerance) (Bartlett et al., 2022; Elliott and Elliott, 1995; Ignatz et al., 2021), and thus, it is difficult to compare studies as the selected endpoints are often different. The 'cold-shock' experiments currently described in the literature have typically emulated real-world events (Foss et al., 2012; Panase et al., 2018), and this is one shortcoming of the study performed in Chapter 3. For example, although there are limited temperature data available for salmon cage-sites in winter, one might expect temperatures to be at or near 0°C for several days, and fish in the current study were exposed my salmon to a maximum 'cold-shock' of 24 hours due to technical limitations in holding these temperatures for prolonged periods. Nonetheless, the data presented in Chapter 3 strongly suggests that rapid declines in temperature to 0°C, on their own, will not lead to major fish losses in the Atlantic Canadian salmon industry.

5.3.2 'Winter Syndrome'

The identification of a condition similar to 'Winter Syndrome' [see Ibarz et al. (2010) for a review], accompanied by the development of ulcers, was a novel finding in this thesis, and further research on these conditions and how to mitigate them, could be of benefit for the industry. However, it is also possible that the development of these symptoms may have impacted the results reported in Chapters 2 and 3. The goal of this master's thesis was to document physiological changes in Atlantic salmon reared at

temperatures similar to those observed at cage-sites in Atlantic Canada, more specifically in Newfoundland, during the winter. This information is crucial for the aquaculture industry given recent winter mortality events. For example, it is well established that salmonids reared in seawater have an absolute lower limit that is just above the freezing point of seawater (Fletcher et al., 1988; Hurst, 2007), and accounts of severe ulcers in Atlantic salmon have been reported as a cause of winter mortality events (Stundin, 2022). Given that the experiments detailed in previous chapters were conducted in land-based tank systems with controlled environments, there was no possibility of the fish 'freezing'. However, severe ulcers were observed in some fish when held at 8°C and below, and these eventually resulted in significant mortalities (i.e., fish having to be culled). This condition has not been previously described in salmon held in tanks, however, in all but Chapter 2, the water entering the tanks was not UV-sterilized, and this may have allowed for pathogens that cause ulcers to enter the system. Interestingly, some studies have encouraged the development of low temperature ulcers by scaring the fish or using bath challenges with high doses of bacteria (Olsen et al., 2011; Småge et al., 2018). Nonetheless, they mention that the spread of ulcers is not 'straightforward' (Spilsberg et al., 2022), and there was no indication that tank conditions on their own would lead to the development of ulcers.

The research presented in this thesis does not conclude that a single factor is responsible for the development of ulcers and the poor health and welfare of Atlantic salmon at cold temperatures. The fish in the early stages of the development of ulcers already had enlarged livers (a greater HSI), but some fish had no signs of the disease and had enlarged livers. Chapter 4 of the current thesis attempts to shed some light on the relationship(s) between liver enlargement and ulcers, but the analysis is somewhat problematic as the experiments that the samples were taken from were not specifically designed to observe the physiological impacts of cold on the prevalence and severity of ulcers. Further, the comparison between the 'asymptomatic' and 'symptomatic' fish has to be taken with 'a grain of salt' because the 'asymptomatic' fish were only 'apparently healthy' (i.e., did not show external signs of the condition) and they were held in the same tanks as the 'symptomatic' fish and cannot be considered a true 'control' group.

5.3.3 Winter feed formulations

In Chapter 4, it is hypothesized that feed composition may play an important role in the development of 'Winter Syndrome' and dermal ulcers due to the accumulation of lipids in the liver, liver damage, and the reduction of the overall robustness of the fish reared under cold temperatures (Bou et al., 2017; Dessen et al., 2021; Hundal et al., 2022). The use of feeds not specifically designed for cold temperatures may lead to unwanted physiological responses that, while associated with low temperatures, may not be prevalent if diets more optimal for cold temperatures were developed.

5.4 Future research

Given the reported development of ulcers at sea-cages and the associated mortalities in Atlantic Canada (Pers. Commun.; cage-site managers NL), and our findings which suggest that this may be related to problems with liver function (i.e., 'Winter Syndrome'), there is an urgent need to further our understanding of low temperature effects on the physiology and health of Atlantic salmon at cold temperatures.

5.4.1 Low temperature physiology

As discussed in Chapter 2, the Atlantic salmon's physiology is affected by declining temperatures, and these changes may be related to the fish's need to maintain homeostasis under such conditions. Further studies should be conducted on the Atlantic salmon's osmoregulatory physiology at low temperature, and how it may impact cell volume, and potentially induce osmotic stress. Such research, including that conducted at cage-sites themselves, could lead to the identification of fish with better tolerance of cold temperatures.

The primary goal of aquaculture is to produce the maximum number of healthy fish with as little feed as possible. This thesis clearly shows that salmon stop feeding at 1-2°C. However, there are no studies on the physiological changes that Atlantic salmon go through when fasting occurs at such low temperature, and how this affects the potential compensatory growth once feeding resumes in association with rising temperatures in the spring (Rørvik et al., 2018). When thermal conditions improve, fish will consume more feed and regain lost energy reserves. Given that feeding at low temperature may be problematic for liver metabolism, it may be important to look at reducing rations before winter, and modifying diets going into winter, so that the fish are better able to perform under such conditions and 'Winter Syndrome' is avoided.

5.4.2 Winter feed formulations

The amount and composition of feed, and the energy reserves required to overwinter, are important considerations as temperatures experienced by Atlantic salmon in the winter may be $< 2^{\circ}$ C for several months in Atlantic Canada and Iceland (see

Björnsson et al., 2007; Figure S1). The formulation of feeds specifically for cold periods of the year has proven extremely beneficial in gilthead sea bream aquaculture with regard to survival, health and welfare during colder months (Richard et al., 2016; Schrama et al., 2017; Silva et al., 2014; Teodósio et al., 2021), and similar benefits could be realized in the salmon aquaculture industry. Specifically, the replacement of fish oils with vegetable oils in salmon diets (the latter known to generally have lower levels of polyunsaturated fatty acids, most importantly EPA and DHA; Francis et al., 2007; Kowalska et al., 2011; Monge-Ortiz et al., 2018), may be detrimental when Atlantic salmon are reared at low temperatures. This is based on the fact that salmon are known to accumulate greater proportions of saturated lipids in the liver (Ruyter et al., 2006), and that increasing the level of fat in salmon diets at cold temperatures has significant effects on this species' survival and overall robustness (Dessen et al., 2020). However, this is probably not the only adjustment that should be made to salmon diets formulated for the period of decreasing temperatures. Experiments have shown that modifying vitamin C and E levels, and increasing the inclusion levels of taurine and betaine can have significant positive effects with regard to fish health, production and 'Winter Syndrome' (Barros et al., 2015; El-Sayed and Izquierdo, 2021; Espe et al., 2012; Richard et al., 2016; Schrama et al., 2017; Silva et al., 2014). In fact, such studies are currently being planned and should begin early in 2023.

5.4.3 'Winter-Syndrome' / 'Fatty Liver' and opportunistic infections

In the context of aquaculture and the industry's desire for maximum growth, liver function appears to be a limiting factor in Atlantic salmon culture at low temperatures

(Døskeland et al., 2016; Ruyter et al., 2006; Sissener et al., 2017). In Atlantic salmon and other cultured species, 'fatty liver' refers to an abnormally high lipid content in liver cells (Horn et al., 2018; Jia et al., 2006; Sissener et al., 2017). It is similar to non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) that affects millions of humans around the world and can cause significant health issues (Schuster et al., 2018; Shwartz et al., 2019). The development of ulcers (to the head/jaws) in some fish described in previous chapters were always linked with an abnormally large liver. The link between lipid liver content and the fish's overall robustness has been hinted at by the literature (Bou et al., 2017; Dessen et al., 2021; Hundal et al., 2022; Rorvik et al., 2003), but there are no definitive physiological explanations and the relationship between 'fatty liver' and skin infections at these temperatures is not clear. Is it simply cold-induced suppression of the salmon's innate and specific immunity (Abram et al., 2017) that makes them susceptible to infections of the dermis at cold temperatures, or do the physiological and behavioral changes associated with 'fatty liver'/'Winter Syndrome' have a direct and/or synergistic effect. For example, one could suggest that 'Winter Syndrome' makes the fish lethargic and causes them to swim erratically, that this results in them bumping into objects in tanks (or rubbing against the nets of sea-cage aquaculture pens; Cirić, 2020), and that abrasion of the dermis caused by such activity makes them susceptible to pathogens that have the capacity to cause disease/ulcers at cold temperatures (Olsen et al., 2011).

The current thesis is the only study that provides specific evidence with regards to salmon developing 'fatty liver' and 'Winter Syndrome' at cold temperatures, and to suggest that this condition is related to the development of dermal ulcers in this species at low temperature. Clearly, additional studies involving measures of liver fatty acid levels, the level of hepatic peroxidation and the activities of key enzymes in lipid metabolism, and the examination of liver histology are required before we can definitively say that Atlantic salmon can develop 'Winter Syndrome'/'fatty liver'. These possible findings would allow more certainty with regard to developing effective management strategies (e.g., modifying feeding regimes and diet formulations) to improve the survival, health and welfare of salmon at cold temperatures. Clearly, this should be a goal of researchers and the industry in the short-term as the cage-culture of salmon in Atlantic Canada and Iceland is expected to continue at a large scale for the foreseeable future, and winter-related losses threaten the sustainability and profitability of the industry, and its 'social licence' and support amongst the public.

5.5 References

Abram, Q.H., Dixon, B., Katzenback, B.A., 2017. Impacts of low temperature on the teleost immune system. Biology 6, 39. https://doi.org/10.3390/biology6040039

Barros, M.M., Falcon, D.R., Orsi, R.O., Pezzato, L.E., Fernandes Junior, A.C., Fernandes Junior, A., de Carvalho, P.L.P.F., Padovani, C.R., Guimarães, I.G., Sartori, M.M.P., 2015. Immunomodulatory effects of dietary β -glucan and vitamin C in Nile tilapia, *Oreochromis niloticus* L., Subjected to Cold-induced Stress or Bacterial Challenge. J. World Aquac. Soc. 46, 363–380. https://doi.org/10.1111/jwas.12202

Bartlett, C.B., Garber, A.F., Gonen, S., Benfey, T.J., 2022. Acute critical thermal maximum does not predict chronic incremental thermal maximum in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*). Comp. Biochem. Physiol. A. Mol. Integr. Physiol. 266, 111143. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpa.2022.111143

Beemelmanns, A., Zanuzzo, F.S., Xue, X., Sandrelli, R.M., Rise, M.L., Gamperl, A.K., 2021. The transcriptomic responses of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) to high temperature stress alone, and in combination with moderate hypoxia. BMC Genomics 22, 261. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12864-021-07464-x

Björnsson, B., Steinarsson, A., Árnason, T., 2007. Growth model for Atlantic cod (*Gadus morhua*): Effects of temperature and body weight on growth rate. Aquaculture 271, 216–226. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2007.06.026

Bou, M., Berge, G.M., Baeverfjord, G., Sigholt, T., Østbye, T.-K., Ruyter, B., 2017. Low levels of very-long-chain n -3 PUFA in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) diet reduce fish robustness under challenging conditions in sea cages. J. Nutr. Sci. 6, e32. https://doi.org/10.1017/jns.2017.28

Caissie, D., El-Jabi, N., Turkkan, N., 2014. Stream water temperature modeling under climate change scenarios B1 & A2.

CBC News, 2020. Harsh weather linked to die-off at Newfoundland salmon farm | CBC News [WWW Document]. CBC. URL https://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/newfoundland-labrador/another-salmon-die-off-1.5483364 (accessed 10.30.20).

Ćirić, J., 2020. 500 tonnes of salmon die in arnarlax fish farms [WWW Document]. Icel. Rev. URL https://www.icelandreview.com/business/500-tonnes-of-salmon-die-inarnarlax-fish-farms/ (accessed 2.21.21).

Dessen, J.-E., Østbye, T.K., Ruyter, B., Bou, M., Thomassen, M.S., Rørvik, K.-A., 2021. Sudden increased mortality in large seemingly healthy farmed Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.) was associated with environmental and dietary changes. J. Appl. Aquac. 33, 165–182. https://doi.org/10.1080/10454438.2020.1726237 Døskeland, I., Imsland, A.K.D., Fjelldal, P.G., Stefansson, S.O., Roth, B., Eriksen, K.E., Mikalsen, B., Handeland, S., 2016. The effect of low temperatures and photoperiods on growth and vertebra morphometry in Atlantic salmon. Aquac. Int. 24, 1421–1434. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10499-016-9999-7

Elliott, J.M., Elliott, J.A., 1995. The effect of the rate of temperature increase on the critical thermal maximum for part of Atlantic salmon and brown trout. J. Fish Biol. 47, 917–919. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1095-8649.1995.tb06014.x

El-Sayed, A.-F.M., Izquierdo, M., 2021. The importance of vitamin E for farmed fish—A review. Rev. Aquac. n/a. https://doi.org/10.1111/raq.12619

Espe, M., Ruohonen, K., El-Mowafi, A., 2012. Effect of taurine supplementation on the metabolism and body lipid-to-protein ratio in juvenile Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*). Aquac. Res. 43, 349–360. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2109.2011.02837.x

Fjølstad, M., Heyeraas, A.L., 1985. Muscular and myocardial degeneration in cultured Atlantic salmon, *Salmo salar L.*, suffering from 'Hitra disease.' J. Fish Dis. 8, 367–372. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2761.1985.tb00957.x

Fletcher, G.L., Kao, M.H., Dempson, J.B., 1988. Lethal freezing temperatures of Arctic char and other salmonids in the presence of ice. Aquaculture 71, 369–378. https://doi.org/10.1016/0044-8486(88)90206-2

Foss, A., Grimsbø, E., Vikingstad, E., Nortvedt, R., Slinde, E., Roth, B., 2012. Live chilling of Atlantic salmon: physiological response to handling and temperature decrease on welfare. Fish Physiol. Biochem. 38, 565–571. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10695-011-9536-6

Francis, D.S., Turchini, G.M., Jones, P.L., De Silva, S.S., 2007. Effects of fish oil substitution with a mix blend vegetable oil on nutrient digestibility in Murray cod, *Maccullochella peelii peelii*. Aquaculture 269, 447–455. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2007.05.021

Gamperl, A.K., Ajiboye, O.O., Zanuzzo, F.S., Sandrelli, R.M., Peroni, E. de F.C., Beemelmanns, A., 2020. The impacts of increasing temperature and moderate hypoxia on the production characteristics, cardiac morphology and haematology of Atlantic Salmon (*Salmo salar*). Aquaculture 519, 734874. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2019.734874

Government of Newfoundland and Labrador, 2021. Aquaculture Operator Incident Reporting Guidelines.

Horn, S.S., Ruyter, B., Meuwissen, T.H.E., Hillestad, B., Sonesson, A.K., 2018. Genetic effects of fatty acid composition in muscle of Atlantic salmon. Genet. Sel. Evol. 50, 23. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12711-018-0394-x Huffman, J., 2019. Cooke experiences 'super chill' event off Nova Scotia coast [WWW
Document].Atl.SalmonFed.URLhttps://www.asf.ca/news-and-magazine/salmon-news/cooke-experiences-super-chill-
event-off-nova-scotia-coast (accessed 9.8.22).URLValue

Hundal, B.K., Lutfi, E., Sigholt, T., Rosenlund, G., Liland, N.S., Glencross, B., Sissener, N.H., 2022. A piece of the puzzle—possible mechanisms for why low dietary EPA and DHA cause hepatic lipid accumulation in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*). Metabolites 12, 159. https://doi.org/10.3390/metabo12020159

Hurst, T.P., 2007. Causes and consequences of winter mortality in fishes. J. Fish Biol. 71, 315–345. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1095-8649.2007.01596.x

Ibarz, A., Padrós, F., Gallardo, M.Á., Fernández-Borràs, J., Blasco, J., Tort, L., 2010. Low-temperature challenges to gilthead sea bream culture: review of cold-induced alterations and 'Winter Syndrome.' Rev. Fish Biol. Fish. 20, 539–556. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11160-010-9159-5

Ignatz, E.H., Zanuzzo, F.S., Sandrelli, R.M., Clow, K.A., Rise, M.L., Gamperl, A.K., 2021. Phenotypic stress response does not influence the upper thermal tolerance of male Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar). J. Therm. Biol. 101, 103102. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtherbio.2021.103102

Jeffries, K.M., Hinch, S.G., Sierocinski, T., Pavlidis, P., Miller, K.M., 2014. Transcriptomic responses to high water temperature in two species of Pacific salmon. Evol. Appl. 7, 286–300. https://doi.org/10.1111/eva.12119

Jia, G., Feng, J., Qin, Z., 2006. Studies on the fatty liver diseases of *Sciaenops ocellatus* caused by different ether extract levels in diets. Front. Biol. China 1, 9–12. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11515-005-0002-7

Kowalska, A., Zakęś, Z., Jankowska, B., Siwicki, A., 2011. Substituting vegetable oil for fish oil in pikeperch diets: the impact on growth, internal organ histology, blood biochemical parameters, and proximate composition. Aquac. Nutr. 17, e148–e163. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2095.2009.00744.x

Liu, C., Ge, J., Zhou, Y., Thirumurugan, R., Gao, Q., Dong, S., 2020. Effects of decreasing temperature on phospholipid fatty acid composition of different tissues and hematology in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*). Aquaculture 515, 734587. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2019.734587

Melis, R., Sanna, R., Braca, A., Bonaglini, E., Cappuccinelli, R., Slawski, H., Roggio, T., Uzzau, S., Anedda, R., 2017. Molecular details on gilthead sea bream (*Sparus aurata*) sensitivity to low water temperatures from 1H NMR metabolomics. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. A. Mol. Integr. Physiol. 204, 129–136. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpa.2016.11.010

Monge-Ortiz, R., Tomás-Vidal, A., Rodriguez-Barreto, D., Martínez-Llorens, S., Pérez, J. a., Jover-Cerdá, M., Lorenzo, A., 2018. Replacement of fish oil with vegetable oil blends in feeds for greater amberjack (*Seriola dumerili*) juveniles: Effect on growth performance, feed efficiency, tissue fatty acid composition and flesh nutritional value. Aquac. Nutr. 24, 605–615. https://doi.org/10.1111/anu.12595

Olsen, A., Nilsen, H., Sandlund, N., Mikkelsen, H., Sørum, H., Colquhoun, D., 2011. Tenacibaculum sp. associated with winter ulcers in sea-reared Atlantic salmon *Salmo salar*. Dis. Aquat. Organ. 94, 189–199. https://doi.org/10.3354/dao02324

Panase, P., Saenphet, S., Saenphet, K., 2018. Biochemical and physiological responses of Nile tilapia *Oreochromis niloticus* Lin subjected to cold shock of water temperature. Aquac. Rep. 11, 17–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aqrep.2018.05.005

Richard, N., Silva, T.S., Wulff, T., Schrama, D., Dias, J.P., Rodrigues, P.M.L., Conceição, L.E.C., 2016. Nutritional mitigation of winter thermal stress in gilthead seabream: Associated metabolic pathways and potential indicators of nutritional state. J. Proteomics 142, 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jprot.2016.04.037

Rorvik, K.-A., Dehli, A., Thomassen, M., Ruyter, B., Steien, S.H., Salte, R., 2003. Synergistic effects of dietary iron and omega-3 fatty acid levels on survival of farmed Atlantic salmon, *Salmo salar* L., during natural outbreaks of furunculosis and cold water vibriosis. J. Fish Dis. 26, 477–485. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2761.2003.00482.x

Rørvik, K.-A., Dessen, J.-E., Åsli, M., Thomassen, M.S., Hoås, K.G., Mørkøre, T., 2018. Low body fat content prior to declining day length in the autumn significantly increased growth and reduced weight dispersion in farmed Atlantic salmon *Salmo salar* L. Aquac. Res. 49, 1944–1956. https://doi.org/10.1111/are.13650

Ruyter, B., Moya-Falcón, C., Rosenlund, G., Vegusdal, A., 2006. Fat content and morphology of liver and intestine of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*): Effects of temperature and dietary soybean oil. Aquaculture 252, 441–452. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2005.07.014

Sandnes, K., Lie, Ø., Waagbø, R., 1988. Normal ranges of some blood chemistry parameters in adult farmed Atlantic salmon, *Salmo salar*. J. Fish Biol. 32, 129–136. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1095-8649.1988.tb05341.x

Schrama, D., Richard, N., Silva, T.S., Figueiredo, F.A., Conceição, L.E.C., Burchmore, R., Eckersall, D., Rodrigues, P.M.L., 2017. Enhanced dietary formulation to mitigate winter thermal stress in gilthead sea bream (*Sparus aurata*): a 2D-DIGE plasma proteome study. Fish Physiol. Biochem. 43, 603–617. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10695-016-0315-2

Schuster, S., Cabrera, D., Arrese, M., Feldstein, A.E., 2018. Triggering and resolution of inflammation in NASH. Nat. Rev. Gastroenterol. Hepatol. 15, 349–364. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41575-018-0009-6 Shwartz, A., Goessling, W., Yin, C., 2019. Macrophages in zebrafish models of liver diseases. Front. Immunol. 10. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2019.02840

Silva, T.S., Costa, A.M.R. da, Conceição, L.E.C., Dias, J.P., Rodrigues, P.M.L., Richard, N., 2014. Metabolic fingerprinting of gilthead seabream (*Sparus aurata*) liver to track interactions between dietary factors and seasonal temperature variations. PeerJ 2, e527. https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.527

Sissener, N. h., Torstensen, B. e., Owen, M. a. g., Liland, N. s., Stubhaug, I., Rosenlund, G., 2017. Temperature modulates liver lipid accumulation in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar L.*) fed low dietary levels of long-chain n-3 fatty acids. Aquac. Nutr. 23, 865–878. https://doi.org/10.1111/anu.12453

Småge, S.B., Frisch, K., Vold, V., Duesund, H., Brevik, Ø.J., Olsen, R.H., Sjaatil, S.T., Klevan, A., Brudeseth, B., Watanabe, K., Nylund, A., 2018. Induction of tenacibaculosis in Atlantic salmon smolts using *Tenacibaculum finnmarkense* and the evaluation of a whole cell inactivated vaccine. Aquaculture 495, 858–864. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2018.06.063

Spilsberg, B., Nilsen, H.K., Tavornpanich, S., Gulla, S., Jansen, M.D., Lagesen, K., Colquhoun, D.J., Olsen, A.-B., 2022. Tenacibaculosis in Norwegian Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) cage-farmed in cold sea water is primarily associated with *Tenacibaculum finnmarkense genomovar finnmarkense*. J. Fish Dis. 45, 523–534. https://doi.org/10.1111/jfd.13577

Strøm, J.F., Thorstad, E.B., Rikardsen, A.H., 2020. Thermal habitat of adult Atlantic salmon *Salmo salar* in a warming ocean. J. Fish Biol. 96, 327–336. https://doi.org/10.1111/jfb.14187

Stundin, 2022. Ljósmyndir sýna stórfelldan laxadauða hjá Arctic Fish á Þingeyri [WWW Document]. Stundin. URL https://stundin.is/grein/14774/ (accessed 9.15.22).

Teodósio, R., Aragão, C., Colen, R., Carrilho, R., Dias, J., Engrola, S., 2021. A nutritional strategy to promote gilthead seabream performance under low temperatures. Aquaculture 537, 736494. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2021.736494

The Fish Site, 2022. Arctic Fish reports 2,000 tonne salmon mortality [WWW Document]. TheFishSite. URL https://thefishsite.com/articles/arctic-fish-reports-2-000-tonne-salmon-mortality (accessed 4.4.22).

Willick, F., 2019. Cold water kills 10,000 salmon at Cooke fish farm near Liverpool | CBCNews[WWWDocument].CBC.URLhttps://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/nova-scotia/cooke-aquaculture-fish-kill-liverpool-1.5062704 (accessed 9.8.22).

Appendix

	Control	Cold-exposure
	Temperature °C	Temperature °C
Week 0	8.1 ± 0.2	8.2 ± 0.2
Week 1	8.4 ± 0.1	7.0 ± 0.7
Week 2	8.4 ± 0.1	6.0 ± 0.2
Week 3	8.4 ± 0.1	5.2 ± 0.4
Week 4	8.5 ± 0.0	4.2 ± 0.4
Week 5	8.4 ± 0.0	3.2 ± 0.4
Week 6	8.4 ± 0.1	2.2 ± 0.5
Week 7	8.4 ± 0.1	1.5 ± 0.2
Week 8	8.5 ± 0.0	1.2 ± 0.1

Table S1. Weekly average seawater temperatures (°C) in the cold-exposure and control (8°C) tanks.



Figure S1. Salmon cage-site temperatures at 1, 5, 10 and 15 meters depth from approx. Nov. 1^{st} of 2020 to June 15^{th} of 2021 at a location on the south coast of Newfoundland. Sandrelli and Gamperl (In Prep.).



Figure S2. Tanks used in the experiment conducted in Chapter 2. All 8 500 L tanks were connected to 2 flow-through seawater sources (8°C and ambient) so that specific water temperatures could be obtained. Photoperiod was 12h light : 12h dark. Curtains were used on both sides of the tanks to minimize stress disturbance.



Figure S3. Water temperatures in the control (black) and cold-exposure tanks (grey) for each day of the experiment. Day 0 represents the date of the initial sampling. 'Negative' days indicate the acclimation period at 8° C.



Figure S4. Scheme used to score the external condition of Atlantic salmon (adapted from Nobles et al., 2018).



Figure S5. Integrity of TRIzol-extracted total RNA samples following phenol:chloroform:isoamyl alcohol extraction, DNase-treatment and column-purification. RNA samples were electrophoretically separated on 1% agarose gels (alongside the 1 kb Plus DNA Ladder (M, Invitrogen/Thermo Fisher Scientific), and visualized under UV light following ethidium bromide staining. All RNA samples were of high integrity (i.e., tight 28S and 18S ribosomal RNA bands, with 28S being approximately twice as intense as 18S). Sample order is (a: 1-16, b: 17-32, c: 33-48, d: 49-64, e: 65-80, f: 81-96 and g: 97-112) (4 control, 8 cold-exposure and 4 control then next sampling (x7)).

Table S2. Identity (%) between nucleotide sequences of four cytosolic heat shock protein 90 paralogue cDNAs (coding sequence only) analyzed in the qPCR study.

% identity	hsp90aa1a	hsp90aa1b	hsp90ab1a	hsp90ab1b
hsp9a0a1a	100			
hsp90aa1b	92	100		
hsp90ab1a	83	82	100	
hsp90ab1b	81	81	93	100

Table S3. Identity (%) between nucleotide sequences of four heat shock protein 70 paralogue cDNAs (coding sequence only) analyzed in the qPCR study.

% identity	hsp70a	hsp70b	hsp70c	hsp70d
hsp70a	100	1	1	1
hsp70b	79	100		
hsp70c	84	76	100	
hsp70d	81	77	82	100

Table S4. Primers used in the qPCR studies.

Gene Name (symbol)	Nucleotide sequence (5'-3')	Amplicon	^a Efficiency	Reference
(Gendank Acc. No.)		size (up)	(70)	
	F: TTGAGTACACAGCGGTGAATT	132	98.3	Beemelmanns
cold inducible RNA binding protein (cirbp) (BT059171)	R: ACCAATCTGATGCTATGACGAGA			et al., 2021b
	F: GACCATTCAAAAATCAACCTCA	129	97.7	Beemelmanns
serpin peptidase inhibitor, clade H, member 1 (serpinh1) alias heat shock protein 47 (hsp47) (XM_014214963)	R: CATGGCTCCATCAGCATTCT	-		et al., 2021b
	F: GTGGTGAGCGATGGTGGCAA	150	100	^b Caballero-
heat shock 70 kDa protein a (hsp70a) (BT043589)	R: GACAGCATTGTTCACTGGCTT			Solares et al., 2020
	F: GTGGTCAGCGACGGAGGAAA	150	97.5	^b Unpublished
heat shock 70 kDa protein b (hsp70b) (BT046112)	R: GACTGCATTGGACACCTTCTG			
	F: AGTGATCAACGACTCGACACG	151	93.6	^b Beemelmanns
heat shock 70 kDa protein c (hsp70c) (BT045715)	R: CACTGCATTGGTTATAGTCTTG			et al., 2021b
	F: GTTATCAATGATTCTACTCGGCC	148	90.8	^b Unpublished
heat shock 70 kDa protein d (hsp70d) (BT058774)	R: CTGCATTGTTGACAGTTTTTCC			
	F: TAGGCTCAGACGAGGAGGATGA	134	97.5	° Unpublished
heat shock protein 90 alpha family class A member 1a (hsp90aa1a) (KC150878)	R: GTTACGGGTCCACAGGGGTT			
	F: CACGATGGCGCATGTGGG	110	^d 101.7	°Unpublished
heat shock protein 90 alpha family class A member 1b (hsp90aa1b) (KC150879)	R: GGGTTACGAGTCCAAAGGGG	-		
	F: GCTCTGATGACGAGGAGGAC	129	101.8	°This study
heat shock protein 90 alpha beta 1a (hsp90ab1a) (KC150882)	R: TGATGTCGTCAGGGTTTCTG			
	F: CTGGACCAGGAACCCTGATG	94	97.6	^e This study
heat shock protein 90 alpha beta 1b (hsp90ab1b) (KC150883)	R: CTTGACTGCAAGGTGGTCCT			
	Candidate Normalizers	1	1	
60S ribosomal protein L32	F: AGGCGGTTTAAGGGTCAGAT	119	98.8	Xue et al., 2015
(<i>rpl32</i>) (B1043656)		01	07.0	
p-actin	R: AGGGACAACACTGCCTGGAT	91	97.8	Aue et al., 2015
elongation factor 1-alpha 1	F: TGGCACTTTCACTGCTCAAG	197	95.0	Caballero-
(<i>ef1a1</i>) (AF321836)	R: CAACAATAGCAGCGTCTCCA	-	,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	Solares et al., 2018
elongation factor 1-alpha 2	F: GCACAGTAACACCGAAACGA	132	92.8	Katan et al.
(<i>ef1a2</i>) (BT058669)	R: ATGCCTCCGCACTTGTAGAT			2019
feukaryotic translation initiation	F: CTCCTCCTCCTCGTCCTCTT	105	97.1	Caballero-
factor 3 subunit D (<i>eif3d</i>) (GE777139)	R: GACCCCAACAAGCAAGTGAT	-		Solares et al., 2017
^f polyadenylate-binding protein 1	F: TGACCGTCTCGGGTTTTTAG	108	95.1	Xu et al., 2013
(<i>pabpc1</i>) (EG908498)	R: CCAAGGTGGATGAAGCTGTT	-		

^a Amplification efficiencies were calculated using a 5-point 1:3 dilution series starting with cDNA representing 10 ng of input total RNA, with the exception of *cirbp and serpinh1* which were calculated using a 5-point 1:3 dilution series starting with cDNA representing 50 ng of input total RNA. See methods for details.

^b Primers were designed by Dr. Jennifer Hall as part of the Genomic Applications Partnership Program [GAPP # 6604: Biomarker Platform for Commercial Aquaculture Feed Development project funded by the Government of Canada through Genome Canada and Genome Atlantic, and Cargill Innovation (formerly EWOS Innovation) and awarded to Dr. Matthew Rise].

^c Primers were designed by Dr. Xi Xue as part of the Genomic Applications Partnership Program [GAPP #6607: Integrated Pathogen Management of Co-infection in Atlantic salmon (IPMC) project funded by the Government of Canada through Genome Canada and Genome Atlantic, and Cargill Innovation (formerly EWOS Innovation) and awarded to Dr. Matthew Rise]. The IPMC project was also funded by the Government of Newfoundland and Labrador through the Department of Tourism, Culture, Industry and Innovation (Leverage R&D award #5401-1019-108).

^d Amplification efficiency for *hsp90aa1b* was calculated from pooled fish at 3 and 1°C as expression levels were too low in the pooled fish at 8°C.

^e Primers were designed by Dr. Jennifer Hall, Aquatic Research Cluster, CREAIT Network.

^f Expression levels of the transcripts of interest were normalized to expression levels of these two transcripts

Table S5. qPCR analysis of transcript expression levels for six candidate normalizer genes. C_T values were obtained for 3 individuals from each group at 8°C and for 4 samples from each group at all of the other sampling temperatures and analyzed using geNorm. For each gene, the C_T values for each group are presented (mean \Box s.e.m.), along with the geNorm M values. Eif3d and rpl32 were selected as the normalizers for the qPCR study.

C _T value	actb	ef1a1	ef1a2	eif3d	pabpc1	rp132
8°C						
Control	18.98 ± 0.61	19.24 ± 0.32	19.36 ± 0.21	22.62 ± 0.28	21.03 ± 0.28	19.88 ± 0.16
Cold-exposure	19.29 ± 0.08	19.36 ± 0.21	19.31 ± 0.15	23.03 ± 0.27	21.43 ± 0.19	20.09 ± 0.18
6°C						
Control	19.20 ± 0.19	18.96 ± 0.00	18.99 ± 0.01	22.73 ± 0.02	21.14 ± 0.04	19.86 ± 0.06
Cold-exposure	19.58 ± 0.20	19.00 ± 0.10	19.10 ± 0.07	22.87 ± 0.03	21.43 ± 0.07	20.10 ± 0.05
5°C						
Control	19.46 ± 0.13	19.47 ± 0.03	19.19 ± 0.01	23.13 ± 0.06	21.58 ± 0.04	20.05 ± 0.09
Cold-exposure	20.04 ± 0.20	19.62 ± 0.25	19.48 ± 0.22	23.26 ± 0.21	21.65 ± 0.12	20.33 ± 0.15
4°C						
Control	19.89 ± 0.08	19.79 ± 0.11	19.47 ± 0.05	23.51 ± 0.04	21.59 ± 0.03	20.39 ± 0.03
Cold-exposure	19.61 ± 0.16	19.10 ± 0.10	19.15 ± 0.12	22.77 ± 0.09	21.22 ± 0.06	20.01 ± 0.08
3°C						
Control	19.35 ± 0.16	19.40 ± 0.12	19.09 ± 0.07	23.16 ± 0.11	21.62 ± 0.13	20.33 ± 0.09
Cold-exposure	19.41 ± 0.20	19.14 ± 0.12	19.18 ± 0.08	23.00 ± 0.14	21.29 ± 0.13	20.20 ± 0.17
2°C						
Control	19.28 ± 0.18	19.06 ± 0.11	18.92 ± 0.13	22.83 ± 0.16	21.33 ± 0.16	20.04 ± 0.16
Cold-exposure	19.56 ± 0.11	$18,85 \pm 0.16$	19.08 ± 0.16	22.71 ± 0.15	21.21 ± 0.07	19.91 ± 0.20
1°C						
Control	19.33 ± 0.15	18.92 ± 0.22	18.80 ± 0.25	22.93 ± 0.19	21.32 ± 0.18	20.20 ± 0.33
Cold-exposure	19.16 ± 0.14	18.82 ± 0.13	18.99 ± 0.10	22.67 ± 0.10	21.04 ± 0.05	20.00 ± 0.12
geNorm M value	0.263	0.202	0.214	0.173	0.178	0.183

	8°C		6°	6°C		C	4°C	
		Cold-		Cold-		Cold-		Cold-
	Control	exposure	Control	exposure	Control	exposure	Control	exposure
Study 1								
hsp90aa1a	29.7 ± 0.2	30.6 ± 0.1	$29.7 \hspace{0.2cm} \pm \hspace{0.2cm} 0.1$	$29.4 \hspace{0.2cm} \pm \hspace{0.2cm} 0.1$	30.0 ± 0.1	$29.1 \hspace{0.2cm} \pm \hspace{0.2cm} 0.2$	30.2 ± 0.1	27.3 ± 0.2
hsp90aa1b	29.3 ± 0.1	30.6 ± 0.2	29.6 ± 0.2	29.0 ± 0.2	30.2 ± 0.1	$28.6 \hspace{0.2cm} \pm \hspace{0.2cm} 0.2$	30.2 ± 0.2	27.5 ± 0.2
eif3d rpl32	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$							
Study 2								
hsp70c	$24.8 \hspace{0.2cm} \pm \hspace{0.2cm} 0.1$	25.8 ± 0.2	24.3 ± 0.1	24.3 ± 0.1	25.0 ± 0.1	23.8 ± 0.1	24.6 ± 0.1	23.0 ± 0.1
hsp70d	18.8 ± 0.1	19.2 ± 0.1	18.7 ± 0.1	18.9 ± 0.1	19.0 ± 0.0	18.7 ± 0.1	19.0 ± 0.1	18.3 ± 0.1
eif3d rpl32 Study 2	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$							
Study 5								
hsp70a	27.1 ± 0.1	28.2 ± 0.2	27.6 ± 0.1	28.2 ± 0.1	27.7 ± 0.1	27.7 ± 0.2	28.4 ± 0.1	28.1 ± 0.1
hsp70b	28.3 ± 0.2	29.1 ± 0.1	27.8 ± 0.1	27.3 ± 0.1	28.8 ± 0.1	27.7 ± 0.1	28.1 ± 0.1	27.0 ± 0.1
eif3d rpl32	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$							
Study 4								
hsp90ab1a	19.4 ± 0.1	20.1 ± 0.1	19.6 ± 0.1	19.8 ± 0.1	19.9 ± 0.0	19.6 ± 0.1	19.9 ± 0.1	19.4 ± 0.1
hsp90ab1b	22.0 ± 0.1	22.5 ± 0.1	22.0 ± 0.1	22.1 ± 0.1	22.4 ± 0.0	$21.9 \hspace{0.2cm} \pm \hspace{0.2cm} 0.1$	22.2 ± 0.1	21.6 ± 0.1
eif3d rpl32 Study 5	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$							
sindy 5	30.5 ± 0.1	21.0 ± 0.1	20.5 ± 0.1	20.1 ± 0.1	21.2 ± 0.1	30.6 ± 0.1	30.8 ± 0.1	20.6 ± 0.0
serninh l	30.2 ± 0.1 30.2 ± 0.2	30.8 ± 0.1	30.3 ± 0.1 27.6 + 0.3	30.1 ± 0.1 28.6 + 0.2	31.0 ± 0.1	30.0 ± 0.1 29.9 + 0.1	30.8 ± 0.1 27.9 ± 0.2	29.0 ± 0.0 28.5 ± 0.2
oif3d	20.2 ± 0.2	21.0 ± 0.2	27.0 ± 0.3 20.7 ± 0.1	20.0 ± 0.2 20.7 ± 0.0	21.0 ± 0.1	20.9 ± 0.1	21.0 ± 0.2	20.3 ± 0.2
rpl32	17.9 ± 0.1	18.1 ± 0.0	18.0 ± 0.1	18.0 ± 0.0	18.1 ± 0.0	18.1 ± 0.1	18.2 ± 0.1	17.8 ± 0.0

Table S6. C_T values (mean \pm s.e.m.) obtained for the TOIs and normalizers (eif3d and rpl32) in the 5 experimental qPCR studies. For each qPCR study, 2 TOIs and the 2 normalizers were assessed across 4 linked plates.

Table S6. continued

Table So. Contin			1			
	3°C		2	°C	1	°C
	Control	Cold-exposure	Control	Cold-exposure	Control	Cold-exposure
Study 1						
hsp90aa1a	27.1 ± 0.4	28.6 ± 0.1	30.4 ± 0.2	26.4 ± 0.3	30.1 ± 0.1	25.7 ± 0.4
hsp90aa1b	27.6 ± 0.3	28.4 ± 0.1	30.3 ± 0.2	26.8 ± 0.2	30.0 ± 0.1	26.3 ± 0.2
eif3d	22.1 ± 0.1	22.3 ± 0.0	22.7 ± 0.3	22.0 ± 0.1	22.5 ± 0.1	22.2 ± 0.1
<i>rpl32</i> Study 2	19.8 ± 0.1	20.0 ± 0.1	20.4 ± 0.2	19.7 ± 0.1	20.3 ± 0.1	20.0 ± 0.1
hsp70c	23.1 ± 0.2	$23.6 \hspace{0.2cm} \pm \hspace{0.2cm} 0.2$	$24.8 \hspace{0.2cm} \pm \hspace{0.2cm} 0.3$	22.4 ± 0.2	$24.2 \hspace{0.2cm} \pm \hspace{0.2cm} 0.1$	22.2 ± 0.2
hsp70d	18.3 ± 0.1	18.6 ± 0.1	19.2 ± 0.2	18.0 ± 0.1	18.7 ± 0.1	18.1 ± 0.1
eif3d	22.6 ± 0.1	$22.8 \hspace{0.2cm} \pm \hspace{0.2cm} 0.1$	23.3 ± 0.2	22.6 ± 0.1	23.1 ± 0.1	22.8 ± 0.1
<i>rpl32</i> Study 3	19.6 ± 0.1	19.8 ± 0.1	20.2 ± 0.2	19.5 ± 0.1	20.1 ± 0.1	19.9 ± 0.1
hsp70a	27.9 ± 0.1	28.3 ± 0.1	28.0 ± 0.3	27.9 ± 0.1	27.6 ± 0.1	28.1 ± 0.1
hsp70b	26.4 ± 0.3	27.2 ± 0.1	28.6 ± 0.3	26.1 ± 0.2	$27.9 \hspace{0.2cm} \pm \hspace{0.2cm} 0.1$	26.5 ± 0.4
eif3d	21.0 ± 0.1	21.2 ± 0.1	22.3 ± 0.5	21.2 ± 0.2	$21.6 \hspace{0.2cm} \pm \hspace{0.2cm} 0.1$	21.6 ± 0.3
<i>rpl32</i> Study 4	18.6 ± 0.1	18.8 ± 0.1	19.7 ± 0.3	18.7 ± 0.1	19.1 ± 0.1	20.2 ± 0.8
hsp90ab1a	19.1 ± 0.1	19.3 ± 0.1	19.9 ± 0.2	18.9 ± 0.1	19.3 ± 0.1	18.9 ± 0.1
hsp90ab1b	21.2 ± 0.1	21.6 ± 0.1	22.2 ± 0.2	21.2 ± 0.1	21.9 ± 0.1	21.2 ± 0.1
eif3d	22.3 ± 0.1	22.6 ± 0.1	23.1 ± 0.3	22.3 ± 0.1	22.7 ± 0.1	22.4 ± 0.1
<i>rpl32</i> Study 5	19.5 ± 0.1	19.7 ± 0.1	20.2 ± 0.2	19.4 ± 0.1	19.8 ± 0.1	19.6 ± 0.1
cirbp	29.2 ± 0.1	29.5 ± 0.1	31.2 ± 0.3	29.7 ± 0.1	31.3 ± 0.1	30.4 ± 0.1
serpinh1	28.9 ± 0.3	28.8 ± 0.2	28.9 ± 0.2	29.3 ± 0.3	30.5 ± 0.1	29.4 ± 0.3
eif3d	20.3 ± 0.1	20.5 ± 0.1	21.1 ± 0.2	20.3 ± 0.1	21.0 ± 0.1	20.7 ± 0.1
rpl32	17.7 ± 0.1	17.9 ± 0.1	18.6 ± 0.2	17.8 ± 0.1	18.4 ± 0.1	18.2 ± 0.1

hsp90aala	ATGCCGGAAGCCCATGACACCCCGATGGAGGAAGAGGCAGAGACCTTTGCCTTCCAGGCT						
hsp90aalb	ATGGAGGAGGAGGAGAGACCTTTGCCTTCCAGGCT	36					
hsp90ab1a	ATGCCTGAAGAAATGCGCCAAGAGGAGGAGGCTGAGACCTTTGCCTTCCAGGCA	54					
hsp90ab1b	ATGCCTGAAGAAATGCGCCAAGAGGAGGAGGAGGACCTTTGCCTTCCAGGCA	54					
_	**** *******************						
hsp90aala	GAGATCGCCCAGCTGATGTCCCTGATCATCAACACTTTCTACTCAAACAAA	120					
hsp90aa1b	GAGATCGCCCAGCTGATGTCCCTGATCATCAACACATTCTACTCCAACAAAGAGATCTTC	96					
hsp90ab1a	GAGATCGCTCAGCTCATGTCCCTGATCATCAACACCTTTTATTCCAACAAGGAAATCTTC	114					
hsp90ab1b	GAGATTGCTCAGCTCATGTCCCCTGATCAACACCCTTTTATTCCAACAAGGAAATCTTT	114					
	**** ** ***** *************************						
hsp90aa1a	CTTAGGGAGCTCATCTCCAACTCTTCAGATGCTCTAGACAAAATCCGCTATGAGAGCCTC	180					
hsp90aa1b	CTCAGGGAGCTCATCTCTAACTCCTCAGATGCTCTGGACAAAATCCGCTATGAGAGCCTG	156					
hsp90ab1a	CTCAGGGAGTTGATTTCCAATGCATCTGATGCTTTGGACAAAATCCGATACGAAAGTCTG	174					
hsp90ab1b	CTCAGGGAGTTGATCTCCAATGCCTCTGATGCTTTGGACAAAATCCGCTATGAAAGTCTG	174					
L	** ***** * ** ** ** * ** ** ****** * ****						
hsp90aa1a	ACAGACCCATCCAAGATGGACTCTGGCAAGGACCTGAAGATCGAGGTCATTCCCAACAAG	240					
hsp90aalb	ACAGACCCGACCAAGATGGACTCTGGCAAGGACCTGAAGATCGAGGTCATTCCCAACAAG	216					
hsp90ab1a	ACGGACCCCACCAAGCTGGACAACGGCAAGGAACTGAAGATTGACGTCATCCCCAATGTG	234					
hsp90ab1b	ACGGACCCCACCAAGCTGGACAATGGCAAGGAATTGAAGATCGACATCATCCCCAATGTG	234					
-	** **** ***** ***** ****** ****** ** **						
hsp90aala	GAGGAGCGCACCCTGACCCTGGTTGACACCGGCATCGGCATGACCAAGGCCGACCTAATC	300					
hsp90aa1b	GAGGAGCGCACCCTGACCTTGGTTGACACCGGCATCGGCATGACCAAGGCTGACCTCATC	276					
hsp90ab1a	GAGGAGCGCACCCTGACCCTAATCGACACTGGAATTGGCATGACCAAAGCTGACCTCATC	294					
hsp90ab1b	GAGGACCGTACCCTGACCCTCATCGACACTGGAATTGGCATGACCAAAGCTGACCTCATC	294					
-	**** ** ******* * * ***** ** ** *******						
hsp90aa1a	AACAACCTGGGAACCATTGCAAAGTCTGGCACCAAGGCCTTCATGGAGGCCCTGCAGGCT	360					
hsp90aalb	AACAACCTTGGAACCATCGCCAAGTCTGGCACCAAGGCCTTCATGGAGGCCCTGCAGGCT	336					
hsp90ab1a	AACAACCTGGGAACCATCGCGAAGTCTGGCACCAAGGCCTTCATGGAGGCCCTGCAGGCT	354					
hsp90ab1b	AACAACCTGGGAACTATTGCCAAGTCTGGCACCAAGGCCTTCATGGAGGCCCTGCAGGCT	354					
	****** ***** ** ** ** *****************						
hsp90aa1a	GGAGCAGACATCTCCATGATCGGACAGTTCGGTGTGGGTTTCTACTCTGCCTACCTGGTG	420					
hsp90aa1b	GGAGCTGACATCTCTATGATTGGGCAGTTCGGAGTGGGTTTCTACTCCGCCTACCTGGTG	396					
hsp90ab1a	GGAGCTGACATCTCCATGATTGGGCAGTTTGGTGTGGGTTTCTACTCTGCCTACCTGGTG	414					
hsp90ab1b	GGAGCTGACATCTCCATGATTGGGCAGTTCGGTGTGGGATTCTACTCTGCCTACCTGGTG	414					
-	**** ******* ***** ** ***** ** ***** ** ****						
hsp90aala	GCTGAGAGGGTGACTGTCATCACCAAGCACAATGATGATGAGCAGTACATCTGGGAATCA	480					
hsp90aa1b	GCTGAGAGGGTGACTGTCATCACCAAGCACAACGATGATGAGCAGTACATCTGGGAATCC	456					
hsp90ab1a	GCCGAGAGGGTGACTGTCATCACTAAGCACAACGATGATGAGCAGTACATCTGGGAGTCC	474					
hsp90ab1b	GCAGAAAGAGTGACCGTCATCACCAAGCACAATGATGACGAGCAGTACATCTGGGAGTCT	474					
-	** ** ** ***** ****** ****** ***** *****						
hsp90aala	TCCGCTGGCGGATCCTTCACCGTCAAAGTCGACACGTCAGCTGAGTCTATTGGTCGTGGG	540					
hsp90aalb	TCTGCTGGCGGATCCTTCACCGTCAAAGTCGACACGTCAGCTGAGTCTATTGGTCGTGGC	516					
hsp90ab1a	TCAGCCGGAGGCTCCTTCACAGTCAAGGTCGACACTGGGGAGCCCATGTTGCGTGGA	531					
hsp90ab1b	TCAGCCGGAGGCTCATTCACAGTGAAGGTCGACAGTGGGGAGCCCATGTTGCGTGGA	531					
	** ** ** ** ** ***** ** ** ******* *** ***	~~±					
hsp90aala	ACCAAGGTGATTCTGTACCTGAAGGAAGACCAGACAGAATACTGTGAGGAGAAACGGGTC	600					
hsp90aa1b	ACCAAGGTGATTCTGTACCTGAAGGATGACCAGACAGAATATTGTGAGGAGAAAACGGGTC	576					
hsp90ab1a	ACTAAGGTGATTCTGCACATGAAGGAGGAGCAGGACGAGGAGTATGTTGAGGAAAAAAGGGTC	591					
hsp90ab1b	ACTAAGGTGATTCTACACATGAAGGAGGACCAGACTGAGTATGTTGAGGAGAAGAGGGTC	591					
7	** ******** ** ****** *****************						
hsp90aala hsp90aalb hsp90abla hsp90ablb	AAAGAGATCGTGAAGAAGCACTCCCAGTTCATCGGATATCCCATCACACTCTTTGTGGAG AAAGAAATTGTGAAGAAGCACTCCCAGCTCATCGGATACCCCATCACACTCTTTGTGGAG AAGGAGGTGGTCAAGAAGCACTCTCAGTTCATTGGATATCCCATCACCCTCTTCGTTGAG AAGGAGGTGGTCAAGAAGCACTCTCAGTTCATTGGATATCCCATCACACTTTTCGTTGAA ** ** * ** *********** *** **** ****	660 636 651 651					
--	--	--------------------------					
hsp90aala	AAGGAGCGTGACAAGGAAGTGAGTGACGATGAGGCAGAGGAGGAGAGGAGAAGGAGAAG	720					
hsp90aalb	AAGGAGCGTGACAAGGAAGTGAGCGATGATGAGGCGGAGGAGGAGGAGAAGGAGAAGAAG	696					
hsp90ab1a	AAGGAGCGTGAAAAGGAGATCAGTGATGATGAGGAGGAGAAGGCAGAGGAGGAGAAAGAG	711					
hsp90ab1b	AAGGAGCGTGAAAAAGAGATCAGTGATGATGAGGAGGAGGAGAAGAGGAGGAGGAGGAGGA	711					
hsp90aala	GATGGGGAAGAAGGAGAGAGAGAGAGAGGTTGACAAACCCGAGATCGAGGACG <mark>TAGGCTCA</mark>	780					
hsp90aa1b	GATGGGGAAGGAGAGGAGGACAAACCTGATATCGAGGACGTAGGCTCG	744					
hsp90ab1a	GAGAAGGAGGCAGAGGACAAGCCCAAGATCGAGGACGTTG <mark>GCTCT</mark>	756					
hsp90ab1b	GAAAAGGCGGAGGCTGAGGACAAGCCCAAAATTGAGGACGTGGGCTCA	759					
	* * * * * *********************						
hsp90aa1a	GACGAGGAGGATGACCATGACCAGCGCATGCGGTGACAAGAAGAAG	831					
hsp90aa1b	GATGAGGAGGATGACCATGATCATGGC <mark>CACGATGGCGCATGTGGG</mark> GACAAGAAGAAGAAG	804					
hsp90ab1a	<mark>GATGACGA</mark> GGAGGACTCCAAAGACAAGGACAAGAAA	792					
hsp90ab1b	GATGATGAGGAGGATTCCAAAGACAAGGACAAGAAGA	795					
-	** ** * * * * * * * *****						
hsp90aala		891					
hsp90aa1h		864					
hsp90aalo		852					
hsp90ab1a		855					
11329904010	* ** **********************************	000					
hsp90aa1a	CTGTGGACCCGTAACCCTGATGACATCACCAACGAGGAGTATGGAGAGTTCTACAAGAGT	951					
hsp90aalb	CTTTGGACTCGTAACCCTGATGACATCACCAACGAGGAGTACGGAGAGTTCCACAAGAGC	924					
hsp90ab1a	ATTTGGAC <mark>CAGAAACCCTGACGACATCA</mark> CCATGGAGGAGTACGGAGAGTTCTACAAGAGC	912					
hsp90ab1b	AT <mark>CTGGACCAGGAACCCTGATG</mark> ACATCACCATGGAGGAGTACGGGGAGTTCTACAAGAGC * ***** * ******* ******** ********	915					
han 00a a 1a		011					
hap00aala		001					
her Ooshis		904					
nsp90abla		972					
nspyvabib	CIGACCAATGACIGGG <mark>AGGACCACCIIGCAGICAAG</mark> CACIICICAGIGGAGGGCCAGCIG ******* ** ******* ** ****** * ********	915					
hsp90aala	GAGTTCCGTGCCCTGCTCTTTGTGCCTCGCCGTGCACCCTTTGACCTCTTTGAAAACAAG1	.071					
hsp90aa1b	GAGTTCCGTGCATTGCTCTTTGTGCCTCGCCGTGCACCCTTTGACCTCTTTGAGAACAAG1	044					
hsp90ab1a	GAGTTCCGTGCTCTCCTCTTTATCCCCCGCCGTGCACCCTTTGACCTCTTTGAGAACAAG1	.032					
hsp90ab1b	GAGTTCCGCGCCCTGCTCTTTATCCCACGCCGCGCGCCCCTTTGACCTCTTTGAGAACAAA1 ******** ** * ****** * ** ***** ** *****	.035					
h === 0.0 = = 1 =		1 2 1					
nspyuaala	AAGAAGAAGAACAATATCAAGUTGTATGTCAGGAGGGTCTTCATCATGGACAACTGTGAT	101					
nspyUaalb		.104					
hap00ab1a		.092					
nspyvabib	AAGAAGAAGAATAAUATUAAGUTGTATGTUAGGAGGGTUTTUATUATGGAUAGUTGTGAAA ********** ** ** ** ******* ********	.095					
hsp90aala	GATCTTATCCCTGAGTACCTCAACTTCATCAAGGGTGTGGTGGACTCTGAGGATCTCCCC1	.191					
hsp90aa1b	GATCTGATCCCTGAGTACCTCAACTTCATCAAGGGTGTGGTGGACTCTGAGGATCTCCCC1	164					
hsp90ab1a	GAGCTCATCCCAGAGTACCTGAATTTTGTGCGTGGTGTGGTAGACTCTGAGGATCTCCCC1	152					
hsp90ab1b	GAGCTCATCCCGGAGTACCTGAGTAATGTGCGTGGTGGTGGGGACTCTGAGGATCTCCCC1	155					
-	** ** ***** ***** * * *******						

hsp90aala hsp90aalb	CTGAACATCTCCAGAGAGATGCTGCAGCAGAGCAAGATCCTCAAGGTGATCCGCAAGAAC1251 CTGAACATCTCCAGAGAGATGCTGCAGCAGGAGCAAGATCCTCAAGGTGATCCGCAAGAAC1224
hsp90ab1a	CTGAACATCTCCCGAGAGATGCTGCAGCAGAGCAAGATCCTCAAGGTGATCCGCAAGAAC1212
hsp90ab1b	CTGAACATCTCCCGAGAGATGCTGCAACAGAGCAAGATCCTCAAGGTCATCCGCAAGAAC1215 ***********************************
hsp90aala	CTGGTCAAGAAGTGTATAGAGCTCTTCACTGAGCTCTCAGAGGACAAAGAAAACTACAAG1311
hsp90aalb	CTGGTCAAGAAGTGTATAGAGCTTTTTCACAGAACTCTCAGAGGGACAGAGATAACTACAAG1284
hsp90abia	
1150904010	* ************ ***** *** ** ** ** ******
hsp90aa1a	AAGTACTACGAGCAGTTCTCCAAGAACATCAAGCTGGGGATCCATGAGGACTCTCAGAAC1371
hsp90aalb	AAGTACTACGAGCAGTTCTCAAAGAACATCAAGCTGGGTATCCATGAGGACTCTCAGAAC1344
hsp90ab1a	AAGTTCTATGATGGCTTCTCCAAGAACCTCAAGCTGGGCATCCACGAGGACTCCCAGAAC1332
hsp90ab1b	AAGTTTTACGATGGCTTCTCCAAGAACCTCAAGCTGGGGATCCACGAGGACTCCCAAAAC1335 **** ** ** **** ** **
hsp90aala	CGTAAGAGGCTGTCAGACATGCTGCGCTACTACACCTCAGCCTCAGGGGACGAGATGGTC1431
hsp90aalb	CGTAAGAGGCTGTCAGACATGCTGCGCTACTACACCTCAGCCTCAGGGGACGAGATGGTT1404
hsp90ab1a	CGCAAGAAGCTGTCGGAGCTGCTGCGCTACCACAGTTCTCAGTCCGGAGATGAGCTGACC1392
hsp90ab1b	CGCAAGAAGCTGTCCGAGCTGCTGCGCTACCACAGCTCCCAGTCCGGAGATGAGCTGACC1395 ** **** ****************************
hsp90aa1a	TCCCTCAAAGACTACGTCACACGCATGAAGGAAACCCAGAAACATATCTACTACATCACT1491
hsp90aalb	TCCCTGAAGGACCACGTCACACGCATGAAGGACACCCAGAAACACATCTACTACATCACT1464
hsp90ab1a	TCCCTCACGGAGTACCTCACCCGCATGAAGGACAACCAGAAATCCATCTATTACATCACT1452
hsp90ab1b	TCCCTCACAGAGTACCTCACCCGCATGAAGGACAATCAAAAATCCATCTACTATATAACC1455 ***** * ** ** ** *** **************
hsp90aala	GGCGAGACCAGAGACCAGGTGGCTAACTCTGCATTCGTGGAACGCCTTCGAAAGGCCGGC1551
hsp90aalb	GGCGAGACCAAAGACCAGGTGGCCAACTCTGCGTTCGTGGAGCGCCTTCGCAAGGCCGGC1524
hsp90ab1a	GGCGAGAGCAAGGACCAGGTGGCCAACTCTGCCTTTGTGGAGCGTGTGCGCAAGCGAGGA1512
hsp90ab1b	GGTGAGAGCAAGGACCAGGTGGCCAACTCCGCCTTTGTGGAACGTGTGCGCAAGCGTGGC1515 ** **** ** *********** ***** ** ** ** *
hsp90aa1a	CTGGAAGTAATCTACATGATTGAGCCCATTGATGAGTACTGTGTCCAGCAGCTGAAGGAG1611
hsp90aalb	CTGGAGGTGATCTACATGATTGAGCCCATTGATGAGTACTGTGTCCAGCAGCTGAAGGAG1584
hsp90ab1a	TTCGAGGTCCTGTACATGACGGAGCCCATTGACGAGTACTGTGTCCAGCAGCTGAAGGAG1572
hsp90ab1b	TTCGAGGTCCTGTACATGACGGAGCCCATCGACGAGTACTGCGTCCAGCAGCTGAAGGAG1575 * ** ** * ******* ******* ** ******** ****
hsp90aala	TATGACGGCAAGACCCTTGTCTCTGTGACCAAGGAGGGTCTGGAGCTGCCTGAGGACGAG1671
hsp90aa1b	TACGATGGCAAGAACCTGGTCTCTGTGACCAAGGAGGGTCTGGAGCTGCCTGAGGATGAG1644
hsp90ab1a	TTTGACGGCAAGACCTTGGTCTCCGTGACCAAGGAGGGCCTGGAGCTGCCGGAGGACGAG1632
hsp90ab1b	TTTGATGGTAAAACCCTGGTCTCTGTAACCAAGGAGGGCTTGGAGCTGCCTGAGGATGAG1635 * ** ** ** * * * * ****** ** *********
hsp90aa1a	GACATGAAGAAGAGGCATGAAGAGCAGAAATCTCAGTTTGAGAACCTCTGCAAGATCATG1731
hsp90aa1b	GGCATGAAGAAGAGACAGGAAGAGCAGAAGACTCTCAGTTTGAGAACCTCTGCAAGATCATG1704
hsp90ab1a	GAGGAGAAGAAGAAGATGGATGAGGACAAGACAAAGTTCGAGAACCTCTGCAAGCTCATG1692
hsp90ab1b	GAGGAGAAGAAGAAGATGGAGGAGGAGGACAAGACGAGGTTTGAGAACCTCTGCAAGCTCATG1695 * ******* ** ** ** ** ** ************
hsp90aa1a	AAGGACATCTTGGAGAAGAAGTGGAGAAGGTGACAGTGTCCAACCGCCTGGTCTCCTCT1791
hsp90aa1b	AAGGACATCCTGGAGAAGAAAGTTGAGAAGGTGACAGTGTCCAACCGCCTGGTCTCC1764
hsp90ab1a	AAGGAGATTCTGGACAAGAAAGTAGAGAAGGTGACCGTGTCAAACAGGCTGGTGTCGTCG1752
hsp90ab1b	AAGGAGATCCTGGACAAGAAAGTAGAGAAGGTAACTGTGTCAAACAGGCTGGTGTCATCG1755 ***** ** ***** ********************

hsp90aala	
her Oleh 1e	
h an OO ah 1h	
nsp90ab1b	CUUTGUTGUATUGTGAUUAGUAUGTATUGUTUGGAUUGUUAAUATUGGAUUGUATUATUAAG1815 ****** **** ************ ** **********
hsp90aala	GCCCAGGCCCTGAGGGACAATTCCACCATGGGCTACATGGCTGCCAAGAAGCACCTGGAG1911
hsp90aalb	GCCCAGGCCCTAAGGGACAACTCTACCATGGGCTACATGGCTGCCAAGAAGCACCTGGAG1884
hsp90ab1a	GCACAGGCCCTGAGGGACAACTCCACCATGGGCTACATGATGGCCAAGAAACACCTGGAG1872
hsp90ab1b	GCACAGGCCCTGAGGGACAACTCCACAATGGGCTACATGATGGCCAAGAAGCATCTGGAG1875 ** ******* ******* ** ** ** **********
hsp90aala	ATCAACCCAGACCACCCCATCGTGGAGACCCTGAGGCAGAAGGCAGAGGCTGATAAGAAT1971
hsp90aalb	ATCAACCCAGACCACCCAATCGTGGAGAACCCTGAGGAAGAAGGCAGAGGCTGATAAGAAT1944
hsp90ab1a	ATCAACCCGGACCACCCCATCGTGGAGACCCTGAGGCAGAAGGCTGACCTGGACAAGAAT1932
hsp90ab1b	ATCAACCCAGACCACCCCATTGTGGAGACCCTAAGGCAGAAGGCTGACCTGGACAAGAAT1935 ******* ******* ** ******************
hsp90aala	GATAAGTCAGTGAAGGACCTGGTCCTTCTGCTGTTTGAAACGGCTCTGTTGTCCTCTGGG2031
hsp90aalb	GATAAGTCTGTGAAGGACCTGGTCATTCTGCTGTTTGAGACGGCTCTGCTGTCCTCTGGG2004
hsp90ab1a	GACAAGGCGGTGAAGGACCTGGTAATCCTGCTTTTCGAGACCGCTCTCCTCTCCTCTGGC1992
hsp90ab1b	GACAAGGCGGTGAAGGACTTAGTCATCCTATTGTTCGAGACGGCATTGCTCTCTCGGGC1995 ** *** * ******** * ** * ** * ** ** **
hsp90aa1a	TTCACCTTGGATGACCCTCAGACACACTCCAACCGCATCTACAGAATGATCAAGCTAGGA2091
hsp90aalb	TTCACCTTGGATGACCCTCAGACACCTCCAACCGAATCTACCGGATGATTAAGCTAGGC2064
hsp90ab1a	TTCAGCCTGGATGACCCTCAAACTCACTCCAACCGCATCTACAGGATGATCAAGCTGGGC2052
hsp90ab1b	TTCAGCCTGGATGACCCCCAGACTCACTCCAACCGCATCTACAGGATGATCAAGCTGGGC2055 **** * ****************************
hsp90aala	CTGGGTATTGACGAGGATGACCTGACCCCGAGGAGCCAACCTTAGCCCCTGTGGAGGA-2150
hsp90aa1b	CTGGGTATTGACGAGGATGAGCAGACCCCTGAGGAGCCAACTTCAGCCCCCGTCGAGGG-2123
hsp90ab1a	CTGGGAATCGATGATGACGAAGTGATCCCTGAGGAGCCCACCTCTGCACCTGCCCCAGAT2112
hsp90ab1b	CTGGGAATCGATGATGAAGTGAAGTGATCCCTGAGGAGCCCACCTCTGCACCCGCCCCAGAT2115 ***** ** ** ** ** ** ** ** ** *** ******
hsp90aala	CATGCCTCCCCTGGAGGGAGACGAGGACACATCCAGGATGGAGGAGGTTGACTAG 2205
hsp90aalb	CATGCCTCCACTAGAGGGAGACGAGGACACATCCAGGATGGAGGAGGTTGACTAG 2178
hsp90ab1a	GAGATCCCACCTCTAGAGGGAGATGACGATGCGTCACGCATGGAGGAAGTGGATTAG 2169
hsp90ab1b	GAGATCCCACCTCTAGAGGGAGATGATGACGCTTCACGCATGGAGGAAGTGGATTAG 2172

Figure S6. Alignment of the coding sequences for the four cytosolic heat shock protein 90 paralogue cDNAs from Atlantic salmon included in the qPCR studies (hsp90aa1a, hsp90aa1b, hsp90ab1a, and hsp90ab1b). Nucleotide sequences were aligned using the multiple sequence alignment tool Clustal Omega (<u>https://www.ebi.ac.uk/Tools/msa/clustalo/</u>). Identical nucleotide pairs in all four sequences at a given position are identified by an asterisk (*), and gaps are indicated by a dash (-). The sequences of the primers used in the qPCR studies are highlighted in yellow (forward) and in blue (reverse).

hsp70a	ATGTCTAAAGGACCAGCAGTAGGCATTGACCTGGGGACCACATACTCCTGTGTG	54
hsp70b	ATGTCATCAGCTAAAGGCCCGTCTATCGGCATTGACCTGGGCACCACCTACTCCTGTGTG	60
hsp70c	ATGTCAAAGGGACCAGCAGTTGGCATTGACCTGGGCACCACCTACTCCTGTGTG	54
hsp70d	ATGTCTAAGGGACCAGCAGTCGGCATCGATCTCGGGACCACCTACTCCTGTGTG * ** ** ** * * * ** ** ** ** ** ** ** *	54
hsp70a	GGCATCTTTCAGCATGGCAAGGTGGAGATCATCGCCAACGACCAGGGCAACAGAACCACA	114
hsp70b	GGGGTGTTCCAGCATGGCAAAGTGGAGATCATCGCCAACGACCAGGGCAACAGGACCACA	120
hsp70c	GGTGTGTTTCAGCATGGCAAAGTGGAGATCATAGCCAACGACCAGGGAAACAGGACCACA	114
hsp70d	GGTGTGTTCCAGCATGGCAAGGTTGAAATCATTGCCAACGACCAGGGCAACAGGACCACT ** * ** *************************	114
hsp70a	CCCAGCTATGTGGCCTTCACCGACACGGAGAGGCTGATCGGTGACGCCGCCAAGAACCAG	174
hsp70b	CCCAGCTATGTGGCCTTCACAGACACCGAGAGACTCATCGGAGACGCAGCAAAGAACCAG	180
hsp70c	CCCAGTTATGTCGCCTTCACAGACACAGAAAGGCTGATTGGGGACGCAGCCAAGAACCAA	174
hsp70d	CCAAGCTACGTTGCCTTCACTGACTCTGAGAGGCTAATCGGGGATGCTGCTAAGAATCAG ** ** ** ** ******** *** * ** ** ** **	174
hsp70a	GTGGCCATGAACCCCACCAACACTGTGTTCGATGCCAAGCGTCTAATTGGTCGTAAGTTT	234
hsp70b	GTGGCCATGAACCCCAACAACACCGTTTTTGACGCCAAACGCCTGATTGGCCGAAAGTTC	240
hsp70c	GTGGCCATGAACCCCACAAACACAGTGTTTGATGCTAAGCGGCTGATAGGGCGGAAGTTT	234
hsp70d	GTTGCCATGAACCCCTGCAACACAGTATTCGATGCTAAGAGACTGATTGGCCGCAGGTTT ** *********** ***** ** ** ** ** ** **	234
hsp70a	GATGATGCCGTGGTACAGTCGGACATGAAGCACTGGCCCTTCACA <mark>GTGGTGAGCGATGGT</mark>	294
hsp70b	AACGATCAGGTCGTGCAAGCCGACATGAAGCACTGGCCCTTCAAG <mark>GTGGTCAGCGACGGA</mark>	300
hsp70c	GACGACAGTGTCGTCCAGGCAGACATGAAACACTGGCCGTTTAC <mark>AGTGATCAACGACTCG</mark>	294
hsp70d	GATGATGGAGTTGTTCAATCGGACATGAAGCATTGGCCCTTTGAA <mark>GTTATCAATGATTCT</mark> * **	294
hsp70a	<mark>GGCAA</mark> GCCCAAGATGGAGGTAGAGTACAAGGGAGAGAGGAAGACCTTTTTCCCTGAGGAG	354
hsp70b	<mark>GGAAA</mark> GCCTAAAGTTCAGGTAGATTACAAAGGTGAGAACAAATCCTTCAACCCAGAGGAG	360
hsp70c hsp70d	ACACGGCCCAAGGTCCAAGTGGAGTACAAGGGAGAGACCAAGGCCTTCTACCCAGAGGAG ACTCGGCCTAAGCTCCAAGTTGAATACAAAGGCGAGACTAAGTCATTCTACCCAGAAGAA *** ** * * * ** ** ***** ** **** **	354 354
hsp70a	GTGTCCTCCATGGTGCTCACCAAAATGAAGGAGATCTCTGAAGCTTATCTGGGC <mark>AAGCCA</mark>	414
hsp70b	ATCTCCTCCATGGTCCTGGTGAAGATGAGGGAGATCGCTGAGGCTTACCTGGGC <mark>CAGAAG</mark>	420
hsp70c	ATCTCCTCCATGGTGCTGGTCAAGATGAAGGAGATTGCAGAGGCCTACCTGGG <mark>CAAGACT</mark>	414
hsp70d	ATTTCATCCATGGTTCTGGTCAAGATGAAGGAGATTGCTGAGGCCTACCTT <mark>GGAAAAACT</mark> * ** ******* ** ** ** ***** ***** * ** ** ** ** ** **	414
hsp70a	GTGAACAATGCTGTC	474
hsp70b	GTGTCCAATGCAGTC	480
hsp70c	ATAACCAATGCAGTGGTCACTGTGCCAGCTTACTTCAACGACTCTCAGCGCCAGGCCACC	474
hsp70d	GTCAACAATGCAGTTGTTACCGTACCTGCCTACTTCAACGACTCCCAGCGCCAGGCAACC * ***** ** * * ** ** ** **********	474
hsp70a	AAAGATGCTGGAGTGATCTCTGGACTCAACGTCCTGCGCATCATCAACGAGCCCACCGCT	534
hsp70b	AAGGACGCTGGAGTGATCGCTGGGCTGAATGTGCTGAGAATCATCAACGAGCCCACTGCG	540
hsp70c	AAAGATGCAGGGACTATCTCAGGACTCAACGTACTCCGCATCATCAATGAGCCAACTGCT	534
hsp70d	AAAGATGCTGGTACCATCTCGGGGCTGAATGTGCTGCGTATCATCAATGAGCCAACTGCT ** ** ** ** ** ** ** ** ** ** ** ** **	534
hsp70a	GCAGCCATCGCCTATGGCCTGGACAAGAAGGTCGGGGGTGAGCGCAACGTCCTGATCTTC	594
hsp70b	GCAGCCATCGCCTACGGCATGGACAAAGGCATGTCCAGGGAACGCAACGTCCTGATTTTT	600
hsp70c	GCTGCTATCGCCTATGGCCTGGACAAGAAGGTGGGAGTGGAGAGAAACGTCCTAATCTTT	594
hsp70d	GCTGCCATTGCCTACGGCTTGGACAAGAAGGTCGGTGCTGAAAGGAATGTCCTTATCTTT	594
-	** ** ** **** *** ****** * ** ** ** **	

hsp70a	GACCTGGGCGGCGGCACCTTTGACGTGTCCATCCTGACCATCGAGGATGGCATCTTTGAG	654
hsp70b	GACCTGGGTGGGGGCACCTTTGACGTGTCCATCCTGACCATCGAGGATGGGATCTTTGAG	660
hsp70c	GACCTAGGCGGAGGTACGTTTGATGTGTCTATCCTGACCATCGAAGACGGGATCTTTGAG	654
hsp70d	GATCTGGGTGGCGGCACCTTTGACGTGTCCATCCTGACCATCGAGGATGGCATCTTTGAG	654
-	** ** ** ** ** ** ***** ***** *********	
hsp70a	GTGAAGTCCACTGCTGGTGACACCCACCTGGGAGGCGAGGACTTCGACAACCGCATGGTC	714
hsp70b	GTGAAGGCCACGGCTGGAGACACTCACCTGGGCGGGGGGGG	720
hsp70c	GTGAAGTCCACGGCCGGAGACACCCATCTTGGAGGAGAGGACTTCGACAACCGCATGGTC	714
hsp70d	GTCAAGTCCACTGCCGGAGACACCCATCTGGGTGGAGAAGACTTTGACAACCGCATGGTC	714
-	** *** **** ** ** ***** ** ** ** ** **	
hsp70a	AACCACTTCATCGGTGAGTTCAAGCGTAAATTCAAGAAGGACATCAGCGGCAACAAGCGT	774
hsp70b	AGTCACTTTGTGGAGGAGTTCAAGAGGAAACACAAGAAGGACATCAGCCAGAACAAGCGG	780
hsp70c	AACCACTTCATCTCTGAGTTCAAGCGCAAATACAAGAAGGACATCAGCGATAACAAGAGG	774
hsp70d	AACCACTTCATCGCGGAGTTCAAGCGCAAGTACAAGAAAGA	774
hsp70a	GCGGTGCGGCGCCTGCGCACTGCCTGTGAGCGGGCCAAGCGCACCCTCTCCTCCAGCACC	834
hsp70b	GCTCTGAGGAGGCTGAGGACAGCCTGCGAGAGGGCCAAGAGAACACTGTCCTCCAGCTCC	840
hsp70c	GCCGTGCGTCGTCTGCGCACCGCCTGTGAACGTGCCAAGCGCACCCTGTCCTCCAGTACC	834
hsp70d	GCTGTTCGCCGTCTCCGTACCGCATGTGAGAGGGCAAAGCGCACCCTGTCCTCCAGCACC	834
nop , oa	** * * * ** * ** ** ** ** * ** ** ** **	001
hsp70a	СААСССАССАТССАСАТТСАСТСССТСТАТСАСССТССАСТТСТАСАССТССАТТАСС	894
hen70h		900
hsp70c		200
hap70d		094
nsprou	** ******* ***** ***** * * ***** * * ****	094
hsp70a	AGGGCTCGCTTTGAGGAGCTCAACGCTGACCTGTTCCGCGGTACCCTGGAACCCGTGGAG	954
hsp70b	AGGGCTCGTTTTGAGGAGATGTGTTCCGACCTCTTCAGGGGAACCCTGGAGCCTGTGGAG	960
hsp70c	AGGGCTCGCTTTGAGGAGCTGAACGCTGACCTGTTCAGAGGCACCCTGGACCCCGTGGAG	954
hsp70d	AGGGCTCGCTTTGAGGAGCTCAATGCAGACCTTTTCCGTGGCACCCTTGACCCAGTGGAG ******* ******** * * ****** ** ** ******	954
hsp70a	AAGTCTATGAGAGATGCCAAAATGGACAAGGCCCAGATACACGACATCGTCCTGGTGGGA	1014
hsp70b	AAAGCCCTCGGGGATGCCAAGATGGACAAGGCCCAAATCCACGACGTCGTCCTGGTCGGA	1020
hsp70c	AAGTCTCTGAGGGACGCCAAGATGGACAAGGCCCAGGTTCACGACATCGTCCTAGTGGGA	1014
hsp70d	AAATCCCTCCGCGATGCCAAGATGGACAAAGCCCAGGTGCACGACATCGTTCTGGTCGGA ** * * * * ** ***** ****** ****** * ****	1014
h an 70 a		1074
hap702		1000
nsp/up		1080
nsp/Uc	GGCTCCACACGCATCCCCAAGATCCAAAAGTTGCTGCAGGACTTCTTCAATGGGAAGGAG	10/4
hsp/0d	GGCTCCACTCGTATCCCCAAGATCCAGAAACTGCTCCAAGATTTCTTCAACGGCAAAGAG ******* ** ********* **** ** * * ** **	10/4
hen70a		1134
hsp70h		11/0
hap702		110/
h an 70-1		1124
nsp/Ua	UTUAAUAAGAGUATUAAUUUUGAUGAAGUTGTGGUGTATGGUGUAGUTGTUCAGGCAGCU ** ***************** ** ** ** ** ** **	1134
hsp70a	ΑΤΩΤΤΑGCCGGTGACAAGTCAGAGAACGTGCAGGACCTGCTGCTGCTGCACACACA	1194
hsp70h		1200
hsp700	АТСТТОТСТООСОЛСЛАДСЯСТСТОКОВСКОТОСТОСТОСТОСТОСТОСТОСТОСТОСТОСТОСТОСТОС	1101
hsp70d		110/
115p700	** * * ** ******** ***** ** **********	1194

hsp70a	CTGTCCCTGGGTATTGAGACAGCTGGAGGGGTCATGACCGTGCTCATCAAGAGGAACACC	1254
hsp70b	CTGTCCCTGGGCATCGAAACCGCCGGAGGGGTCATGACCGCCCTGATCAAACGCAACACC	1260
hsp70c	CTGTCCCTGGGCATTGAGACGGCCGGAGGGGTCATGACCGTGCTCATCAAGAGGAACACC	1254
hsp70d		1254
1150700	******** ** ** ** ** ** ************ ** ****	1204
hsp70a	ACCATCCCCACCAAGCAGACCCAGACCTTCACAACATACTCAGAAAACCAACC	1314
hsp70b	ACCATCCCATCCAAACAGACCCAGACCTTCACCACTTACTCCGACAACCAGCCCGGGGTC	1320
hsp70c		1314
hsp70d		1314
1150700	****** **** ***** *********************	1014
hsp70a	CTCATCCAGGTGTATGAGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGG	1374
hsp70b	ATGATCCAGGTCTATGAGGGAGAGAGAGCCATGACCAAGGACAACAACCTCCTGGGGAAG	1380
hsp70c	CTCATTCAGGTATATGAGGGGGAAAGAGCCATGACCAAAGACAACCTACTGGGGAAG	1374
hsp70d	CTCATTCAGGTGTATGAGGGTGAGAGGGCCATGACCAAGGACAACAACCTGTTGGGCAAG * ** ***** ******* ** ** ** **********	1374
hsp70a	TTTGAGCTCACCGGAATCCCCCCTGCCCCAGGGGGGGCGTCCCCCAGATCGAGGTGACCTTT	1434
hsp70b	TTTGAGCTCTCTGGGATCCCCCCTGCCCCACGAGGAGTCCCTCAGATCGAGGTGACCTTT	1440
hsp70c	TTTGAGTTGTGTGGGATTCCACCAGCCCCCGGGGTGTGCCTCAGATCGAGGTCACCTTT	1434
hsp70d	TTTGAGCTGACTGGAATCCCCCCTGCACCTCGCGGTGTTCCTCAGATTGAGGTCACATTC ****** * ** ** ** ** ** ** ** ** ** **	1434
hsp70a	GACATTGACGCCAACGGCATCCTCAATGTGTCTGCGGTGGACAAGAGCACCGGCAAGGAG	1494
hsp70b	GACATCGACGCCAACGGCATTCTGAACGTATCAGCGGCTGGACAAGAGTACGGGCAAAGAG	1500
hsp70c		1/0/
hap70c		1494
nsp/ua	GACATCGATGCTAACGGCATCATGAATGTGTCTGCTGCTGACAAAAGCACTGGGAAGGAG ***** ** ** ******** * ** ** ** ** ** *	1494
hsp70a	AACAAGATCACCATCACCAATGACAAAGGACGTCTGACCAAGGAGGACATTGAGCGCATG	1554
hsp70b	AACAAGATCACCATCACCAACGACAAGGGCCGGCTCAGCAAAGAGGATATTGAGAGGATG	1560
hsp70c	AATAAGATCACCATCACCAATGACAAAGGTCGTCTGAGTAAGGAGGACATAGAGCGCATG	1554
hsp70d	AACAAGATCACCATCACCAATGATAAGGGTCGTCTGAGCAAGGAGGACATTGAGCGCATG ** *************** ** ** ** ** ** ** **	1554
hsp70a	GTGCAAGAGGCTGACCAGTACAGGGCTGAGGACGAGGCTCAGAAGGAGAAGGTCACAGCT	1614
hsp70b	GTGCAGGACGCTGACAAATACAAAGCTGAGGATGAAGCACAGAGGGGAGAAGATAGCAGCC	1620
hsp70c	GTCCAGGAGGCTGAACAGTACAAAGCTGCGGAGGTGTCCAGAGGGACAAGGTGGCGTCC	1614
hap70d		1614
nsp70a	** ** ** ***** * **** ** *** ** ** *** *** *** ****	1014
hsp70a	AAGAACTCACTGGAGTCCCTGGCCTTCAACATGAAGAGCACCGTGGATGACGAGAAGCTC	1674
hsp70b	AAGAACTCCCTGGAGTCGTACGCCTTCAATATGAAGAGCAGCGTGGAGGACGACAACATG	1680
hsp70c		1674
hsp70d	AAGAACTCACTAGAGTCCTATGCTTTCAACATGAAGTCTACTGTGGAGGATGAGAAACTG ***** ** ***** ** ***** ** ***** * *****	1674
hen70a	$CCCC \Delta \Delta \Delta \Delta C \Delta TC \Delta CCCCCCC \Delta CC \Delta C \Delta $	173/
hap704		1740
usp/up		170
nsp/Uc	AAGGGCAAGCTCAGCGACGAGGACAAACAGAAGATCCTGGACAAATGCAATGAGGTCATC	1/34
hsp70d	CAGGGAAAGATCAGTGATGAGGAGAGAAGACAAAGATTCTGGAGAAGTGCAACGAGGTCATC * *** **** * ******** * * * **********	1734
hsp70a	TCCTGGCTGGACAGGAACCAGACAGCAGAAGGATGAGTATGAGCACCAGCAGAAGGAG	1794
hsp70b	TCCTGGTTGGAGAACAACCAGCTGGGTGACAAAGAGGAGTATGAGCATCAGCTAAAGGAG	1800
hsp70c	AGCTGGCTGGACAAGAACCAGTCTGCAGAGAAGGAGGAGTTTGAGCACCACCACCAGA	1794
hsp70d	GGCTGGCTGGACAAGAACCAGACTGCTGAGAAAGAAAGAA	1794
	*** *** * ***** * ** ** ** ***** ******	1,71

hsp70a	CTGGAGAAGGTGTGTAACCCCATCATTACCAATCTGTATCAGGGTACCGGAGGCCCACCA	1854
hsp70b	CTGGAGAAAGTATGCCAGCCTATAATTACCAAGCTGTACCAGCAGGGAGGG	1860
hsp70c	CTGGAGAAGGTCTGTAACCCCATCATCACCAAGCTGTACCAGGGTGCTGGGGGGGATGCCT	1854
hsp70d	CTGGAGAAGGTGTGCAACCCCATCATCACCAAGCTATACCAGGGTGCAGGTGGGATGCCT	1854
-	****** ** ** * ** ** ** ** ** ** ** **	
hsp70a	GGAGGTATGCCAGGCGGTATGCCAGGCGGTATGCCTGGAGGCTTCCCTGGAGGTGCTGGG	1914
hsp70b	GGTTGCTGTGGAGATCAGGCACGGACCAGCTCTGGTGCCAGCTCCCAAG	1909
hsp70c	GGAGGGATGCCTGGAGGGATGCCTGGAGGGATGCCTGGAGGGATGCCTGGGGGGGATGCCT	1914
hsp70d	GGCGGTATGCCTGAGGGCATGGCTGGCGGATTCCCTGGA	1893
-	** * * * * * ***	
hsp70a	GCTGGCTCTTCCTCTGGTCCAACC	1938
hsp70b	GCCCAACC	1917
hsp70c	GGAGGGATGCCCGGGGCTGGTGGTGCCGCACCCGGAGGAGGTGGATCCTCTGGACCAACA	1974
hsp70d	GCTGGTGGTGCTGCTCCTGGAGGTGGTGGATCATCTGGACCAACC	1938
1	* ****	
hsp70a	atcgaggaggttgactaa 1956	
hsp70b	ATTGAAGAGGTTGACTGA 1935	
hsp70c	ATTGAGGAAGTCGACTAA 1992	
hsp70d	ATTGAGGAAGTCGACTAA 1956	
1	** ** ** ** **** *	

Figure S7. Alignment of the coding sequences for the four heat shock protein 70kDa-like cDNAs from Atlantic salmon included in the qPCR studies (hsp70a, hsp70b, hsp70c, and hsp70d). Nucleotide sequences were aligned using the multiple sequence alignment tool Clustal Omega (<u>https://www.ebi.ac.uk/Tools/msa/clustalo/</u>). Identical nucleotides in all four sequences at a given position are identified by an asterisk (*), and gaps are indicated by a dash (-). The sequences of the primers used in the qPCR studies are highlighted in yellow (forward) and in blue (reverse).



Figure S8. Examples of moribund fish from the last two weeks of the experiment at 1°C. All of these fish had similar symptoms: ulcers to the head/jaw (A, B, D, F), fin rot (A, B, C, E) and scale loss (A, B).



Figure S9. Plasma activity of aspartate aminotransferase (AST), lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) and creatine kinase (CK) in salmon maintained at 6°C and fasted for 24 h before sampling (Fasted) or sampled at 6 h post-feeding (Fed). + indicates a significant difference at a p value < 0.1. Lower and upper box boundaries indicate the 25th and 75th quartiles, respectively, the line inside the box is the median value, and the vertical lines delimit the 10th and 90th percentiles, respectively. Filled circles show data points falling outside the 10th and 90th percentiles. The experiment was conducted at ~6°C and n=9.



Figure S10. Plasma cortisol, glucose and lactate in salmon maintained at 6°C and fasted for 24 h or sampled at 6 h post-feeding (Fed). Lower and upper box boundaries indicate the 25th and 75th quartiles, respectively, the line inside the box is the median value, and the vertical lines delimit the 10th and 90th percentiles, respectively. * Indicates a significant difference at p < 0.05. The experiment was conducted at ~6°C and n= 9.



Figure S11. Plasma chloride, potassium, sodium and osmolality values in salmon maintained at 6°C and fasted for 24 h before sampling (Fasted) or sampled at 6 h post-feeding (Fed). Lower and upper box boundaries indicate the 25^{th} and 75^{th} quartiles, respectively, the line inside the box is the median value, and the vertical lines delimit the 10^{th} and 90^{th} percentiles, respectively. Filled circles show data points falling outside the 10^{th} and 90^{th} percentiles. The experiment was conducted at ~6°C and n=9. No values were significantly different between the two groups.



Figure S12. Tank set-up (A, C) for Chapters 3 & 4 including the large capacity glycol chiller (B) used to hold temperatures at 0°C. The fish were held in three 1000 l-tanks (75 and 35 fish per tank for Experiments [#]2 and [#]3 respectively). The tanks were in a flow through configuration and supplied with 32 ppt seawater at 7 l min-1. Each tank was used for a different acclimation group in Experiment [#]3.



Figure S13. 'Early' symptomatic fish in their experimental tanks. Fish were lethargic / unresponsive to external stimuli, and swimming at the surface of the water (A, B), and often found in a 'tail-down' position (A).



Figure S14. Symptomatic fish with head/jaw ulcerations (B, D), fin rot (A,D and E), and skin lesions (A). When dissected, these fish also had large pale livers (C), ascites, and often an enlarged spleen (G).